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Section 1 — Strategic Report and Directors’ Report




INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The Directors present their strategic repert of INEOS Quattre Holdings Limited (the “"Company™) and its
subsidiary undertakings (together the “Group™) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Results for the year

The resuits of the Group are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 28 which shows a profit for the
year of €1,964.9 miltion (2021: €1,576. 1 mitlion}.

Review of the business

Development projects

On 28 July 2022, the Group and China Pewroleum & Chemical Corporation {Sinopec) signed a petrochemical deal
to establish a 50:50 joint venture for ABS (Acrylonitrile Butadiene Styrene), based on the Group's world ieading
proprietary ABS Technology. This includes the 600 kilotons per annum (“ktpa’’) Ningbo facility currently under
construction by the Group, plus a further 600 ktpa of new capacity. This transaction was completed on 28
December 20272. See divesture note below.

[n the context of the deal, the Group and Sinopec also intend to:

e establish a second joint venture to operate a plant in Tianjin to produce 300 ktpa ABS polymer with
Terluran ABS technology.

e establish a third joint venture to operate a plani to produce 300 ktpa ARS polymer with Terluran ABS
technotogy.

Divestures

On 22 April 22 2022, the Group sold 13.8% of its shareholding in INEOS Styrolution India Limited for a
consideration of $25.1 million (€22.5 millien equivalent). The Group's sharcholding reduced from 75.0% to
61.2% as a result, with control being retained.

On 1 August 2022, the Group entered into an agreement to divest its remaining shareholding of 61 2% in INEQS
Styrolution India Limited with Shiva Performance Materials Private Limited. The transaction was completed on
17 November 2022. The total sale price was $80.3 million (€80 7 million equivalent). The disposed business had
cash balances of €£14.8 million, which led to a net cash inflow of €65.9 million. Transaction costs of €0.5 mithon
remain unsettled as at 31 December 2022.

On 28 July 2022, the Group’s subsidiary, INEOS Styrolution APAC Pte Limuted, entered into an agreement to
transfer 50% of its shareholding in INEOS Styrolution Advanced Matenials (Ningbo) Pte Limited to Sinopec. As
a resull, the Group gave up control but retained joint control. The transaction was completed on 28 December
2022. The total sale price was $489.4 million (€472.6 million equivalent), of which $255.0 million (€246.2 million
equivalent) 1s deferred. A withholding tax of €13.5 million was paid in relation 1o the sale pnce setiled on
completion. The disposed business had cash balances of €40.7 millien, which led to a net cash inflow of €172.2
million. Transaction costs of €2.7 million remain unsettled as at 31 December 2022,

See note 3 of the financial statements for further details.
Financing arrangements

On 31 May 2022, the Group repaid, ahead of terms, the amounts outstanding under the Three-Year Doilar Term
Loan A Facility due 2023 of $87.5 million (€83.2 million equivalent), the Three-Year Euro Term Lean A Facility
due 2023 of €75.0 million and the Five-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility due 2025 of $210.0 million (€199.7
million equivalent). See note | 7 of the financial statements for further details.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Review of the business (continued)
Financing arrangements (continued)

In fanuary 2022, the Styrolution business entered into a new long-term loan agreement with Bank of China and
ICBC to provide RMB 3,300.0 million (€464.3 million equivalent) of financing for the construction of a new 600
kiloton ABS plant in Ningbo, China. As at 3] December 2022, the amount utilised against the facility was RMB
3,035.2 million (£408.9 tillion equivalent). On 28 December 2022, the Group completed an equity transfer
agreement with Sinopec refating to the sale of 50% equity interest in INEQS Styrolution Advanced Materials
(Ningbo) Pte Ltd. As a result of this divesture, the ebligation of the Group under this term loan facility have been
transferred to the newly created joint-venture and derecognised in the Group consolidated financial statements.
See notes 3 and | 7 of the financial statements for further details.

Subsequent to the year end, on 14 March 2023, the Group entered into an Incremental Facility Agreement to raise
a new Dollar Term Loan B of $500.0 million (€471.6 million equivatent) and a new Euro Term Loan B of €375.0
million. The gross proceeds received under these borrowings were used on 15 March 2023 to pay an interim
dividend to the Group's immediate parent company ot €500.0 million with the remaining proceeds used to increase
the liquidity of the Group.

The Term Loan denominated in dollars bears interest at a rate per annum equal to SOFR + 0.10% CSA (subject
to a floor of 0% per annum) plus 3.75%. The Term Loan denominated in ewros bears interest at a rate per annum
equal to EURIBOR {subject to a floor of 0% per annum) pius 4.0%. The Euro Term Loan B Facility and the Dollar
Term Loan B Facility are payable, subject to certain exemptions, on 14 March 2030.

Subsequent to the year-end, the Group entered into an tnterest rate swap agreement with HSBC to hedge the fair
value risk in relation to the 2030 Term Loans with the notional principal amount of $500 million. Under this
interest rate swap agreement, the Group will exchange the variable SOFR exposure for fixed-SOFR obligations,

Subsequent to year-end, the Group has completed its transition from LIBOR to SOFR in relation to the Dollar
Term Loan B due 2027, See note 32 for further details.

Review of trading results

Revenue from continuing operations was €18,172.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
€14,932.2 million) and earnings before interest, tax, impairment, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items
and after the share of profit/(loss) of associated undertakings and joint ventures using the equity accounting
method (“EBITEA before exceptional items”) was €2,572.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
€3,039.1 million). A reconciliation of EBITDA before exceptional items to profit before tax can be found in note
2 to the financial statements.

The Styrolution business’ revenue increascd by €744.6 willion, or 12.6%, 10 €6,634.3 million in the year ended
31 December 2022 from €5.882.7 million in the year ended 31 December 2021. A strong first half of the year
supported by high demand particularly for durables continuing the trend started during COVID was followed by
mid to low cyele levels in the second half of the year with customers de-stocking due to market uncertainty and
expectation of further price reductions. Open arbitrage from Asian products into the Americas and Europe in the
second half of 2022 softened further the demand in these regions. As a result, the overall volumes for the year
were lower compared to the prior year, also affected by the divesture of INEOS Styrolution India Limited in
November 2022. The average prices in the current year were higher than prices in the comparative year and more
than compensated for lower sales volumes. Revenues in the current year included an upfront royalty revenue of
€71 million recognisced in the current year primarily in the context of the provision of ABS technology licence to
the joint-venture formed between the business and Sinopec. EBITDA before exceptionals decreased by
€431.7 million, or 36.6%, to €748.6 million in the year ended 31 December 2022 from €1,180.3 million in the
year ended 3! December 2021, Softer demand combined in all regions and maost product groups resulted in
reduced margins in the current year. The open arbitrage from Asian product into the Americas and Europe
wnpacted margins in these regions. The margin reduction came primarily from the global ABS business. A
reduction in polystyrenc margins in Asia was partially offset higher polystyrene margins in Europe and Americas



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Review of the business (continued)

Review of trading results (continued)

The INEQS [novyn business' revenue increased by €310.6 million, or 21.5%, to €5,136.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, as compared to €4,225.6 million for the same period in 202 1. Total volumes were lower
than the prior year period, but absolute revenues increased due to extremely high pricing on key products.
Production and sales volumes of key products, including general purpose polyviny! chloride (PVC). specialty
PVC and caustic soda were lower than the prior year as high inflation and the energy crisis in Europe resulted in
weaker demand in the second half of 2022. European producers aiso faced more competition from US and Asian
imports. Average sales prices of general purpose and specialty PVC in Europe reached record levels in 2022 due
1o higher ethylene feedstock and energy input costs. Trims to chlorine production (and hence co-produced caustic
soda production) due to high electricity prices and low PVC demand led to very tight caustic soda markets in
Europe despite a weaker demand environment, with price records being broken in each successive guarter of 2022.
The European contract price of caustic soda (as reported by Chemicai Market Analytics) reached €2,407 per ton
in the fourth quarter of 2022, whilsr the average annualised European contract price of caustic soda in 2022 was
194% higher than 2021. The current year also benefited from significantly higher prices of caustic potash, and
chiorine derivauves such as Cereclor, chloromethanes and epichiorohydrin. EBITDA bcfore exceptional items
increased by €201.6 million, or 20.7%, to €1,176.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared 0
€974.4 million for the same period in 2021, Business profitabihity in 2022 was the highest annual performance
since the formation of INEOS Inovyn in 2015, despile the energy crisis in Europe and the aforemennoned
reduction in sales volumes of general purpose PVC, specialty PVC and caustic soda. This was mainly due to the
unprecedently high pricing of caustic soda, which despite the weakening demand envirenment in the second half’
of 2022, reached record levels in Eurape. The primary driver was low chlorine production rates across Europe, as
a consequence of high clectricity prices and low PVC demand. On an annualised basis, the achieved spread of
general purpose and specialty PVC prices over ethylene were also higher than the prior year with demand
remaining resilient in the first half of the year. However, by the second half of the year, demand and therefore
spreads had weakened considerably which forced European PVC producers to reduce plant operating rates. Sales
volume of other products such as caustic potash, chloromethanes, epichlorehydrin and salt were lower than 2021
but absolute margins achieved increased due to healthy market conditions for most of the year,

The Acetyls business’ revenue increased by €150.6 million, or 12.4%, to €1,369.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, as compared o €1,219.0 million for the same period in 2021. Total voiumes were lower than the
prior year period, but absclute revenues increased due to higher sales prices. In Europe, volumes were down by
19% (104 k1) due to the challenging environment which has seen rising raw material prices as well as weakened
demand for both acid and anhydride as customers struggied with affordability on the back of the high gas cost.
European sales prices were up as increasing gas prices were reflected in cost plus and market reference sales
contracts for acetic acid and anhydride. In the US, volumes were down by 23% (147 kies) due to reduced customer
demand and an unplanned shutdown at third-party plant. US acetic acid prices increased again driven by increasing
gas prices. EBITDA before exceptional items decreased by €258.6 million, or 41.6%, to €363 .4 mullion for the
year ended 3! December 2022, as compared to €622.0 million for the same period in 2021, Lower business
profitability is mainly driven by a lower share of joint-venture net profit partially offset by higher margins in the
US. Share of joint-venture net profit from the Asian joint-ventures were down as lower sales prices coupled with
higher feedstocks reduced margins significanty. Net profits of the Korean joint-venture were partially supported
by higher volumes and higher margins of Vinyl Acetate Monomer (VAM]} as demand in this sector was strong
although sarting 10 soften toward the end of the year. Net profit of the Atlas joint-venture was down compared to
last year due to lower sales volumes, lower margins as a higher methanol discounts were offered and higher fixed
costs due to unplanned outages. The US was the largest contributer with 40% of customers cn cost plus sales
pricing allowing the higher feedstock prices to be passed on to customers. Margins in Europe were lower
compared to prior year due to high energy costs, increased freight charges, significant flaring costs due 1o
reduction in production and lower sales volumes, offsetting higher sales prices.



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Review of the business (continued)

Review of trading resulls (continued)

The Aromatics business’ revenue increased by €1,432.0 million, or 38.9%, to €5,115.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2027 _as compared to €3,683.2 million for the saine period in 2021, Total volumes were lower than
the prior year peniod, but absolute revenues increased due to higher sales prices. In Europe, high inflaticn and the
energy crisis weakened the demand. High production costs made European producers uncompetitive versus Asian
import volumes. The purified terephthalic acid (PTA) sales volumes in the US remained strong through the first
haif of the year but then slowed significantly in the {ast quarter due to the combined effect of increasing volume
of Asian imports of PTA and polyethylene terephthalate (PET) and a slowdown in demand as a result of fiscal
policy. Asian volumes were at similar level 10 the prior year. The price of mixed xylenes increased significantly
during 2022 as a result of the sharp rise in gasoline prices globally. As the key raw material for paraxylene (PX)
and ultimately PTA this then drove the absolute prices of products higher throughout the year. As a reference, the
US PX price ended in December 2021 at $992/t and closed 2022 at $1,235/t. However during the year the US PX
price peaked at $2,282/t, a 130% increase in price compared to the start of the year. EBITDA before exceptional
items increased by €22.0 million, or 8 4%, to €284 .4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared
to €262.4 miltion for the same period in 2021. Business performance for the year improved versus prior year as
lower sales volume have been more than offset by higher margins and lower fixed costs. PTA margins in the US
were better than in prior year and the profitability fundamentals of the business remained strong. Margins in
Europe were heavily impacted by high energy prices and the impact of Asian prices as an alternative for customers.
The fall in energy prices in the last quarter of the year brought an improvement in margins. Margins in Asia
continued to be structurally pared back by an oversupplied PTA market. However, the export margins from Zhuhai
for international sales improved. [0 addition, the business focused the sales of Zhuhai tons more towards the PET
resin market, rather than fiber, as the customers have a more reliable demand.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has total equity of €4,648.6 million (2021: €3,312.6 million). Net debt at 31
December 2022 was €4,861.6 million {2021: €5,348.9 million).

Key exceptional items
Net exceptional charges of €9.4 million have been recognised in 2022 (2021: €250.6 million).

In 2022, exceptional administrative expenses of €1.3 million were incurred by the Aromatics businesses in respect
of manpower reorganisations and €3.8 million due to cancellation of projects started under BP ownership and no
longer expected to be pursued.

In 2022, exceptional finance costs of €4.3 miliion were incurred in refation to the write off of unamartised debt
issue costs associated with the Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 and the Term Loan A Facilities due 2025 which
were repaid in full on May 31, 2022

For further details of exceptional items, refer to note 4 of the financial statements.



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
STRATEGIC REFORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2422

Principal risks and uncertainties

The management of the business and the execution of the Group’s strategy are subject to a number of risks.
Management undertakes an annual risk 1dentification and assessment process to wentify the key business risks
affecting the Group. The key business risks affecting the Group which were identified within this risk assessment
process are set oul betow:

e The petrochemical industry is cyclical — changing market demands and prices may negatively affect the
Group’s operating margins and impair its cash flow which, in tum, could affect its ability to make payments
on its debt or to make further investments in the business.

+ Raw materials and suppliers — if the Group is unable to pass on increases in raw material prices, or to retain
or replace its key suppliers, its results of operations may be negatively affected.

« [International operations and currency fluctuations — the Group is exposed to currency fluctuation risks as
wetl as to economic downtums and local business risks in several different countries that could adversely
affect its profitability.

« Competition — significant competition tn the Group's industries, whether through efforts of new and current
cempetitors or through consolidation of existing customers, may adversely affect its competitive position,
sales and overall operations,

= Inability to maximise utilisation of assets — the Group may be adversely affected if it is unable to implement
1is strategy to maximise utilisation of assets.

s Synergies — the Group may not realise anticipated revenue and cost synergies, benefit from anticipated
business opportunities or experience anticipated growth from any of its acquisitions.

e QOutbreaks of disease — the outbreak of contagious diseases may have a negative impact on the Group’s
business and performance, and an adverse impact on the global economy generally. During the course of 2021
and into 2022, the Group has managed the outbreak of the COVID-19 coronavirus by implementing various
measures to ensure the safety of employees and the ongoing operation of the plants.

« Substantial debt — the Group's substantial debt could adversely affect its financial position and prevent it
from fulfilling its debt cbligations. ’

+ Cyber security — a cyber incident could occur and result in information theft, data corruption, operational
disruption and/or financial loss.

e Climate change — existing and proposed regulations to address climate change by limiting gresnhouse gas
emissions may cause us to incur significant additional eperating and capital expenses. {n addition compliance
with new regulation could limit the useful economic tife of our plants, lead to a reduction in demand for fossit
fuel derived products and result in a lack of competitiveness if our competitors develop new technologies.

« Regulation — the Group is highly regulated and may have substantial obligations and liabilities arising from
health, safety, security and environmental (“HSSE”) laws, regulations and permils applicable to our
operations.

= Customers — the Group is subject to the risk of loss resulbng from non-payment or non-pecformance by our
customers. Our credit procedures and policies may not be adequate to minimise or mitigate customer credit
risk. Our customers may experience financial difficulties, including bankruprcies, restructurings and
liquidations.

* Employees — the success of the Group depends on the continued service of certain key personnel and on good
relations with our workforce as any significant disruption could adversely affect the Group.

* Joint ventures — some of the Group’s petrochemical facilities are owned and operated in joint ventures with
third parties. We do not control these joint ventures, and actions taken by our joint venture partners in respect
of these joint ventures could materially adversely affect our business.



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 21022

Section 172(1) statement (continued)

Principal decisions (continued)

The principal decisions are defined to be decisions taken in the Group that are of a strategic nature and significant
to any of the Group’s key stakeholder groups. The Directers have engaged with key sharebolder and stakeholder
groups through a variety of means and stakeholder interests were considered in decision-making.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The Group is classified as a large unquoted group due to its size and shareholding structure. Disclosures under
the Streamiined Energy and Carbon Reporting requirements for the Group are contained in the Streamlined Energy
and Carbon Reporting in the Strategic Report of the consolidated financial statements of INEOS Industries
Limited, an intermediate parent undertaking. This reporting covers the Group’s UK operations. The consolidated
financial statements of INEOS Industries Limited are available to the public and may be obtained from the
Company Secretary at Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, S043 7FG, United Kingdom.

Key performance indicators

The Group uses a number of financial and non-financial key performance indicators (“KPIs™) to measure
performance, which are monitored against budget and the prior year.

The main financial KPI for the business is earmings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and
exceptional items ("EBITDA before exceptional itemns"). EBITDA before exceptional items for the Group for the
year ending 31 December 2022 was €2,572.4 million (2021: €3,039.1 million}. The Group also closely monitors
fixed costs against budget and prior year as well as workiag capital ratios.

The Group uses a number of other non-financial key performance indicators te measure performance including
health, safety and environmental (“SHE") metrics such as Occupational Safety and Health Administration
(“OSHA™} incident and injury rates to measure the safe working of employees and contractors, Other KPI includes
monitoring the reliability of operating assets.

Strategic future developments

The Group’s corporate strategy is to continue growing profitability and cash flows by optimising the cost base of
the businesses, increasing the focus on high margin products and further- product diversification, leveraging
existing resources to expand sales and keeping the overall management structure of the Group simple and
decentralised. The Group has an expension strategy in China to increase its ABS production capacities through
the set-up of two additional joint-ventures with Sinopec, following the first joint-venture completed in December
2022 (see note 3).

The Group will contintue to pursue its sustainability agenda and has committed to reducing its carbon emissions
by 33%, (compared to 2019 levels) by 2030 and be Net Zero by 2050 in line with EU policy. The sustainability
strategy of the Group is described in the sustainability section in the Directors’ Report.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

"

W Leask
Director
14 April 2023




INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of INEOS Quattro Holdings
Limited {the “Company™) and its subsidiary undertakings (together the “Group™) for the year ended 31 December
2022

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of a range of chemicals used in a variety of
applications. The principal activity of the Company is to act as a holding company.

Dividends

Interim dividends of €521.0 million were declared and paid during the year (2021: €393.3 million). Final
dividends of €500.9 million (2021: €nil) were declared on 23 January 2023. This dividend distribution did not
constitute any cash outflow for the Group as this was used to settle the amount owed by the Group’s immediate
parent in form of an inter-company loan.

Future developments

Fuwre developments are discussed in the Strategic Report.

Covid-19 and the Ukraine conflict

The Group continues to implement contingency plans for the COVID-19 pandemic, with the primary objective of
maintaining the safety of personnel and the reliable operation of the Group’s plants.

The chemical industry 1s deemed as essential, critical infrastructure by govemments across the world. Throughout
the pandemic all of the Group's plants have continued to operate fully and supply chains have operated without
significant disruption. Protecting empleyees and ensuring that they remain healthy has been the first priority of
the Group. All plants have sufficient resources and have implemented measures to ensure that this remains the
case througheut the pandemic.

The Group does not have operations in Belarus, Russia or Ukraine. During 2021 and 2022 revenue generated in
these countries was not material to the Group. The Group is not currently experiencing any material disruption to
its operations and do not foresee any direct impact as a result of the conflict, but will continue to monitor the
evolving situation closely.

Whilst there is stilt uncertainty due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the disruption on the energy market resulting
from the conflict in Ukraine, the Dhrectors have undertaken a rigorous assessment of the potential impact on
dernand for the Group’s products and services and the impact on margins for the nexi 12 months and the Direclors
do not expect a material impact on the Group’s ability to operate as a going concem.

Going concern

The Group finrancial statements have been prepared on a going concemn basis and approved by the Board of
Directors in accordance with United Kingdon adopted inlernational accounting standards.

The Group meets its day to day working capital requirements through its intercompany loan and external financing
factlities, along with cash generated by its subsidiaries’ operations. The Group held cash balances of €1,530.1
million at 31 December 2022 (2021: €1,291.3 million) and gross loans and borrowings of €6,391.7 millicn at 31
December 2022 (2021: €6,640.2 million) of which €20.6 million is due to be repaid within 12 months. The Group
has no sigmficant financial covenants. The Directors have considered the Group’s projected future cash flows and
working capital requirements and are confident that the Group has sufficient cashflows to meet its working capita)
requirements for the next twelve months from the date of signing the financial statements.
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Going concern (continued)

In particular, the Directors have stress tested the forecasts through taking account of reasonable possible changes
in trading performance on the impact on EBITDA before exceptional items, cash flow and debt. The stress tests
show that the Group will still have sufficient cash flow to meet all of its obligations as they fall due within the
next 12 months from the date of signing the financial statements.

On the basis of this assessment together with net assets of €4,648.6 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
€3,312 6 million) and the Group's ability to meet working capital requirernents through its external financing
facilities, along with access to cash generated by its subsidiaries, the Directors have concluded that the Group can
operate within its current facilities without the need to obtain new ones for a period of at least 12 months from the
date of this report and have therefore prepared these financjal statements on a going concern basis in accordance
with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom.

Research and development

The Group’s research and development team develops new applications for its higher margin and less cyclical
specialty chemicals, provides support to the Group’s customers and seeks to improve the efficiency of the Group’s
manufacwring processes. The research and development team alsa leads the Group's efforts with respect to the
development and capacity expansions of the plants and maintaining and improving safety and environmental
standards. The Group spent approximatety €33.9 million (2021: €43.7 million) or research and development
duning the year, of which €32.7 million (2021: €42.6 miilion) was expensed to the income statement.

Directors’ indemnities

The company has made qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors which were
made during the year and remain in force at the date of this report,

Donations

The Group made no political contributions (2021: €nil}.

Financial risks

The Group’s operations expose it to a vanety of financial risks that include the effects of changes in prnice nsk,
credit risk, currency fluctuation risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group has in place a risk management
programme that seeks to limit the adverse effecis on the financial performance of the Group where appropniate.
The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity 1o meet its liabilities when due, under nermal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group. The Group generally does not enter into foreign currency exchange
instruments to hedge foreign currency transaction exposure, although the Group may do so in the future. The
Group benefits from natural hedging, to the extent that currencies in which net cash flows are generated from the
Group's operations, are matched against long-term indebtedness

The Group is exposed to commadity price risk as a result of its operations. However, given the size of the Group's
operations, the cost of managing exposure to such risk exceeds any potential benefits. The Group manages its
credit exposures with a set of policies for ongoing credit checks on potential and current customers or
counterpargies.

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to its term loan borrowings
upon which interest is paid at variable rates and its cash resources which pre invested at variable rates. The policy
to manage this exposure is continually reviewed and adapted depending on market condition. As an example,
subsequent to the year-end, the Group entered into an interest rate swap agreement to exchange a partion of its
variable SOFR exposure for fixed-SOFR obligations.
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Directors

The directors who held office during the year, and up to the date of signing the financial statements, were as
foliows:

G W Leask
I F Ginns
M J Maher (resigned 7 December 2022)

Employees

The Group places considerable imporiance on communication with employees. This is to ensure that employees
at all levels of the organisation are kept aware of key business developments, and in particular financial
performance, so as to focus attention on key performance metrics. Town Hali sessions, in person in 2022 and
virtual in 2021, are held at various points in the year that are hosted by members of the Executive Committee,
regional leadership teams and site management. Business news items are also communicated in local language to
the organisation either via cascade or direct to individuals via email, Bulletin Boards and Intranet facilities. Work
groups in the manufacturing areas have daily “toolbox talks™ that cover Safety, Health and the Environment
(*SHE"™), critical operational items for the day and business developments. The Group undertakes employec
surveys on a regular basis and there are action plans in place to address issues arising.

INEOS is committed to an environment where open, honest communications are the expectation, not the
exception. There is encouragement to discuss issues with line managers or other managers. [n addition, there is
an “INEOS Speak Up!” service for those employees wishing to report more serious unethical or improper
behaviour. The Group has regard 1o employees' interests and take employee views into account when making
decisions.

The Group operates in full accordance with prevailing employment legislation including information and
consultation with employees and their represeniatives on matters affecting their interests. Outside of any necessary
formal consultation process, there are regular briefings between the Company and the Works Councils/Trade
Union bodies in each region.

The Group facilitates a number of schemes designed to encourage employees to deliver key business targets. This
includes a discretionary Short-Term Incentive Plan and a Long-Term Incentive Plan, both of which are designed
to focus attention on key areas of performance such as SHE, EBITDA before exceptionals, working capital, plant
reliability and fixed costs.

Itis the Group’s practice to give full and fair consideration to applications for employment received from disabled
persons, subject to the Group’s requirements and to the qualifications, ability and aptitude of the individual in
each case. In the ¢vent of employees becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure their continued
employment with the Group and to provide suitable adjustments to the workplace where appropriate.

The Group continually strives to meet, and where possible, exceed all relevant legal requirements applying o
safety, health and the environment. It is committed to continuous improvement in all aspects of its operations.
Through its Safety, Health, Environment and Quality (“SHEQ") Policy, the Group aims to be amongst the
chemical industry leaders in health, safety, environmental protection and customer satisfaction, ensuring that
products meet society's increasing environmental requirements. Specificatly the Group works te two guiding
principles. The first being to protect the health and safety of its employees; the communities in which it operates;
and the users of its products. Secondly, the Group seeks to mumimise the effects on the environment from its
operations; storage; transport; use and disposal of its products. The Group manages SHE as an integral part of its
activities through a formal management system that sets clear SHE standards/targets and monitors performance
against them. Tt requires al! members of staff (and others who work on its behalf) 10 adhere to the standard in the
SHE Management System and to exercise personal responsibtlity to prevent harm to themselves, others and the
environment. Comprehensive SHE information and training is provided to all employees, with SHE objectives
set for every individual each year through the performance appraisal process. SHE targets also feature in the
Group’s discretionary Business Bonus Scheme. Appropriate SHE information and training 1s also provides to
other who work for the Group, handle its products or operate its technologies. The Group also participates in
industry wide responsible care and sustainable development activities.
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Health and safety

The Group’s facilities and operations are subject to a wide range of health, safety, security and environmenial
("HSSE”) laws and reguiations in all of the jurisdictions in which it operates. These requirements govern, among
other things, the manufacture, storage, handling, treatment, transportation and disposal of hazardous substances
and wastes, wastewalter discharges, air emissions (including GHG emissions), noise emissions, human health and
safety, process safety and risk management and the clean-up of contaminated sites. Many of the Group’s
operations require permits and controts to monitor or prevent pollution. The Group has incurred, and will continue
to incur, substantial ongoing capital and operating expenditures to ensure compliance with current and future
HSSE laws, regulations and permits or the more stringent enforcement of such requirements.

The Group’s operations are currently in material comphance with all HSSE laws, regulations and permits. The
Group actively addresses compliance issues in connection with its operations and properties and believe that it
has systerns in place to ensure that environmental costs and liabilities will not have a material adverse impact on
the Group.

Sustainability

Improving the sustainability of our business and operations is central to the way INEOS work. It is of critical
importance to its employees, 10 its partners and customers, to the communities in which it operate, and to its
InVesiors.

INEOS sustainability strategy is to develop and safely manufacture the products needed to address the evolving
challenges of climate change, public health, resource scarcity, urbanisation and waste in a way which drives us
all towards a net zero emissions economy by 2050. INEOS will do so whilst reducing the impact of its operalions.
[t is built on six key pillars:

Excellence in Safety Health & the Environment (SHE)

Climate change - delivery of a net zero business

Circular Economy — maximising the re-use and recycle of our products

People - ensuring an equal opportunity environment in which a diverse team of people can flourish and
deliver the innovations we need

Communities and the Natural Environment — enhance the communities in which we operate
Governance — ngorously sustaining the highest standards oof ethics and compliance

B -

o

The efforts on sustainability, including targets, reporting of Green House Gas (GHG) and other emissions, of
energy and water usage, and of waste generation, are published in our INEOS wide 2022 Sustainability Report
{https:/www.incos.com/sustainability/sustainability-reports), which is aligned with the framework described n
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). and UN sustainable development goals. Two key priorities, Climate Change
and the Circular Economy, are summarised below.

Climete Change

Following the Paris Climate Agreement of 2015, most nation states have recognised the threat posed by climate
change and have set the goal to achieve a net zero emission economy by 2050 and are adopting regulations and
legislation to support this objective.

In response, INEOS implemented management of the risks posed by climate change to each of its businesses
and the potential new business opportunities and threats arising from the transition. The assessments will be
regularly updated in the context of three the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) climate change
scenarios in which temperature rise compared to the pre-industrial period is fimited to 2 C or less, 2-4.5 C and 5-
8.5 C respectively (https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/downloads/report/TPCC_AR6_WGIIT_Chapter03.pdf ).
An INEOS-wide target has been set (o achieve 33% reduction in GHG emissions by 2030 (compared to 2019)

_and net zero emissions by 2050_In line with this, INEOS_Quattro. businesses. have-each-developed a-roadmap— ——--— — — -—

which outlines plans and key actions required to deliver the 2030 target of 33% reduction. INEOS wide, the
company has earmarked over €6 billon capital investment to support the delivery of targets.
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Sustainability (continued)
Actions include the following:
Continuous improvemen! of energy and process efficiency

INEOS is working aggressively across all its business and sites to make important reductions in encrgy use and
associated GHG emissions. Optimisation projects vary widely, from finding new ways of improving process
efficiency 1o innovative solutions for heat or power integration, including waste heat valorisations.

The INEOS [novyn business has a salt plant upgrade project in Tavaux, France which utilises best-in-class
mechanical vapour recompression unit technology. The project is expected to be completed in 2024 and wil!
reduce steam consumption by 360 kilo tonnes per annum which Is equivalent to reducing the Tavaux site’s
footprint by 16%. Water consumption will alsc be reduced by 6%. The North Star project in Norway was
commissioned in 2020 and consisted of major debottlenecking activities across both the electrochemical and
VCM assets. This project has reduced siteam consumption by 80 kilo tonnes annually.

The Aromatics business’ PTA technology allowed the latest PTA plant in Zhuhas to reduce GHG emissions by
65%, water discharge by 75% and solid waste disposal by 95% compared to conventional technologies.

The Acetyls business is continuing to roll out its retrofit of world leading CATIVA XL aceuic acid production
technology to its global assets. This technology package allows Acetyls plants to produce acid with 80% less heat
input and 50% less electricity than genenic technolegy. As part of this INEOS' innovative High Pressure Offgas
Reinjection technology has now been rolled out to all applicable plants. This recycles carbon that was previously
incinerated and re-injects it into the process where 1t is instead captured and reacted into product, reducing GHG
emissions and reducing natural gas usage.

Investment in green hydrogen and blue hydrogen for use as a fuel on sites and as a feedstock

The Acetyls business is undertaking a project to fuel switch to hydrogen at Hull site, the United Kingdom.
The site has a larpe demand for heat that can only be met by buming fuel. Curmrently, this is done with natural
gas, resulting in over 350,000 tonnes of CO; being emitted every year. The project will enable Hull assets
to switch to using its own clean hydrogen instead of natural gas. Buming hydrogen will not release any CO»,
decarbonising the site. This fuel switching will reduce scope | emissions by about 0%, which is the
equivalent of taking about 140,000 petrol cars off the road. The business will create a centre of expettise in
hydrogen fuel switching, allowing further work to decarbonise Acetyls’ global assets. This fuel switch
project is also part of a2 wider roadmap for the Hul! site which will see it become the world’s first net-zero
acetic acid production site by 2030.

The INEOS [novyn business intends to build a new 20MW electrolyser 1o produce clean hydrogen through
thie electrolysis of water, powered by zero-carbon electricity in Norway. This project will lead 10 2 minimum
reduction of an estimated 22,000 tonnes of CO; per year by reducing the carbon footprint of INEOS®
operapions at Rafnes and serving as a bub to provide hydrogen to the Norwegian transport sector. The
business s also carrying out a feasibility study to make green hydrogen for use at the Kdin site and are
participating with partners in Antwerp to develop an open access bydrogen network.

Additionally, INEOS Inovyn has developed a newly formed hydrogen business for use in feedstocks, fuels
and transportation, heating and power generation.

Incregsed purchase of renewable energy 1o substitute for fosstl derived energy of renewable energy

Across the whole INEOS Group, power purchase agreements for about 570 MW renewable energy have already
been signed to reduce the dependence on fossil-based energy sources.
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Sustainability (continued)
Use of bio-based feedstocks to reduce dependency on fossil-based materials and deliver bio-based producis

The Styrolution business offers the integration of renewable feedstock as a replacement for fiossil fuel in upstream
existing petrochemical installations. In 2020, it launched the world’s first specialty styrenics materials made using
renewable feedstock within the vatue chain. The renewable feedstock sources are certified by the International
Sustainability and Carbon Certification to asscss that they are managed and attributed in accordance with their
sustainability criteria.

The INEOS lnovyn business is developing certified bio-attributed vinyl resins (Biovyn®) as well as bio-
based epichlorohydrin {Reodrin®) used for the manufacture of epoxy resins. These products, whilst still
relatively niche, can provide almost carbon neutral products providing up to 90% of GHG savings when
compared with conventional materials and velumes are expected to grow in the coming years.

Product and the circular economy

INEOS believes that its products already make a critical contribution to society by providing the most sustainable
options for a wide range of societal needs. Examples include preservation of food and clean water; provision of
wind turbines, solar paneis and other renewable technologies, construction of lighter and mere efficient vehicles
and aircraft, production of medical devices and applications, manufacture of clothing and apparel, matenals for
insulation and other industrial and home applications. Studies suggest that if polymers and plastics were to be
replaced to the maximum extent in applications where they can be substituted, overall life-cycle greenhouse gas
{GHG) emissions would increase by more than 50% (https://denkstatt.eu/download/15971/).

However, it is generally accepted that a move towards a more circular economy, in which materials are reused
and recycled to their maximum extent, is an important component of a more sustainable climate neutral economy.
In certain regions, for example Europe and the UK, legislation is under development to incentivize recycling of
materials, especially for packaging products, The Group has therefore commirted to achieving the following
INEQS-wide targets by 2025

*  Offer a range of polyolefin products for packaging applications in Europe coataining 50% or more
recycled content.

- Incorporate at least 325 kia of recycled material into products.
«  Ensure 100% of our polymer products can be recycled.

In addition, a2 new INEOS wide target to incorporate 825 kt of recycled or bio-sourced material into INEOS
products by 2030.

In hine with these objectives, in 2019, the Styrolution business introduced INEOS Styrolution ECO, a new family
of sustainable products. It comprises products made from post-consumer recycled material as well as renewable
feedstock and complements the existing portfotio of styrenics standard products and specialties. The Styrolution
business has demonstrated the advanced recycling capabilities of polystyrene with the first production of
polystyrene from styrene monomer made only of depolymerised material. This technology facilitates a full
recycling loop for plastics, which is expected to be applicable even to food applications. Through a partnership
with Indaver, a leading European waste management company, the business will benefit from their demo-plant
for advanced recycling, wherc polystyrene waste will be recycled to purified styrene. Based in Antwerp, this
demo-instaliation is expected to be operational in 2024,

For ABS standard, the Styrolution business has developed mechanically recycled grades containing 50% or 70%
comprising post-consumer recycled material that are commercially available loday. These products meet the

performance and qualny lity levels of virgin materials. Tt has also established ce-operations to secure high guality
waste for polystyrene and ABS feedstock,
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Sustainability (continued)

The Styrolution business is also leading a consortium 1o advance the production of ABS from recycled feedstock
through a project called “ABSolutely Circular”. The project was accepted by the EU LIFE programme, the
European Union funding instrument foc the environment and resaurce efficiency and recerved funding.

INEOS Inovyn continues to have a pivoial role in the European-wide VinylPlus® voluntary industry initiative
which commits to 900 and 1,000 kilo tonnes of PVC recycling across Europe by 2025 and 2030, respectively.

INEOS Inovyn has also jaunched Project Circle which aims to treat PVC from various post-consumer waste
streams that are difficult, if not impossible to recycle mechanically. These technologies will enable waste
polymers containing PVC-rich waste to be 1o be broken down to their constituent components and then reformed
back into polymers. This will enable a much wider range of waste materials to be re-incorporated into polymer
manufacturing, reduce GHG emissions and provide an improved outlet for waste polymers. We are also working
with partners to implement new technologies to enable easier sorting of end-of-life polymers.

The Aromatics business has develaped Infinia, a technology which will enable currently unrecyclable PET plastic
waste — such as black food trays and coloured bottles — to be diverted from landfill or incineration and instead
transformed back into new, virgin-quality feedstocks. The new feedstocks are interchanpeabie with those made
from traditional hydrocarbon sources and can be used to make new PET packaging that can be recycled again and
again,

Infinia is compiementary to mechanical recyciing, dealing with PET waste that 1s currently difficult or impossible
to process using mechanical methods. A new pilot plant, located in Naperville, Illinois, has been commissioned
to prove the technology on a centinuous basis. If deployed at scale in several facilities the technology has the
potential to prevent billions of PET bottles and trays from ending up in landfill or incineration every year.

Sustainability governance

The Chief Executive of each of the four businesses of the Group is accountable for development of a strategy and
plans to ensure that the business remains sustainable in the longer term. The strategy is reviewed annually with
the shareholders. Each business sets largets annually based on its business plan. Progress against targets is reported
and reviewed at Executive Committee (EXCO) meetings with the shareholders at least six times per year.

In additicn to the above, Business Divisions are subject to INEQS wide targets set by the Shareholders for Safety,
Health & Environment, Green House Gas reductions, and, for the Polymers businesses, recycling targets.

In addition to formal governance processes, INEQS operates a Climate and Energy Network (CEN) which helps
ensure coordination across all INEOS businesses on carbon, energy and resource matters. Cross business CEN
teams share information and best practice on policy, advocacy, external developments, new business opportunities
and innovation. The network also assembles data from the different businesses to provide business and [INEQS
wide views on GHG emissions, cnergy usage, water usage, and waste. The network has more than 1,000 active
members across all businesses.
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Sustainability (continued)

Summary of risks

Management has in place a number of actions to mitigate against climate and ciimate related risks, as well as other
risks associated with developing legislation on sustainability and reporting. A summary of responses to key nisks is summarised

below.

PERCEIVED RISKS

ACTIONS

Transition to net zero risks

Management has committed to net zero and intermediate targets based on
practical business roadmaps which contain actions to reduce GHG emissions
whilst sustaining business profitability.

Management has identified new business opportuniuies, €.g. green and blue -
hydrogen, biobased products and recycled products.

Management is investing in technologies for new products such as recycted
products and bio-based products to meet growing consumer demand for these
lower carbon materiais.

Management is acquiring more renewable energy and is investing in new
assets, technologies, and infrastructure to reduce the carbon footprint of its
products in line with evolving customer and consumer demands.

Policy and Legal transition risks

Management monitors evelving government poiicies and regulations, both
independently and through its membership of industry associations, to ensure
that plans and actions stay ahead of developing legislation.

Management has in place strict policies on ethical and legislative matters, and
has implemented the appropriate govemnance and training mechanisms to
ensure full comphance.

Market transition rnisks e.g. changing
consumer trends resulting in
products and services becoming
obsolete

Management believes that its current chemical and polymer portfolio
provides products which are essential 1o support the transition 1o a ner zero
economy by providing the most sustainable options for a wide number of
industrial and consumer applications,

Management has set business wide rargets consistent with legislation
intended to drive the development of a circular economy.

Management is investing in technologies for new products such as recycled
products and bio-based products to meet growing consumer demand for these
materials.

Management has a policy for sustainable procurement to ensure that it
acquires feedstocks and other materials of increasingly lower carbon
footprint.

Management s acquiring more ren¢wable energy and is investing in new
assets, technologies, and infrastructure to reduce the carben footprint of its
products in line with evelving customer and consumer demands.

Financing risks

-5 —INEOS-is-a-recognised respondent-to CDP.

Management has committed to net zero and intermediate targets based on
practical business roadmaps which combine GHG emissions reduction with
sustainment of business prafitability and addition of new business
opportunities, ¢.g. green and blue hydrogen, biobased products and recycle
products.

Management has incorporated the forward cost of carbon in Eutope and
potentially elsewhere into its capital investment decision making.
Management aspires to zero accidents in the workplace and has in place the
policies targets, contrels and audit systems to ensure the highest possible
standards with regards to safety and the environment.

Management has significantly increased pubhc disclosure on ESG issues,
inctuding provision of a detailed and public sustainabihty report, and has
arained favourable ESG assessments from ECOVADIS relative to peers.
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Sustainability (continued)

Summary of risks (continued)
PERCEIVED RISKS

ACTIONS

Acute physical risks e.g. extreme
weather events causing damage to
equipment and  supply  chain
distuption

1.  Management is assessimng nsKs to operatians against three IPCC developed
climate change scenarios - high, intermediate and low temperature rises.

2 Management has ensured thar equipment and plant is designed to withstand
extreme weather conditions as currently expected, and will continue to do so
in the future,

3. Management has developed multiple feedstock and sales options to provide
resilience to supply chain disruptions.

Reputation  transition risks ecg.
damage 1o reputation through failure
to transition effectively to a lower-
carbon gconomy

1. Management has announced the target to achieve net zero and is developing
intermediate 1argets based op practical business roadmaps which contain
actions to reduce GHG emissions and stay ahead of evolving regulations.

2. Management aspires to zero accidents in the workplace and has in place the
policies targets, controls and audit systems to ensure the highest possible
standards with regards to safety and the envirgnment.

3. Management has significantly increased public communication and
disciosure on targets, progress against targets, and ESG issues, including
provision of a detailed and public sustainability report.

4  Management has estabiished strong links with communities around TINEOS
sites lo communicate plans and progress against objectives and invite
feedback.

5. Management has submitied the business 1o detailed ESG assessments from
ECOVADIS and received gold rating for the breadth of TNEOS companies.

6. INEOS is a recognised respondent to CDP.

Business relationships

The business relationships with suppliers and customers are of strategic importance to the Directors of the Group
and their decision-making process. The business relationships of the Group are described in the Section 172(1)
statement in the Strategic Report.

Branches outside the United Kingdom

Branches of the Group have been established in Austria, Belgium, China, France, Germany, Traly, Japan,
Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain and Sweden.

Subsequent events

On 23 January 2023, the Group has declared a dividend payment to its owners of €500.9 million. The dividend
has been used ta settied the {oan (principal plus uiterest) awed by INEQS Industries Holdings Limited to INECS
Quattro Holdings Limited; hence did not resulted in any cash outflow.

On 14 March 2023, the Group entered into an Incremental Facility Agreement to raise a new Dollar Term Loan
B of $500.0 million (€471.6 million equivalent) and a new Eurc Term Loan B of €375.0 million. The gross
proceeds recerved under these borrowings were used on 15 March 2023 to pay an interim dividend to the Group’s
immediate parent company of €500.0 million with the remaining proceeds used to increase the liquidity of the
Group.

Subsequent to the year-end, the Group entered into a interest swap agreement with HSBC. Under this swap
agreement, the Group will exchange variable interest for fixed rate for a portion of debt equal te $500 million.

Subsequent to year-end, the Group has completed 1ts transition from LIBOR to SOFR in relation 1o the Dollar
Term Loan B due 2027. See note 32 for further details.
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that faw the
directors have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
international accounting standards. The directors have chosen to prepare the parent company financial statements
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and applicable law), including FRS (01 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”. Under company law the
directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period,

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the directars are required to:
» select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
= make judgments and accouniing estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis uniess it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

In preparing the group financial statements, International Accounting Standard | requires that directors:
s properly select and apply accounting policies;

« present ‘information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

* provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in international
accounting standards are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions,
other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

* make an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible far keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companics Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included
on the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom govermning the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors

The directors confirm that as far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s
auditors are unaware and that they have taken all steps necessary as directors in order to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information. This
confirmation s given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provision of 5418 of the Companies Act
2006.
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Independent auditors

In accordance with Section 485 of the Companies Act 2006, a resolution is to be proposed at the Annual General
Meeting for reappointment of Deloitte LLP as auditor of the Company.

Registered address

INEOS Quattra Holdings Limited
Hawkslease

Chapel Lane

Lyndhurst

Hampshire

S043 7FG

United Kingdom

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

G W Leask
Director
14 April 2023
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LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

= the financial statements of INEQS Quattro Holdings Limited (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries
{the *Group’) give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent company’s affairs as at
31 December 2022 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

¢ The Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
international accounting standards;

»  The parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure
Framework™; and

¢  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

the consolidated income statement;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

the consolidated and parent company balance sheets;

the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;
the consolidated cash flow statement; and

the related notes 1 to 32 and parent company related notes !-(4.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is
applicable law and United Kingdom adopted intemational accounting standards. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure
Framework™ (United Kingdom Generally Accepied Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of aur report.

We are independent of the Group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the
‘FRC’s') Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate (o provide a basis
for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating 1o events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements
are authonsed for issue,

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concem are described in the
relevant sections of this report.
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Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements
and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the
annual report. Our opinion nn the financial statements does not cover the other information and, excepl W the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conciusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstaternents, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
intemal control as the directors determine is necessary 1o enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In prepanng the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent
company or to cease operations, or have no realistic altemative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements,

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website
at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregulanties, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regufations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is
detailed below.

We considered the nature of the Group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the Group’s
documentation of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We
also enquired of management and the directors about their own identification and assessment of the risks of
iregularities, including those that are specific to the Group’s business sector.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMRBERS OF INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS
LIMITED

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud (continued)

We obtained an understanding of the legal and repulatory frameworks that the Group operates in, and identified

the key laws and regulations that:

e had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
These included UK Companies Act, pensions legislation, tax legislation, IFRS and FRS 101, as well as laws
and regulations prevailing in gach country in which we 1dentified a full-scope component and

e do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental o0
the Group’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These mncluded the Group’s operating licences
and environmental regulations.

We discussed among the audit engagement team including significant component audit teams and relevant intermal
specialists such as tax, valuations, pensions and IT specialists regarding the opportunities and incentives that may
exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements.

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following area, and our

procedures performed to address it are described below:

s Qccurence of non-routine revenue transactions given these are more susceptible to mamipulation compared
to automatic routine transactions,

Qur specific procedures performed to address the occurence of non-routine revenue transactions include the
following procedures:
e  assesscd the design and implementation of the key controls in place around the revenue recognition process;

e substantive testing of manual adjustments to revenue through agreement to supporting evidence that verifies
the occurrence of the revenue,

In common with all audits under 1ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to
the risk of management override. [n addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we
tested the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in
making accounting estimaies are indicative of a potential bias: and evaluated the business rationale of any
significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the foilowing:

e reviewing financial stalement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compiiance with
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

e performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks
of maierial misstatement due to fraud;

* enquinng of management and in-house legal counset concerning actual and potential litigation and claims,
and instances of non-compliance with {aws and regulations; and

e reading minutes of meetings of those charged with govermance and reviewing correspondence with HMRC
and tax authorities.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our optnion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

e the inTormation given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

» the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

In the light of the knowtedge and understanding of the Group and of the parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the
directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

*» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or retums adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

e the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothiung to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our repart

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Campanies Act 2006. Qur audit work has been undertaken sc that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opimions we have formed.

\JCM ALl

James Leigh FCA {Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor

Lendon, Urited Kingdom

14 Apnl 2023
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
COVSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Note 2022 2021
€m

Revenue ... BRI SRURT I 2 18,172.3 14,932.2

Cost of sales befare excepnonal items . (15,171.7) (11,821.5)

Exceptional cost of sales .. SO PSRSUURRRRRO 4 - 140.6

TOtal COSE OF SAUES ..o oo oo oot (15,1717 {11,962.1)
Gross Profit.. ity ssenens 3,000.6 12,9701
DHSETIBULION COBIS .ot ies e et (901.9) (B14.5)
Administrative expenses before exceptuonal (103 11 TP (474.8) (440.0)

Exceptional administrative expenses

4 (5.1} (41.1)

Total admMiniSITalive EXPENSES oot e e (479.9) (481.1)
Operating profit 5 1.618.8 1,674.5
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures using the equity method 12 21386 462.0
Dividends received from other investments .........cocoomnvmenens 26 2.5
Impairment of VeSS ... ... oo e e 12 - {1.0)
Loss on disposa! of equity accounted investrnents....... ... 12 (26.6) -
Profit on disposal of controlling stake in businesses. . 3 7103 -
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment ... 56 4.3
Profit before net finance costs 2,544.3 2,142.3
Finance INCOME ... e . 8 89.6 101.8
Finance costs before exceptional items .. - g (287.0) (273.1)
Exceptional finanee COSIS ...t 4,8 (4.3) __(68.9)
Total finance COSES.. ..o e e e (291.3) {342.09
Net finance costs ........coooeiiviirnens [P e e (201.7) (240.2)
Profit before tax 2,342.6 1,902.1
TaX CHATEE oot oottt e 9 (3777 {326.0)
Profit for the year 1,964.9 1,576.1
Profit attributable to:
- Ownersof the parent ... 1,920.3 1,545.8
- Non-controlling inferest ... 44.6 303
1,964.9 1,576.1

All activities of the Group relate 1o continuing operations.

The notes on pages 34 to 105 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Profit for the year.

INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

DECEMBER 2022

Other comprehensive (expense)/income:

Ttems thar il nog be reclassified to profit vr luss

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligations ....................
Deferred taxes on remeasurement of post-employment beneft

obligaticns

Fair value gain on investmcents in equity instruments designated as
FVTOCT e et e et bt
Reclassification of foreign exchange translation difference on disposal
of subsidiaries to profit or loss.
ltems that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Foreign exchange translation differences of subsidiaries ... ... ...
Total other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year, net of tax

..................................

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

- Owners of the parent

- Non-controlling interest ............ ... e e —————

Total comprehensive income for the year

Note 2022 2021
€m

1,964.9 1,576.1

20 (35.6) 54 .8
14 6.8 (9.6)
25 (0.4 -
3 9.8 -
(51.0) 202.9

(70.4) 248.1

1,894.5 1,824.2

1,854.9 1,784.7
39.6 395
1,894.5 1,5824.2

The notes on pages 34 to 105 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Note 2022 2021
Non-current assets €m
Property, plant and equipment 10 4,722.8 49722
Intangible assets 1 2,187.1 2,265.2
Investments in equity-accounted inve: 12 1,80G.6 1,530.9
Other investments..... 12 9.8 18.1
Other financial assets 13 22 2.1
Other receivables 16 152.7 525
Employee benefits 20 277 69.0
Deferred taX A55ELS.......ccocviecrerereecrrsreeresereieerensesssesesssseresessasen . 14 [50.2 202.9
Total non-current assets 9,053.1 91129
Current assets
Inventomies. ......ocovvevr e s 1,473.6 1,548.9
Trade 2nd other receivables ... 16 2,3609% 2,3779
Tax receivables for current tax ... 792 54.7
Other financial assets.......... 13 244.5 .
Cash and cash equivalents.. 26 1,530.§ 1,291.3
Total current ts 5,6883 5,271.8
Total assets 14,741.4 14,385.7
Equity attribotable to owners of the parent
Share capital 23 03 03
METZET FESRTYE cvvv e reec s rreeenaseaneeeen: eer enaree e eer et et 24 (4,526.9) 4,526.9)
Retained earnings..... 2,961.0 7.551.5
Other reserves 148.1 213.5
Total sharehoiders’ funds 4,582.5 3,2384
NON-CONETOTHNE INTENEST . ....c\ oot es e s b 66.1 742
Total equity 4,648.6 33126
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings.............. 17 6,3316.5 6,436.4
Lease liabilities i8 224.3 226.6
Trade and other payables. 19 1425 146.9
Employee benefits ... 20 189.5 2333
Provisions.............. 21 1546 185.3
Deferred tax liabilities. 14 400.3 404.9
Total non-current liabilities 7,447.7 7,63).4
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing 10ans and DOITOWINES...cooevveeeireieecsrraree s 17 4.5 1338
Lease labilities..............c.o...ooecenns 18 65.0 2.6
Trade and other payables.... 19 2,301.0 ! 2,978.5
Tax liabilities for current tax . 194.7 146.0
Other financial liabilities ; 22 46.2 534
PrOVISIOMS it et 21 33.7 55.3
Total current liabilities. 1,645.1 3.439.7
Total liabilities 10,092.8 11,873.1
Total equity and liabilities 14,741.4 14385.7

The notes on pages 34 to 105 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 14 April 2023 and were signed on its
behalf by:

W Leask
Director

INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited
Registered number: 69922632
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

Shure Non-
premiu Total controlli
Share m Merger  Retained Other shareholde ng Total
Nate  capital rescrve reserve  earmings  reserves rs' funds interest Lquity
€m
Bsalance at | Junuary 2021 ............... 0.3 66204 (4,526.9) 603.5 (25.4) 2,671.9 71.3 2,743.2
Profit forthe year . ... ...l - - - 1,545.8 - 1,545.8 303 15761
Other comprehensive
income/(expense):
Remeasurcment of post-cmployment
benelit obligations ... ... 20 - - - - 537 537 1.1 4.8
Deferred 1axes on remeasurement of
post-employment benefit obligations.. 14 - - - - {2.4) (9.4} {0.2} (9.6)
Foreign exchange transfation
differences of subsidianes ................. - - - - 146 194 6 8.3 2029
Total other comprehensive income 2389 238.9 9.2 248§
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity:
Reduction of share premium,.. 23 (6,620.4) - 6,620.4 - - -
Repayment of Equity Bridge
Conthbution ... .. ... .3 - - - (824.9) - {824.9) - (824 9)
Dividends .. 23 - - (393.3} - {393.3) (36.6) (429.9)
Trans.lcnons wuh UWRRTS, recufded
direcily in equity........c.coooonrccnenenan.. - {6,6204) - 54022 - (1,2i8.2) {36.6) _ (1,254.8)
Balance at 31 December 2021 .......... 0.3 - (4,5269) 15515 2135 3,238.4 74.2 33126
Profit for the year ..o - - - 1,920.3 - 1,203 446 1.964.9
Other comprehensive
{expense)/income:
Remeasurement ofpuql-ernploymcm
benefit obligations ... 20 - - - - {32.6) (32.6) 30 (35.6)
Deferred taxes on remeasurement of
post-employment benefit obligations., 14 - . - - 6.1 6.1 0.7 6.8
Foreign exchange transtation
differences of subsidianes ... - - - - {48.3) (48.3) .M (51.0)
Reclassificatron to profit or loss on
disposal of subsidiaries.. .. 3 - - - 98 98 - DR
Fasr valuc loss on investiments in
equity instruments designated as
FVWTOCT oo 14 - - - - 04) 0.4} (0.4)
Total other comprehensive expense. - - - - (65.4) (65.4) {5.0) (70.4)
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity:
Adjustment arising from change in
non-cantrolling interest.. - - - 10.2 - 10.2 122 224
Adjustment arising from dlspusaI of
non-controtling tnterest. ..o, - - - - - - (32.5) (32.5)
Dividends .. 23 - - - _(521.0) - (521.0) (274) (548 4)
Transacnons wuh owners, recorded
directly in €qUItY. ..ooverreeeceeenianan - - - __{310.8) - 1516.8) (47.7) (558.5)
Batance at 31 December 2021 .......... 03 - _{4,526.9) 8961.0 148.1 4,582.5 66.1 4,648.6

The notes on pages 34 ta 105 are an lmegral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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. INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2012

Analysis of other reserves:

Translation . Fairvalue - Actuarial ‘Total ather
Note reserve reserve reserve reserves
€m

Balance at | Janoary 2021 ..... {10.7) - 4. (25.4)
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligations ... 20 - - 53.7 53.7
Decferred wxes on remeasurement of post-cmployment benefit -
obligauons . ... 14 - - (9.4) (9.4)
Forcign exchange translation diffcrences of subsidiaries ..., 194.6 - - 194.6
Balance at 31 D ber 2021 183.9 - 29.6 213.5
Remeasurement of posl-employment benefit obligations ........... ] - - (32.6) (32.6)
Deferred taxes on remeasurement of post-employment benefit
OblIZALONS ... e M - " 61 6.1
Fair valuc gain on investments in cquity instruments designated 4
@S EVTOCL. . o o e oo e L8 . 0.4 - 04)
Reclassification of foreign exchange translation difference on
disposal of subsidiaries.. ... 98 - - 9.8
Foreign exchange translstion differences of subsidiaries ... (48.3} - - (48.3)
Balaoce at 31 December 2022 t454 0.4) 3.1 148.1

The notes on pages 34 1o 105 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

Nate 2022 2021
€m

Cash {lows from operating activities

Profit fOr the YEAT ..o e 1,964 9 1,576.1
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and impairment . - 10 5829 595.5
Amortisation and impairment .. .o 129.4 1229
Net fiDANCE COSIS ..uvve i g 201.7 240.2
Share of profit of joint ventures and assoaated undenakmgs ............................. 12 (2331.6) (462.0)
Dividends received from othet iInVestments . .....o.ooiiii e iee e (2.6) (2.5)
Profit on disposal of preperty, plant and eqQUEPMENT ... (5.6} (4.3)
[mpairment of MVESIMENTS.........coeeeie et e eseae s e 12 26.6 1.0
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries .. (710.3) .
Tax charBe. . oo e 9 3777 3260
Decrease/{increase) in trade and other receivables. 406.6 (789.4)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories .. e 733 (589.2)
(Decrease)/merease in trade and nther payables ................................................ (542.5) 1,0320
(Decrease)/increase in provisions and employee beneffts ... {(74.8) 70.0
Tax pawd ... (321.8) (291.1)
Net cash from operanng activities .o . 1,872.1 1,825.2
Cash flows from investing activities

Interest and other finance income received ............ . R TP SPPR 13.6 5.0
Net repayment of loans made to related parties ...............ccocoeeiins 4.2 6.7
Dividends received from joint ventures ... RN 12 401.4 188.7
Dividends received from other investments 26 2.5
Disposal of businesses, net of cash disposed of and withholding tax.................. 3 238.t -
Proceeds from sales of propenty, plant and equipment 16.1 6.8
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired ... 3 - 85.8
Acquisition of Other INVESIMENLS. ... et b 0.2) 0.7)
Acquisition of intangible 85568 ... (75.1 (3.5
Acquisition of property, piant and equipment._____ e e e (869.4) (750.2)
Net cash used in investing activities ....c.ceeeiene. : (269.3) (458.9)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from external borrowings 17 431.1 48325
Repayment of extemal bormowings . (418.9) (4,185.4)
Debt 1ssue ¢osis... FE S RO P (1.2} (63.0)
Interest paid... JSUUTOI O DD ST (270.2) (187.7)
Capital cle:ment of lease paymcnls ......................................................... SR . 18 (82.8) (95.8)
Non-controlling iNerest BUY-0UL......coooooiiiiiiii e rer e 23 225 -
Drawdown of loans made to the owners of the Company.................. . .. (500.5) -
Repayment of Equity Bridge Contribution to the owners of the Company 23 - (824.9)
Dividend paid attnbutable to the owners of the Company . 23 (521.0% (3931.3)
Dividend paid attributable to non-controlling interest . ... ... (34.9) (193
Net cash used in financing activities ... (1,375.9) (9279
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ... ... ... 26 226.9 438.4
Cash and cash equivalents at | January............... 26 1,291.3 805.6
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held ... 118 473
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December .......coivuimmereeariiisicriinisiniserarnases 26 1,530.1 1,291.3

The notes on pages 34 to 105 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

i ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1 Overview

INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited {*the Company™) is a private company, limited by shares, incorporated in the United
Kingdom, registered in England and Wales, and has its registered office at Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst,
Hampshire, S043 7FG, United Kingdom.

The Company was incorporated on 18 December 20135, as a subsidiary of INEOS Industries Holdings Limited.

1.2 Basis of accounting

These financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group™
and equity account the Group’s interest in associated undertakings and recognise its joint arrangements as joint
operations or joint ventures. The parent company financial statements present information about the Company as a
separate entity and not about 1ts Group.

The Group financial statements have been prepared on a going congem basis and approved by the Board of Directors
in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards .

In preparing the financial statements, the directors have considered the impact of climate change, particularty in the
context of the principal tisk identified on page 19. There has been no material impact identified on the financial
reporting judgements and estimates. The direciors are aware of the ever-changing risks attached to climate change and
will regularly assess these risks against judgements and estimates made tn preparation of the group's financial
statements

The Group meets its day to day working capital requirements through its intercompany loan and external financing
facilities, along with cash generated by its subsidiaries’ operations, The Group held cash balances of €1,530.1 million
at 31 December 2022 (2021: €1,291.3 million) and gross loans and borrowings of €6,391.7 mullion at 31 December
2022 (2021: €6,640.2 million). The Group has no significant financial covenants. The Directors have considered the
Group’s projected future cash flows and working capital requirements and are confident that the Group has sufficient
cashflows to meet its working capital requirements for the next twelve months from the date of signing the financial
statements. In particular, the Directors have stress tested the forecasts through taking account of reasonable possible
changes in trading performance on the impact on EBITDA before exceptional items, cash flow and debt. The stress
tests show that the Group will still have sufficient cash flow to meet all of its obligations as they fall due within the
next |2 months from the date of signing the financial statements.

On the basis of this assessment together with net assets of €4.648.6 million as at 3! December 2022 (2021: €3,312.6
million) the Directors have concluded that the Group can operate within its current facilities for a period of at feast 12
months from the date of this report. Therefore, these financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis
in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom.

The Group financial staternents have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with United Kingdom
adopted international accounting standards and have been approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on 14 April
2023,

The notes below provide a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied conststently
to all periods presented in these Group financial statements.

1.3 Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the histoncal cost basis except for denvative financial insiruments classified
at {aur value through the profit or loss or at fair value through other comprehensive income.

1.4 Functional and presentation currency

The presentational currency of the Group is the Euro, which is the functional currency of the majority of operations.
The Group’s primary products are sold in an iniermational commodities market which is priced and invoiced primarily
in euros.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

L5 Changes in accounting policies

The Group financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies that are consistent with those of the
previous financial year. The Group has adopted the tollowing amendments to accounting standards for the first time
in 2022, with effect from 1 January 2022, although there has been no material effect on the Group's financial
statements:

+ Amendments to LIAS 37: Onerous Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract.

The amendments specify that the cost of fulfilling a contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the
contract. Costs thag relate directly to a contract consist of both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(examples would be direct labour or materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
contracts (an example would be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

«  Amendments to References to the Conceprual Framework in I[FRS 3.

The amendments update a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without changing
the accounting requirements for business combinaticns.

e Amendments to [AS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment—Proceeds before Intended Use.

Under the amendments, proceeds from selling items before the related item of Property, Plant and Equipment
is available for use should be recognised in profit or loss, together with the costs of producing those items.
1AS 2 Inventories should be applied in identifying and measuring these production costs.

The amendments also clarify the meaning of'testing whether an asset is functioning properly’. IAS 16 now
specifies this as assessing whether the technical and physical performance of the asset is such that it is capable
of being used in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative
purposes.

If not presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income, the financial statements shall disclose
the amounts of proceeds and cost included in profit or loss that relate to items produced that are not an output
of the entity’s ordinary activities, and which line item(s) in the statement of comprehensive income include(s)
such proceeds and cost.

«  Annual Improvements to [FRS Standards 2018-2020:

IFRS |: Subsidiary as a first-time Adopter — The amendment provides additional rehef to a subsidiary which
becomes a first-time adopier later than its parent in respect of accounting for cumulative translation
differences. The amendment allows entities that have measured their assets and liabtlities at carrying amounts
recorded in their parent’s books to also measure any cumulative translation differences using the amounts
reported by the parent, This amendment will also apply to associates and joint ventures that have taken the
same [FRS | gxemption,

IFRS 9: Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ 1test for derecognition of financial liabilities — The amendment clarifies
which fees should be included in the 10% test for derecognition ot financial liabilities.

IFRS 16: The amendment removes the illustration of the reimbursement of leasehold improvements.

¢ Amendments to [AS | Presentation of Financial Statements; Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (effective date 1 Tanuary 2024).

1.6 Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvernent with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred 1o the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (farming part of the financial statements)

1.6 Basis of consolidation {continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations, except acquisitions under common
control which are outside the scope of IFRS 3. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in
a business combination are measured iniually at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-
controliing interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred,

If the business combination of a subsidiary or joint venture is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value
of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured 10 fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or foss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair valuc at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 in the profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is ¢lassified as equity is not
re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated.

Transactions with non-coniroiling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity ransactions
— that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference berween fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interesis are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture of
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reciassified to profit or loss.

Special purpose entities (“SPE"}

A SPE is consalidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship with the Group and the SPE's
risks and rewards, the Group concludes that it controls the SPE. The Group has established three SPE’s, INEOS
Styrolution Receivables Finance Designated Activity Company, Deutsche Bank Mexico F/1787 and INEOS Norway
Finance Treland Limited, for debt securitisation programmes. The Group does not have any direct or indirect
shareholdings in these SPE’s. The SPE’s are controlled by the Group as they have been established under terms that
impose strict limitatioas on the decision-making powers of the SPE’s management that result in the Group receiving
the majority of the benefits related o the SPE’s operations and net assets, being exposed to the majority of risks arising
from the SPE’s activities, and retaining the majority of the residual or ownership risks related to the SPE’s and their
assets. INEOS Styrolution Receivables Finance Designated Activity Company, Deutsche Bank Mexico F/1787 and
INEQS Norway Finance Ireland Limited are therefore regarded as SPE’s and have been consolidated in these financial
statements.

Associated underiakings

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not contrel, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Tnvestments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initually recognised at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor's share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition. [f the ownership interest
in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comptehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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s Basis of consolidation (continued)
Associated undertakings (continued)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’'s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest [n the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obiigations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the
associate 1s impaired. If this is the case, the Group caiculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of profit/(loss)
of associates” in the income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group's financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated uniess the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted

by the Group.

Joint arrangements

Under IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements ', investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or
Jjoint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the
legal structure of the joint arrangement. The Group has assessed the natare of its joint arrangements and determined
them to be either joint operations or joint ventures.

The Group recognises its direct right to the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations and its share
of any jointly held or incurred assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These have been incorporated in the financial
staternents under the appropriate headings.

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or loses and movements in other comprehensive income. When the Group's share of losses on a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures {which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated uniess the transaction provides evidence of an
tmpairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the polices adopted by the Group.

1.7 Foreign exchange

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at the reporting date are retranslated to the funcuonal currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign
exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the consolidated income statement except for differences
arising on the retranslation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation,
or gualifying cash flow hedges, which are recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign exchange are translated using the exchange rate at
the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilitics denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation,
are translated to the Group's presentational currency, euros, at foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. The
revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
The Group applies an average rate for the year where this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the transactions. Exchange differences arising from this translation of foreign operations are taken directly to
the translation reserve. They are recycied into the consolidated income statement upon disposal.
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1.7 Foreign exchange (continued}

Exchange differences arising from a monelary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the settlement
of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form: part of a net investment in a
foreign operation and are recognised directly in equity in the translation reserve. Foreign exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of a borrowing designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised
directly in OCI, in the translation reserve, to the extent that the hedge is effective. When the hedged part of a net
investment is disposed of, the associated cumulative amount in equity is transferred to profit or loss as an adjustment
to the profit or loss on disposal.

18 Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group

Financial instruments issued by the Group are trealed as equity only to the extent that they meet the following two
condstions:

(a) They include no contractual obligation upon the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange
financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potenitally unfavourable to
the Group; and

(b)Y Where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company's own equity instruments, it is either a non-
derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’'s own ¢quity instruments
or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company’s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial
assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition 1s not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the
instrumment so classificd takes the legal form of the Company’s own sharcs, the amounts presented in these financial
statemenis for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

Noun-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in debt and equity securities, trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition they are tested for classification as per IFRS 9. If the trade
receivables satisfy the criteria for cash flow characteristics test and business model test as per IFRS 9, then they are
recognised at amortised cost. If they do not qualify for being recognised at amortised cost Lhey are recognised at fair
value through profit or loss or at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Trade and other payabies

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
maethod.

Investments in debt and equity securities

Investiments in debt securities are measured ar amortised cost if they meet both of the following conditions and are not
designated as a fair value through profit and loss:

e« The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash fiows,
and

«  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income only if it meets both of the following
conditions and is not designated as a fair value through profit and loss:

s The asset is held within a business model whose objective 1s achieved by both ¢ollecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets; and

*  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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1.8 Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group (cantinued)
Investments in debit and equnty securities (continued)

For investment in equity securities that are not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes to fair value in other comprehensive income. The Group makes this election on an investment-by-investment
basis.

All other financial assets, including derivatives, are classified as measured at fair value through profit and loss. When
these investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised
in the income statement. Where these investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated using the effective interest
method is recogrised in the mcome statement. Where no reliable measurement of fair value is available, investments
are stated at historic acquisition cost.

Cash and cash equivalenis
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash balances and call deposits.

Cash flows entered inio by a third party on behalf of the Group (as it's ‘agent’) are presented ‘gross’. These are
typically cash flows arising from financing activities, undertaken by agent banks.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Debi restructuring

The Group derecognises financial liabilities in accordance with the provisions in !FRS 9. When debt is modified, the
Group analyses the mod:fications from both a quantitative and qualitative perspective to determine if the modifications
are substantial and meet the IFRS requirements for de-recognition, in which case the debt is treated as extinguished.
All fees paid in connection with a debt extinguishment are expensed immediately. When a modification is accounted
for as a non-substantial modification, associated fees incurred are deferred as an adjustment to the carrying value of
the Liability and amortised using the original effective interest rate

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on subsequent remeasurement
to fair value is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement as finance income or expense. Where
derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item
being hedged.

Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial
instrument is recognised directly in the hedging reserve. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the
derivative that is recognised in hedging reserve is limited to the cumulative change in far value of the hedged item,
determined on a present value basis, from inception of the hedge. Any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement as finance income or expense.

Where the forccast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability,
the associated cumulative gain or loss 1s removed from the hedging reserve and is included in the imitial carrying
amount of the non-financial asset or liabiliry.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognitian of a financial asset or a financial liability,
the associated gains and losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified tnto profit or loss in the same
period or periods during which the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss, e.g. when interest income
or expense is recognised,

~For cash Tlow hedges, other than thosé covéred by the preceding rwo policy statements; the associated cumiulative gain
or loss is removed from equity and included in the consolidated income statement as an adjustment to revenue and
cost of sales in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction affects revenue and cost of
sales in the consolidated income staternent.
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1.8 Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group {continued)
Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)

When a hedging instrument expires, is sold, terminated, exercised, or the hedge ne longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity
and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. if the hedged transaction is no
longer expected to take place, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in the
consghdated income statement utmmediately.

1.9 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable o the acquisition of the asset. Cost may include the cost of
materials, labour and other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working cendition for their intended
use. Cost may also include the cost of dismantling and removing items and restoring the site on which they are located.

Where parts of an ttem of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate
items of property, plant and equipment. :

Depreciation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation commences from the date an asset is brought
into service. Land and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as
follows: :

¢  Buildings 10 te 50 years

*  Plant and Equipment

- Major items of plant 3 to 30 years
- Major plant overhauls 210 4 ygars
- Motor vehicles 5 years

- Computer hardware and major software 2 to 4 years
- Fixtures and fittings 3 to 40 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Where an indicator of impairment exists, the
Group makes an estimate of the recoverable ameount, which is the higher of the asset's fair value less cost to sell and
value in use. Where the carrying amount of an asset ¢xceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired
and is written down te its recoverable amount.

Assets are derecognised upon disposal or when no futre economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference berween the net
disposat proceeds and the carrying value of the asset) is included in the consolidated income statement in the period
in which the jtem is derecognised.

1.10 Business combinations, goodwill and intangible assets

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the Acquisition method, except acquisitions under common
conirol which are outside the scope of IFRS 3. Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

Acquisitions under common control are accounted for at book value. The difference in the book value of the assets
acquired and consideration paid is recognised in retained eammings within a distributable merger reserve. The Group
has elected not 10 include the results of businesses acquired under common control transactions within the Group
income statement for any periods prior 1o the date of acquiring control.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to groups of cash-generating
units and is not amortised but js tested annually for impairment. The cash generating units within the Group are
predominately business units. In respect of equity accounted investees, the carrying amount of goodwill is included
in the carrying amount of the investment in the iavestee.
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1.10 Business combinations, goodwill and intangible assets (cantinued)
Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.
Intangible asseis

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. These intangible assets principally comprise intellectual property rights, customer relationships,
non-compete agreements and license fees.

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are carried initially at cost. The initial cost is the aggregate
amount patd and the fair value of other consideration given to acquire the assets. An intangible asset acquired as part
of a business combination is recognised separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or arises from contractual
or other legal rights and its fair value can be measured reliably.

Amortisation

Amortisation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful lite and goodwill are
systemnatically tested for impairment at each reporting date. Other intangible assets are amortised from the date they
are available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

e  Customer relationships 3 — 12 years

s Intellectual property rights 10~ 15 years

« Non-compete agreements life of the agreement
* Licenses up to 15 years

e Other 3 ycars

These intangible assets are tested for impairment at the end of the reporting period if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Useful lives are examined on an annual basis
and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.

1.11 Research and development
Expenditure on research aclivities is recognised in the consolidated income statement as an expense as incurred.

Expenditure on development activities ts capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially feasivle
and the Group intends to and has the technical ability and sufficient resources to complete development, fature
economic benefits are probable and if the Group can measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset during its development. Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or
substantiatly improved products or processes. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of matenals, direct labour
and an appropriate proporticn of overheads. Where regulatory and other uncertainties are such that the criteria are not
met, the expenditure is recognised in the income statement. Other development expenditure is recognised in the
income statement as an expense as incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and less accumulated impairment losses.

1.12 Impairment
Impairment of financial assets

A financial assct not classified at fair value through profit and loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is evidence that it is impaired.

Trade and other receivables

The Group applies the simplificd approach when providing for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9 for its
trade receivables and contract assets. This approach requires the Group to recognise the hfetime expected loss
provision for al) rade receivables taking in consideration historicat as well as forward-looking information.

Where the Group has assessed the probability of default of a financial asset to be low, the loss allowance is considered
immaterial.

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with the financial assets classified

at amortised cost at each balance sheet date and adjusts the allowance acecrdingly
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1.12 Impairment (continued)
Investments in debr and equity securities

Impairment of equity securities ¢lassified as FVOCI are not tested for impairment under IFRS 9. If the fair value of a
debt instrument classified as FVOCI increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment foss was recognised in the income statement, the impairment foss is reversed through profit or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets excluding inventories and deferred tax assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non —financial assets, other than inventories and deferred ltax assets are
assessed at the end of the reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.

For goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible assets thal are not yet
available for use, the recoverable armount is estimated at the end of the reporting period.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the upit
on a pro rata hasis. A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that
are largely indepeadent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Caleulation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. ’

Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill 1s not reversed.

[n respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there 1s an indication that the impairment loss may no
longer exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

113 Inventories

Inventories (excluding engincering stocks and maintenance spares) are stated at the lower of cost, using the first-in
first-out or average cost method, and net reahisable value which 1s defined as the estimated selling price less the
estimated cost of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Cost includes expenditure incurred
in acquiring the inventoties, producticn or conversion costs and other costs in bringing them to their existing location
and cendition. In the case of manufactured inveniories and wark in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of
overheads based on normal operating capacity. Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where
appropniatc.

ltems owned by the Group that are held on coasignment at another entity’s premiscs are included as part of the Group’s
inventory.

Engineering stocks and maintenance spares are valued at moving average price. Catalysts, which are part of the
chemical reaction and are cansumed in the production process, are held as raw materials and consumables within
inveniories. These are consumed over a certain penod, depending on their renewal cycles, according to normal
production levels.

Cost of sales includes direct costs of raw material, distribution and handling costs.

1.14 Commodities

Contracts that are entered into and continue to be heid for the purpose of reccipt or delivery of non-financiai items in
accordance with the Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements (own-use contracts} are not accounted for
as denivative financial instruments, but rather as executory contracts.
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1.15 Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the nght to control the use of an idemified asset, the Group uses
the definition of a lease in IFRS 16 Leases.

Group as a lessee

Right-of-use assels

The Gruup recognises nght-ot-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of iease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised and lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asser is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the
end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease
term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-
of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as
those of property and equipment. Tn addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if
any, and adjusted for cerfain remeasurements of the lease [{ability.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the [ease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group’s inhcremental borrowing rate.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), vanable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate (initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date), amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees less any lease incentives receivable. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
{using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. In
addivon, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in the in-substance fixed lease payments a change in the asscssment of whether the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise an option te purchase the underlying asset, a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, oc if there is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expecied to be payable under a residual
value guarantec.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way and there has been no change in the scope of the lease, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Shart-term leases and leases of low-value assels

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to all leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. The Group also applies the lease of low-value
assets recogmtion exempltion to leases of assets that are valued below €10,000. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets arc recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,

" T16— Government grantsand similar deferred income ——- @ —o  o—— ... . .

Government grants and simitar deferred income are shown in the balance sheet as deferred income. This income is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the same period as the tangible fixed asset to which it relates or the life of the
related project.
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1.47 Employee benefits

The Group operates a number of defined contribution pians and funded and unfunded defined benefit pension schemes.
The Group also provides unfunded carly retirement benefits, long service awards and an incentive plan for certain
employees.

The Group provides health care insurance to eligible retired employees and their dependants, primarily in the United
States.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separale entity and will have no iegal or constructive obligation to pay turther amounts. Obligations {or contributions
to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement as incurred.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group’s net
obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans and other past-employment benefits is calculated separately for
each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in retum for their service in the
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to deiermine its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets
(at bid price) are deducted. The liability discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on AA credit rated bonds
denominated in the currency of, and that have marurity dates approximating to the terms of, the Group’s obligations.
The calculation ts performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

When the benefits of a plan are amended or curtailed, the portion of the increased or decreased benefit relaung to past’
service by employees is recognised as an expense immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Where the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the asset recognised is limited to the present value of any future
refunds fram the plan or reductions in funre contributions to the plan.

The pension scheme surplus {to the extent that it is recoverable) or deficit is recognised in full.
The movement in the scheme surplus/deficit is split between:
«  cost of sales and administrative expenses,
s net finance costs and,
= in net expense recogrised directly in equity, the remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations.

Certain of the Group’s pension plans include mulu-employer schemes for employees of the Group and other INEOS
or third-party companies. The method used to split the results between the Group and the other participating employers
is as follows:

¢ Most members are allocated to a specific company, but where this was not possible members are allocated
to the largest employer within the Group.

= Active scheme liabilities are allocated pro-rata based on the relative value of accrued pensions for active
members. Deferred and pensioner members are allocated to the largest employer within the Group.

e Tortal assets and cash flows are allocated in proportion to accrued pensions.

&  The aliocation of total scheme liabilities is based on data collected at the last valuation date and this
proportionate split has been applied consistently in the calculations.

Shori-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service
is provided. A i{ability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing
plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided
by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
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1.18 Provisions

A provision (s recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that
can be estimated reliably and it 1s probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. The uming of recognition requires the application of judgement to existing facis and circumstances, which
can be subject to change. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at risk free pre-tax
rates based on country specific government bond yiclds which match the maturity of the expected future cash flows.
The unwinding of the discount 15 recognised in finance costs.

Estimated direct costs to be incurred in connection with restructuring measures are provided for when the Group has
a constructive obligatiun, which is generally the same as the announcement date. The announcement date is the date
an which the plan is announced in sufficient detail such that employees have valid expectations that the restructuring
will be ¢carried out.

The Group is exposed to environmental and remediation liabilities relating to its past operations. Provision for these
costs is made when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation to carry our remediation works and costs can be
estimated within a reasonable range of possible cutcomes.

1.19 Share capital

Ordinary sharcs are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shawn
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

1.20 Revenue

Revenue represents the invoiced value of products and services sold or services provided to third parties net of sales
discounts, value added taxes and duties. Contracts for goods and services are analysed to determine the distinct
performance obligations against which revenue should be recognised. The amouni to be recognised is determined
from the standalone selling prices for goods and services, allucated to the performance obligations. Revenuc is
recognised when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied by transferring a promised good or service to a
customer.

The timing of the satisfaction of a performance obligation varies depending on the individual terms of the sales
agreement. Payment terms vary across the Group dependent on geographical location of each operating company.
Transfer of control can occur when the product is received at the customer’s warchouse, or loading the goods ento the
relevant carrier, or when the product leaves the production site, depending on the international shipping terms that the
product is sold under.

The pricing for products sold is determined by market prices (market contracts and arrangements) or is linked by a
formula to published raw material prices plus an agreed additional amount (formula contracts). Revenue arising from
the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are dispatched or delivered depending on the relevant delivery terms
and point at which the control of the good or service is transferred to the customer.

The Group applies the five-step mode! for revenue recognition, introduced by [FRS I5 Revenue from Contracts with
Customners. This model allows the Group to identify the contract with a customer; to determine the performance
obligations in the contract; to ¢stablish the transaction price, which is Jater allocated to the perforrnance obligations in
the contract, and to recognise revenue when, or as, the entity satisfies a performance obligation, that is, that the contro!
of the asset is transferred to the customer.

The Group has a small number of contracts that include distinct performance obligations. This results, in a limited
number of cases, that revenue for certain performance obligations (being primarily separate shipping obligations) is
recognised later in me. Additionally, certain customer contracts offer various forms of volume or early payment
discount. These variable considerations might have as a consequence timing differences, but since the majority of
contracts have terms of less than one year, the differences are solved within the period. Revenue is recognised to the
extent that it is highly likely that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur

Additionally, certain customer contracts offer various forms of variable consideration in the form of early settlement
discount or rerospective volume discounts. If it is highly probable that an early settlement discount will be taken and
the amount is not expected to reverse when the variability is resolved, the discount is recognised as a reduction of
revenue as the sales are recognised. 1fa volume discount applies retrospectively to all sales under the contract once a

- --certain -threshold—is -achieved, an. estimate-of.the volumes_to_be sold and the resulting discount is calculated_in

determining the transaction price and this calculation is updated throughout the term of the contract.

Certain time and location swap contracts with third parties for commodities and finished goods are excluded from
rurnover and cost of sales.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1.20 Revenue (continued)

Services provided to third parties include administrative and operational services provided to other companies with
facilities on the Group's sites. Revenue is tecognised at a pomnt in ume or over-time depending on whether the over-
1ime revenue recognition criteria is met.

No assets related to costs to obtain or fulfil a contract have been recognised. Its impact, if any, 1s deemed immaterial.

1.21 Finance income and costs

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the consolidated income statement as it accrues. using the effective
interest methed. Dividend income is recognised in the consolidated income statement on the date the entity’s right to
receive payments is ¢stablished. Foreign exchange gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Finance costs comprise interest payable, finance charges on leases, unwinding of the discount on provisions, net fair
value losses on denvatives, net interest on employee benefit liabilities and net foreign exchange losses that are recognised
in the consolidated income statement (see foreign exchange accounting policy).

Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested and from related party loans, net fair value gains on
derivatives and net foreign exchange gains.

1.22 Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year compriscs current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement except 10 the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in
equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using 1ax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carmrying amounts of assets and hiabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided
for: the initia! recognition of goodw)l; the inittal recognition of assets or hiabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit other than in a business combination: and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using 1ax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferted tax assets and habilities are offset if it 13 possible
that there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets because they relate to taxes levied by
the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on ditferent tax entities, but they intend to setile current tax
l{abilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simuitancously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary difference can be utibised,

1.23 Segmental analysis

The Group determines its operating segments in a manner consistent with the internal reporting prowvided to the chief
operating decision-makers. The chief operating decision-makers are responsibie for allocating resources and assessing
performauce of the operating segments. The chief operating decision-makers are the members of the Executive
Committees of each business who report into the shareholder.

The Group’s primary format for segment reporting is based on business segments. The business segments are

determined based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure and the aggregation criteria set out in
IFRS 8.

Segment results that are reported to the chief operating decision-makers mnclude items directly atributable to a segment
as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

Details of the Group operating segments and the segmental analysis of revenue and EBITDA before exceptionals are
showmn in note 2.
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1.24 Exceptional items

In order 1o provide readers with a clear and consistent presentation of the underlying operating performance of the
Group’s ongoing business it separately identifies those profits and losses which because of their size or nature, are
outside the normal course of business so are expected to be non-recurring, This may include the disposat of businesses,
the impairment of non-current assets, the cost of restructuring acquired or existing businesses, the impact of one off
events such as legal settlements or finance costs relating to call premia and write-off of unamortised debt issue costs
following substanual modification or redemption of debt as exceptional items.

1.28 Emissions Trading schemes

The Group participates in the EU and UK Emissions Trading Schemes. The Scheme encourages companies to reduce
carbon emissions by offering financial incentives if they achieve their annual reduction targets. If a company reduces
emissions beyond their target then the surplus may be traded in the form of emissions permils.

The incentive money due from the EU and UK Emissions Trading Schemes are recognised in the consolidated income
statement within cost of sales as a reduction of energy costs once the reduction targets have been met. The emissions
permits allocated under the Scheme are at nil cost. Any additional emission permits that are purchased are recognised
as intangible assets. The Group recognises the revenue from such permits upon their sale to third parties.

The Group accrues for emissions produced. The accrual is measured at the carrying ameount of the emission nights
held (nil if granted, otherwise at cost) or, in the case of a shortfall, at the current fair value of the emission rights

needed.

1.26 Accounting standards not applied

A number of new standards and amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after | January 2023 and
earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has nat early adopted the new or amended standards in preparing
these consolidated financial statcments.

The impact of their adoption is being assessed and is not expected to have a material tmpact on the Group’s financiat
statements in the period of initial application. The new standards and amendments are as follows:
s [FRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective date 1 January 2023).
*  Amendments to [AS 12: Income taxes—deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction {effective date | January 2023).
¢ Amendments to [AS | Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of
Accounting Policies (effective date | January 2023).
s  Amendments ta IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates (effective date 1 January 2023).
e Amendments to IFRS 16; Lease Liability in a sale and leaseback {effective date 1 January 2024).

2 OPERATING SEGMENTS

Revenue and EBITDA before exceptional items are key measures used by the chief operating decision makers of the
Group to assess the performance of the business segments.

The Group divides its operations into four segments:

- Snrolution, consisting of a portfolio of styrene monomer, palystyrene and acrylonitrile butadiene slyrene
{“ABS”) and a number of other styrene derivatives under the category of “Specialties” such as ABS specialty
and copolymers.

- INEOS Inovyn, consisting of general purpose and specialty suspension PYC, emulsion PVC, caustic soda,
caustic potash, chlorine and chloring by-products, brine and water, salt, hydrochloric acid, chlorinated
paraffins, chlorinated solvents, allylics and epichlorohydrin.

- Acetyls, consisting of a variety of organic compounds, including acetic acid, acetic anhydride, methanol,
ethyl acetate and vinyl acetate.

- Aromatics, consisting of a variety of aromatic chemical compounds, including paraxyiene, purified

terephthalic acid, benzene and metaxylene.
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2 OPERATING SEGMENTS {(continued)

The revenue and EBITDA before exceptional items atributabte to each business segment was as follows:

Revenue EBITDA before exceptional

items
2022 2021 2022 2021

€m

Styroltion ... 6,634.3 5,889.7 748.6 1,180.3
INEOS Inovyn. . 5,136.2 4,225.6 1,i76.0 974.4
ACCTYIS i e 1,369.6 1,219.0 363.4 622.0
ATOMALICS. ...t e 51152 3,683.2 284.4 262 .4
ENminations.....c...ccoove i, (83.0) {85.3} - -
18,172.3 14,932.2 2,572.4 3,039.1

Atl revenues and EBITDA are in relation to the Group's ordinary activities.

Reconciliation of eamings before operating eéxceptional items, interest, taxation, impairment, depreciation and
amortisation and after the share of profitloss of associated undertakings and joint venturgs using the equity accounting
method (“EBITDA before exceptionals™) to profit before ax:

2022 2021
€m
EBITDA before exceptional items.. . e 2,5724 30391
Depreciation, amortisation and i |mpamnem charges ..... . . {(712.3) (718.4)

Exceptional items within operating profit (note 4) ...

(5.1 (181.7
Impairment of investments {note 12)...

e - (1.0)
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equlpmem ................. [P 5.6 43
Loss on disposal of equity accounted investment (note 12} . . (16.6) -
Profit on disposal of businesses (note 3} ... e 710.3 -
Net finance costs (MO B .. i e et e (201.7) (240.2)
Profit before tax 2,342.6 1.902.1

Geographical analysis — revenues
Geographical information by location of customers 2022 2021

€m
JETT o« LT TP OSSPSR PPN 8.222.6 6,694.6

North Americas . . 4,368.8 2,963.8
Rest of Worid ... e s e e e e e e e 5,580.% 5,273.8
Total.,.... 18,1723 14,932.2
Geographical information by location of trading legal entity 2022 2021

: €m

BT oD oo i e e ey e e e 8,757.3 7,434.1

North Americas ... 45708 3,155.1
Rest of World . e 4.844.2 4,343.0

Total 18,1723 14.932.2

In presenting information on the basis of geographic analysis of segments, segment revenue i1s based on the
geographicaf location of customers and registered address of the Group's trading [egal entities.
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3 ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF BUSINESSES

Disposals in current year

Disposal of INEOS Styrolution India Limited

On 22 April 2022, the Group sold 13.8% of its shareholding in INEOS Styrolution India Limited for consideration of
$25.1 million {€22.5 million equivalent). The Group’s shareholding reduced from 75.0% to 61.2% as a result, with
control being retained.

On | August 2022, the Group entered into an agreement to divest its remaining sharehelding of 61.19% in INEQS
Styrolution India Limited with Shiva Performance Materials Private Limited. The transaction was completed on 17
November 2022.

The net assets disposed at the date of disposal were as follows:

Recognised
values on
disposal
€m

Subsidiary’s net assets recognised at the disposal date:
Property, plant and equipment. ... PP UEUST PP 399
INEANEIDIE AS5EIS .- ooee it e e 722
Investments 0.2
LUt LY o1 O SO U USSP O PRSP R U PRRRURRRN 4].1
Current debtors and Other 58€I8 ... et 44 4
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables................ccooooiiii e

Lease lability o e R
Employees benefits .

Provisions
Deferved tax liabilities.......................... e e ettt et e
Tax liabilities for current tax
Minority interests ........ocooen.
Net assets of disposal group

Proceeds:

Cash CONSIAETAON ... e e e 80.7
Accrued transaction costs..... ... e e e a e rae e (0.5)
Net proceeds.......... . eeebbteaueeaneeeanieeetts e esaRe ARk e s SRARe R e g Ao e RS AR s ea g s Ee s 80.2
Reclassification of foreign currency transiation reserve to the income statement.......... ROTO 9.8
L.oss on disposal ... e reraa—eooesesannsaeaemr et AEISOAeESteEiesehE AR St eara b re et e s e raner Y 47.1)

The loss on disposal of €47.1 million, being the difference between net proceeds of €80.2 million (afier deduction of
transaction costs), the reclassification of foreign currency translation gains from reserve to the income statement of
€9.8 million and net assets disposed of has been recognised in the siatement of comprehensive income.

The transaction resulted in a net cash inflow of €65.9 million, being the difference between the sale price of €80.7
million less the cash balances held by the disposed business of €14.5 milhion. ‘[ ransaction costs of €4.5 million remain
unsettled as at 31 December 2022,
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3 ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF BUSINESSES (continued)

Disposals in current year

Equity transfer agreement of INEOS Styrolution Advanced Materjals (Ningbo) Fte Limited

On 28 July 2022, the Group s subsidiary, INEOS Styrolution APAC Pte. Limited, entered into an agreement to transfer
50% of its shareholding in INEQS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Limited to China Petroleum &
Chemical Corporation (“Sinopec™). As a result, the Group lost control but retained joint control. Based on the terms
of the joint-arrangement reviewed in accordance with IFRS 11, the Group has assessed that its 50% interest represents
an interest in a joint venture and shall be accounted for using the equity method. The transaction was completed on
28 December 2022,

The net asscts disposed at the date of the loss of control were as follows:

Recognised
values on
disposal
€m
Disposal of 100% of subsidiary’s net assets recognised at the loss of control date:
Property, plant and equipment 5609
Intangible AsSeUS . e 0.6
Deferred tax assets .... 2.0
Tnventories................ 0.4
Current debtors and other assets.. 583
Cash and cash equivalents.... 40.7
Trade and other payables (34.1)
Intercompany loans.................. . (64.7)
External loans and borrowings. (408.9)
Debt is5u€ COStS ..o 0.4
Net assets of disposal group.. 155.6
Recognition of 50% of the joint-venture equity share:
Fair value of share of joint-venture ... 443.1
Proceeds:
Cash consideration® ... TSSO TURIPUPPPN e 2264
Deferred censideration 246.2

Accrued fransaccon costs

Net proceeds........coceceeeen 469.9
Gain on disposa) - 757.4

*Withholding tax of €13.5 million was paid in respect of this transaction.

The profit on disposal of €757.4 million, being the difference between the net proceeds of €469.9 million (after
deduction of transaction costs); the 50% of the joint-venture equity share recognised at fair value of €443.1 million
and net assets disposed of has been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The deferred consideration 1s related to future instalments to be received from Sinepec on the achievement of certain
milestones, which are expected to be fulfilled by December 2023 art the latest. The deferred consideration has been
discounted to recognise the time value of money.

The cost of acquiring the 50% of the joint-venture equity share has been measured at fair value by applying discounted
cash flow method based on a long-term business plan with a detailed planning period of seven years.

The transaction resulted in a net cash inflow of €172.2 million, being the difference between the sale price settled on
completion of €226 4 million less €13.5 million of withholding tax paid and the cash balances held by the disposed
business of €40.7 milhon. Transaction costs of €2.7 million remain unsettled as at 31 December 2022
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3 ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF BUSINESSES (continued)
Acquisitions in the prior year — BP Petruchemicals

On 31 December 2020, pursuant to an acquisition agreement dated 29 June 2020 between INEOS Holdings AG and
BP, certain subsidiaries of the Group agreed to purchase the Aromatics and Acetyls businesses from certain
subsidiaries of BP (the “BP Acquisition™ or the “BP Petrochemicals Business™), including shares in seven jaintly-
controlled joint ventures and the assets owned and used in relation to the Aromatics and Acetyls businesses.

The total pucliase price [u1 the BP Petruchemicals business of $4,990.0 million (€4,178.3 million equivalent) was
subject to a completion accounts settlement process. Cash of €88.3 milhon was acquired with the Aromatics and
Acetyls businesses on 31 December 2020. During 2021, the completion accounts settlement process was finalised.
lcading to a €85.8 million cash inflow from BP,

During the year ended 31 December 2021 the Group reviewed these provisional fair values and the fair value of
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, purchase consideration and goodwill was updated in 202} as shown in the
table below. Following the clarification of certain terms of the sale and purchase agreement with BP, additional
liabilities were recognised in relation to employees’ compensation costs triggered at the acquisition date for €23.8
million and transfer to BP of a tax refund received by PT [NEOS Aromatics Indonesia for €6.4 million. The balance
sheet as at 31 December 2020 has not been restated to reflect the above as the impact is not material.

2020 2021
Final valucs
Accnunting Provisienal recognised
Book value an policy Fair value fair value on Revatuation on
acquisition alignment ad acquisiti updates acyuisitiom
€m

Acquiree’s net ussets at acquisition date:
Property, plant and equipment ...l 1.7262 294 419) 17137 - 1,713.7
[ntangible asses.. ......ccvvrveiiniiiniie, 34 - 558.7 562.1 - 5621
Tnvestments in equity accounted investees ... 7891 - 390.3 11794 - 1,i79.4
Other non-current finangial assets.... ... 20 - - 20 - 20
Other IMVESIMENES ...ovieie e« v i 12.6 - - 12.6 - 126
Other non-current receivables. .......... ... ... . ... ... [ ¥] - - 1.6 - 16
Deferred tax assets... 8.3 - 18.2 265 B 26.5
Inventories 31222 (29.4) (4.6) 288.2 - 28R 2
Tradc and otherreceivables 0 . 4554 - (336) 421.8 . 421 8
Cash and cash equivalents ..o oo 883 - - 883 - 88.3
Current and non-current interest-bearing loans and
BOMOWINES. . v e e (17.2) - - (17.2) - (17.2)
Current and non-current lease liabilings ... (85.4) - - (85.4) - {854)
Currcat and non-current trade and other payables .. {404.2) - {4.0) (408.2) (30.2) {4384)
Employee benefits ... 2.4y - (2.1} (2.5) B 2.5
Current and non-current provisions .. (2.9} - {1.5) (4.4) - (4.4)
Deferred tax liabilities .................. (R2.4) - 172 (65.2) - (65 2)
Net identifiable assets and labilities acquired.... 28146 - 898.7 3,713.3 (30.2) 3,683.1
NON-CONrONIME INETESK..... .ot i e e e 45.1) - (45.1)
Net assets ... 3,668.2 {30.2) 3,638.0
Consideration paid:
Cash consideration. ..., cececrvinnecin e e e 41783 - 4.178.3
Compleiton accounts scittement adjustment........ ... {66.0) (19.8) (85.8)
Effect of movements in foreign cXchange . .o e e - 09 0.9

444.1 1.3 455.4

Difference between consideration and met assels ACQUIFEd .. .....cciviiriires e rsssiinris e ssssasirnen

The difference between consideration and net assets acquired has been recognised within intangible assets in note 11.
Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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4 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
2022 2021
€m
Exceptional items included in cost of sales:
Plant closure costs!'! ... SO RSV - 19.0
Environmental costs'® ... e - 121.6
- 140.6

Exceptional items included in administrative expenses:
Acquisition costs® ... - 4.1
Reorganisation costs™).. 13 37.8
Oeher®. 38 0.8)

5.1 41.1
Exceptional items excluding finance costs 5.1 181.7
Exceptionél finance costs:
Charge on early settlement of debt'® ... ... e 43 68.9
Total exceptional expenses 9.4 250.6

Exceptional cost of sales and administrative expenses:

n

@

3)

In March 2021, the Group announced the closure of the sulphur chemicals plant at Runcomn, United Kingdom and
its withdrawal from the UK sulphur chemicals market. As a consequence, exceptional provisions of €11.9 million
were recognised to cover the cost of exiting certain commercial agreements and the safe decommissioning of the
plant. A further exceptional charge of €2.1 million was incurved in respect of redundant stock write-downs.

Remediation activities are continuing at Wilhelmshaven, Germany following the closure of INOVYN’s mercury
cell room in 2013, In 2021, a further provision of €5.0 million was made in 2021 to cover the extended operation
of the waste water treatment plant until the demolition of the cell room is completed.

In 2016, INOVYN’s mercury cellroom at Runcom, United Kingdom ceased production. Following a full review
and assessment of scope and the availability of reiiable cost estimates an exceptional provision of €25.8 million
was recognised in 2021 to cover the demolition of the cellroom, including the safe disposal of hazardous waste
and elemenial mercury.

A €22.6 million provision was made by the Group’s site in Runcorn, United Kingdom in relation to the demolition
of the redundant Weston Point Power Station after management approved plans in 2021 for the removal of
asbestos from the structure. Moreover, a dismantling provision of €9.1 million was recognised at Runcom in
relation 1o the aforementioned closure of the sulphur chemicals plant.

The Group also approved plans in 2021 for the dismantling of the mercury cell room at Wilhelmshaven, Germany
and related infrastructure in 2021, after atmospheric and groundwater mercury levels exceeded perrmissible limts,
with total provisions of €25.0 million being recognised

Al the Group’s site at Tavaux, France, an exceptional charge of €18 5 million (€21 .8 million of new provisions
less €3.3 million of grants receivable) was incurred in order to comply with the obligations of the EU Water
Directive, specifically in relation to an industrial scale waste water treatment plant and the sealing of
sedimentation basins.

In addition to the above, further exceptional charges of €20.6 mitlion (€23.4 million of new provisions less €2.8
million of grants receivable) were created in 2021 at the Group's sites at Lillo, Belgium; Zandvlier, Belgium;
Tavazzano, Italy; Ferrara, [taly; Tavaux, France; and Runcorn, United Kingdom for various remediation reiated
projects mostly associated with mercury contamination.

In 2020, certain subsidianes of the Group acquired the Aromatics and Acetyls businesses from certain subsidiaries
of BP. Acquisition-related professional fees relating to l¢gal, accounting, human resources, industry specialists,
environmental specialists and other consultancy costs were incurred in 2021
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EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (continued)

(4) In 2022, the Aromatics businesses tncurred €1.3 million of exceptional charges in respect of manpower

reorganisations,

In 2021, the Aromatics and Acetyls businesses incurred €37.8 million of exceptional charges in respect of
manpower reorganisations and various IT-related costs following the cessation of the IT transitional service
agreement with BP.

i 2022, the Aromatics businesses mncurred €3.8 million of exceptional charges related to cancellation of projects
started under BP ownership and no longer expected to be pursued. The exceptional credit in 2021 of €0.8 million
relates to the release of provisions made in prior years for legal claims and commercial disputes.

Exceptional finance costs:

(6) In 2022, exceptional finance costs of €4.3 million were incurred in relation to the write off of unamortised debt

issue costs associated with the Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 and the Term Loan A Facilities due 2025 which
were repatd in full on 31 May 2022

In 2021, exceptional finance costs of €52.7 million relate to the write off of unamortised debt issue costs
associated with the Five-Year Euro Term Loan A Facility, the Bridge Facilities and the INOVYN Senior Secured
Term Loan B Facility that were repaid on 29 fanuary 2021. fn addition, there was a finance charge of €16.2
million from a related party in respect of funding provided for the BP acquisition,

There is no material effect on the tax charge due to exceptional items.

5 OPERATING PROFIT
Included in operating profit are the following:
2022 2021
€m
Research and development costs expensed as incurred.............. 327 42.6
Amortisation of Intangible aSSEts ... 129.4 1229
Expenses relating to short-term leases 6.0 54
Expenses relating to leases of low value assets ... R T OO VOO P RSPV 0.6 2.1
Expenses relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the
1288 TABIIILY oottt e bb e 9.3 19.7
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment - within cost of
sales, distribution costs and administrative expenses
Owned assets - depreciation ... 445.2 450.5
Right-of-use assets - depreciation 87.7 88.7
582.9 5392
Owned aSSets - IMPATTIENT ..o e - 563
582.9 595.5
2022 2021
€m
Auditor’s remuneration )
Audit of these financial statements ... 1.0 0.7
Amounts receivable by auditors and their associates in respect of:
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation_............... RS 4.1 4.1
INOR-BUEIE SETVICES ...ttt et rme e e e eie s s eame e een e 0.2 09

5.3 5.7

The audit fee above includes the audil fee of €13,600 (2021: €10,300) for the parent Company.
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6 STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

The monthly average number of persons including directors employed by the Group (including any divestitures up to
the date of disposal and any acquisitions from the date of acquisition) during the year, analysed by category, was as
follows:

2022 2021
Number
Research and develOpment. ... i 238 289
AQMIMISITAUION .. .o et et et e e 1,673 1,795
OPEIAIIONS . ..eoer et eeere et ettt e eae e e aeae et st saes e a e e e a e e 6,711 7,120
8,622 9,204
The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows: ’
2022 20
€m
Wages and salaries ... BRSPS 8423 821.6
Social security costs - 118.6 111.7
Contributions to defined contribution plans ... SO 449 391
Items related to defined benefit plans:
CUTTENT SEIVICE COSC .. oei i it et iie it o ate e e e e et me s o amomaome e s 21.7 24.9
Past service Credit ... e - 0.2)
1,027.5 997.1
7 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
2022 2021
€m
Salaries and other short-term benefiis ... 1.6 1.6
Company contributions to money purchase schemes. - -
Other long-term benefits.............. -
1.6 [.6
Highest paid directar 2022 2921
€m
Aparegale eMOIUMENTS oo oo e e 1.6 1.6

One director has benefits accrued under defined benefit schemes (2021: one). No directors have benefits aceruing
under defined contribution schemes (2021: nil).
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8 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS
2022 2021
€m

Finance income

Interest receivable from banks and short-term deposits ... T 7.2 1.9
Interest receivable from associated undertakings ... 21 2.0
Other INLEreST IMEOIMIE ......o.ovivos oottt et eaas it raeees ooe e s eeee e 5.3 33
Total interest income on financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss .. 14.6 7.2
Net exchange movements.......................... OO PO 62.1 944
Unwind of discount on provisions 12.9 0.2
Total finance income .............. . - cereersasreraerees 9.6 101.8
Finance costs

Interest payable on Term Loans ... IR U VU PRI UOTRURPONE [56.0 119.5
Interest payable on Bridge Facilities ... .....ooiiiviieeiiieicceeee e - 83
{nterest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 7.7 -
Interest payable on Senior Secured Notes and Senior Notes ...t 68.2 62.4
Interest payable on securitisation facility ... SSUUTUUPORIR 3.9 35
Interest payable on revelving credit facility - 1.5
Interest payable to related parties 1.8 1.7
Amortisation of debt issue costs............... OO US ORI 7.6 159
Interest payable on right-of-use assets... 12.1 tL.ée
Net fair value joss on derivatives ............. 20.8 40.8
Interest expense on pension schemes ... 1.8 2.1
Borrowing costs capitalised in property, plant and equipment........ ... {7 N -
OUher IBLEreSt EXPENSE ... . .ottt remen e 4.8 58
Total finance costs before exceptional items .. 287.0 273.1
Exceptional finance costs (nOtE 4) .. .o e 4.3 689
TOtal fINANCE COSES evvvrverrenneenmememsesseranseessrmse seemsersmesscmenssanssssasasess 291.3 342.0
INEE TIMAIICE COSES wrrvrmemiernreiesesmsssessrsnsesnsnssoecsssssaranessesbsrssssssmsssnsesssnnssasanassssamensennen 201.7 240.2

The exchange movements reflect foreign exchange gains or losses associated with short term intra group funding.

Net gains and losses on financial instruments are included in note 25.

55



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

9 TAX CHARGE
Taxation recognised in the consolidated income statement
2022 2021
€m
Current tax expense
CUTTENL LAX EXPETLSE .o oeeit ietee s cettreeeaasiiata s sraesoameseeeanesseae st reasned o se e iabe e b s bees 29319 3481
Adjustments in respect of prior years 27.1 14.2
CUITENE LAX EXPEMSE L. eoeiien oo e eseeaecenee e seessees e eesam e nan e e oot e ee oo ey 321.0 362.3
Deferred tax charge/(credit)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences............. FRTUTS USSR 64.4 0.7
Change in 1ax rates applied to temporary differences . (0.6} (27.9)
Adjustments yn respect of prior years ... ... e (7.1 (77
Deferred tax charge/{credit) (see note 14) ... 56.7 (36.3)
Total tax charge 317 326.0
Reconciliation of effective tax rate ) 2022 2021
€m
Profit hefOre LAXAUOIL oo it e 2,3426 1,902.1
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% (2021: 19.0%) ... ... 4451 361.4
Effect of tax rates mn foreign jurisdictions -~ 63.6 329
Non-deduetible EXPENSES.....o.coiiiii it e e {133.7) 374
Change in tax rate............cooeverienne o [T . (1.0) (28.2)
Adjustments in respect of prior years .. - 200 6.5
Non-taxable jOIN1 VENTUIE INCOMIE ..ot e e (44.1) (87.9)
Deferred tax not reCORISEd.........oooiiiiiiii i e e e 26.6 -
OTNET et e (0.8) 39
TOLAl £AX CHATER ettt b sn st s s b et et p e rreeserreneeens 377.7 326.0

The Finance Bill 2021 which increased the rate of corporation tax to 25% on profits over £250,000 from Aprit 2023
was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. As a result, deferred taxes in the United Kingdom at 31 December 2022
are measured at 25%. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Taxation recognised in other comprehensive (expense)/income

2022 2021
Gross Tax Net Gross Tax Net
€m

Remeasurement of post-employment
benefit obligations net of taxes.. ... .. ... (35.6) 6.8 (28.8) 548 (9.6} 452
Fair value loss on investments in equity
instrumengs designated as FVTOCT. ... (0.4) - {0.4) - - -
Reclassification of foreign exchange
translation difference on disposal of
SUDSIAIAMES ..oovtvee e ee e 9.8 - 9.8 - - _
Foreign exchange translation differences
of subsidianes ... (31.0) - (51.0) 2029 - 202.9

(77.2) 6.8 (70.4) 257.7 (9.6)  248.1
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and
equipment,
fixtures and

fittings, and Assets under Right-of-
Land Buildings vehicles construction use assets Total
tm
Cost
At January 2027 267.4 403.4 4,0627.8 792.9 3943 5,885.8
Additons .........cooiii e, - 5.1 93.3 647.5 48.9 794 8
L ease modifications and reassessments.......... - - - - 239 239
Reclassification ...t 2.7 47.2 3752 (440.1} - {15.0)
Aborted capital expenditure ... T - - - (1.2) - (1.2)
Early termination of right-of-use assets.......... - - - - (0.9 0.9
DHSPOSALS ..o 5.0y 2.4) (357.5) (16.5) (381.4)
Effects of movements in foreign exchange ... 17.4 10.6 186.5 61.7 155 291.7
At 31 December 2021 ....ccviiriiinnnineesiniinain 282.5 463.9 4,325.3 1,060.8 465.2 6,597.7
AdditionS ... c.oeee i e - 305 616.4 226.8 40.5 9142
Lease modifications and reassessments.......... - - - - 401 40.1
Reclassification ...............ccoocvviiei e 26.0 53.4 271.4 (343.8) 3.5 10.5
Aborted capital expendituse ... - - - (16.9) - (16.9)
Diisposals ..o (19) (0.3) (82.2) - 21N (112.1)
Business disposal..........coooovie i, {38.4) (11.6) {(37.0} (530.3) (7.1) {624.4)
Effects of movements in foreign cxchange 10.8 (6.5) (33.9) 20.0 62 {3.4)
At 31 December 2022 ... 279.0 529.4 _5,060.0 416.6 520.7 6,805.7
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment
At | January 2021................ TUTE TR 1.8 108.5 1,150.5 03 91.5 1,352.6
Depreciation charge for the year 1.7 22.6 426.2 88.7 539.2
Impairment charge for the year..................... 1.5 - 54.8 - - 56.3
Reclassification .................ccooveeeiveiieniee e G.i 0.3 (9.4) (0.3) - (9.3)
DHSPOSAIS ceoeeeee s oee oo eeeeeeee e - (.n (356.7) - (16.5) (374.9)
Effects of movements in foreign exchange ... 0.2 29 53.8 - 47 61.6
At 31 December 2021 ... 53 132.6 1,319.2 - 168.4 1,625.5
Depreciation charge for the year ..................... 2.0 24.1 469.1 - 87.7 5829
Reclassification ..... - 6.1 29 - 0.9 8.1
Disposals .....c......... (.5 (0.2) (89.0y - (27.3) (118.0)
Business disposal......... [P UUUIURRR (0.5) 3.9) (16.3) - 2.9 {23.6)
Effects of movements in foreign exchange ... - 0.5 4.9 - 2.6 8.0
At 31 December 2022 ......ocrvieenicceririreeene 5.3 159.2 1,690.8 - 2276 2,082.9
Net book value
At 3] December2021.. ...t 277.2 3313 3,006.1 1,060.8 2968 4,972.2
At 31 December 2022 ......cciiivinnnnnenneresens 273.7 370.2 3,369.2 416.6 293.1 4,722.8
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Property, plant and equipment under constructian

[n the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group acquired €226.8 miliion of property, plant and equipment under
construction.

In the Styrolution business, the most significant expenditures in 2022 related to a new 600 kiloton ABS facility at
Ningbo, China and a newly built ESPN plant in the US. In addition, there were planned turnarounds at the SM plant
in Sarnia, Canada.

In the INEOS Inovyn business, the most significant expenditures consisted of a SPVC capacity expansion project at
Jemeppe, a new mechanical vapor recompression salt plant at Tavaux, a brine borehole drilling program at Northwich
and general SHE/sustenance expenditures. There were also planned wmaround events of the chlor-alkali and VCM
assets at Grenland in Norway and the cracker at Feyzin, France.

In the Acetyls business, the most significant capital expenditure project related to the turnaround of the A5 acetic acid
plant at Hull, UK.

In the Aromatics business, the most significant expenditures were mainly on sustenance and safety compliance work
to keep the assets running safely and in line with regulatory requirements. In addition, capital expenditures were
incurred on an expansion project in Europe.

Investments in property, plant and equipment in the year ended 31 December 2021 mainly related to the new ASA
Specialties plant at Bayport, US, a new 600 kilo ton ABS facility at Ningbo, China and a 78 kilo ton SPVC capacity
expansion project at Jemeppe, Belgium

Business disposal

The disposal of INEOS Styrolution India Limited in November 2022 resulted in the disposal of property, plant and
equipment of €39.9 million (see note 3}. The transfer of 50% of the shareholding in INEQS Styrolution Advanced
Matenals (Ningbo) Pic Limited to Sinopec in December 2022 resulted in the disposal of property, plant and equipment
of €560.9 milion, the majority of which were assets under construction in relaton to a new 600 kiloton ABS facibiy
at Ningbo, China (see note 3).

Aborted capital expenditure

The proposed technology upgrade and modernization of one of the units of the Aromatics plant in Zhuhai, China was
aborted due to poor economics of the project.

Impairment charge in prior vear

Impairment charges in the pror year were mainly related to the closure of the the sulphur chemicals plant in Runcorn,
United Kingdom, abortion of a project to investigate the economic viability of a cellroom conversion utilising
membrane technology at Martorell, Spain and the wnte-down of basic engineering works and equipment associated
with an own-build new steam generator unit in Bayport, US.

58



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSGLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Right-of-use assets
Plant and equipment,

fixturcs and fittings,

Land Buildings and vehicles Total
€m

At ] January 2021 e 10.2 87.1 297.0 3943
AQdItIONS ..o R - 1.6 473 48.9
Lease modifications and remeasurements ... - 29 21.0 239
Early termination of night-of-use assets ... - - (0.9} (0.9)
Disposals .....covoeveienveee e - (1.3 (15.2) (16.5)
Effects of movement in foteign exchange ............ 03 1.9 133 15.5
At 31 December 2021 ....... . 10.5 92.2 362.5 465.2
AItIONS ...vorvveccieriie e eee e e sen e - 35 37.0 40.5
Lease modifications and remeasurements . 5.1 0.7 343 40.1
Reclassification .. - - 35 5
Disposals ............ - (3.3 (24.4) 7.7
Business disposal......... e - (1.0) 6.1 7N
Effects of movement in foreign exchange {0.3) 0.4 6.1 6.2
At 31 December 2022 ... . 15.3 92.5 412.9 520.7
At | January 2021 ... . et e 0.8 13.4 77.3 91.5
Depreciation charge forthe year ... 0.5 7.7 80.5 88.7
Disposals ..o - 1.3 {(15.2) (16.5)
Effects of movement in foreign exchange ............ - 0.6 4.1 4.7
At 31 December 2021 . 1.3 204 146.7 168.4
Depreciation charge for the year .. 0.7 8.0 79.0 877
Reclassificalion ......ceovoveeenn, - - 0.9 {0.9)
Disposals ..o e - (3.0) (24.3) (27.3)
Business disposal - (0.6) 2.3) (2.9)
Effects of movement in foreign exchange........... - 0.3 2.3 2.6
At 31 December 2022 .., 2.0 25.1 200.5 227.6
Net book value

AL31 December 202 1.....oooooooos oo 9.2 71.8 2158 296.8
At 31 December 2022 13.3 67.4 212.4 293.1

The Group mainly leases tanks, raiicars, vessels, storage and transportation infrastructure, machinery, production
buitdings, administrative offices, motor vehicles and land, which are classified as right-of-use assets. Rental contracts
are usually made for periods between 1 to 20 years, but may also include extension options. Extension options are
included only if the lease term is reasonably certain to be extended and the decision of extending is mainly up to the
Group (as a tessee).

See note 18 for lease obligations related to right-of-use assets.
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11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intellectual  Environ-
Customer property mental Licence
Goodwill _relationships rights _certificates fees Other Total
€m

Cost
At ! tanuary 2021, ... ... 11247 1.0264 482.5 36.7 27.8 10.0 2,708t
Acquisitions......... 11.3 - - - - - 11.3
Reclassifications .. .. - - (G.6) - 38 - 12
Additions ............. - - 1.5 0.3 0.6 1.1 33
Disposals - - {22.1) (25.2) - - 47.3)
Effect of movements in foreign

exchange ... 577 44.1 24.0 .6 0.5 - 126.9
At 31 December 2021 1,193.7 1,070.5 4853 12.4 32.7 11.1  2,805.7
Business disposal...................... {38.0) (40.1) (19.4) 0.7 - - (98.2)
Additions - - 2.5 71.7 03 1.2 75.7
Disposals - - - (26.8) {0.2) - (27.0)
Lffect of movements in foreign

eXChange ......corvvovi s v 49.0 20.1 133 04 0.3 - 83.1
At 31 Decemher 2022.............. 1,204.7 1,050.5 481.7 57.0 331 12.3 28393
Accumulated amortisation
and impairment
At | January 2021, - 278.2 124.0 - 21.8 4.4 428.4
Amortisation for the year. ... - 8i.0 38.2 - 25 1.2 122.9
Disposals .....cooovivviiiiee v - - (22.1) - - - (22.1)
Effect of movements in foreign

exchange.... ... - 3.0 3.2 - 0.1 - 11.3
At 31 December 2021... - 367.2 1433 - 24.4 5.6 540.5
Amoprtisation for the year.. - 338 421 0.1 21 1.3 129.4
Disposals ..ooooveeienne, . - - - - (0.2) - G.2)
Business disposal..................... - (17.5) (7.7 (0.2} - - {(25.4
Effect of movements in foreign

exchange.......................... - 5.7 2.1 - 0.1 - 79
At 31 December 2022.............. - 439.2 179.8 (0.1) 26.4 69 __ 6522
Net book value
At 31 December 2021............... 1,193.7 703.3 342.0 12.4 8.3 55 2,2652
At 3t December 2022.............. 1,204.7 611.3 301.9 57.1 6.7 54 2,187.1

Other intangible assets mainly relate to development costs, purchases for pipeline access rights and electricity grid

capacity fees.

Separable intangible assets for customer relationships represent value attributed 1o custorer relationships arising from
contractual rghts and non-contractual relationships and for inteliectual property value mainly in relation to the right
to use patents. Those were recognised as part of acquisitions in Styrolution as well as part of the acquisition of the
Aromatics and Acetyls businesses. The remaining customer Tife or the acquired custamer relationships range berween
2 and 16 years and for the acquired intellectual property rights the remaining useful lives range between 6 and 15

years.
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11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Environmental certificates are in respect of costs associated with the purchase of EU and UK Emissions Trading
Scheme allowances and the nitrogen oxides emission scheme in the US. The emissions allowances are subjcct to
impairment under the indefinite lived intangible asset impairment model.

Business disposal

The disposal of INEOS Styrotution India Limited in November 2022 resulted in the disposal of intangible assets of
€72.2 antlion, of which €38.0 million related to goodwill (see note 3). The transfer of 50% of the shareholding in
INEQOS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Limited to Sinopec in December 2022 resulted in the disposal
of intangibles assets of €0.6 milion {see note 3).

Amortisation

The amortisation charge is recognised in administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.
Goodwill impairment testing

Guodwill has been allocated to cash generating units (“CGUs™) or groups of cash generating units as follows:

2022 2021
€m

Polymers EMEA . .o ettt a 2522 2522
Palymers Asia........ : : 61.6 98.6
Polymers Americas... 196.0 184.5
SIYEENE MODOMET ..ottt e 185.9 178.1
Styrolution Total.. it . 695.7 7134
Aromatics 134.4 120.2
ACEIYLS i e e e e e s e 374.6 360.1

1,204.7 1,193.7

The Polymers EMEA, Polymers Asia, Polymers Americas and Styrene Monomer CGU’s relate to the Styrolution
business.

No impaitrment charge has been recorded in these financial statements as a result of the annual impairment test,

For the Styrolution business' CGUSs, the Group determined the recoverable amount based on value in use, The
recoverable amount is calculated on a long-term business plan for the CGUs with a detailed planning period of three
years and a consistent terminal growth rate of 0.5% for each unit for the period thereafter. The key assumption on
which management based its cash flow projection is EBITDA before exceptionals over the detailed three year planning
period, which is seen as the most important performance indicator and the basis for cash flow estimates used to
determine the value in use. The terminal growth rate of 0.5% reflects the expected economic growth rates of countries
in which the Group is operating. The main assumptions for the preparation of the three-year-business plan are the
economic growth developments in the main customer regions and industries of the Styrolution business. These
assumptions are based on external market data as well as internal assessments. The expected demand that 1s derived
from the growth assumptions is compared with the supply balance of its product groups.
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I INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

For the acquired Aromatics and Acetyls businesses, the acquisition was negotiated in tota! and the consideration was
reviewed in the context of the whole transaction. The Aromatics and Acetyls businesses reports separalely to the
Group, and decisions around resource allocation and monitoring of performance consider the Acetyls and Aromatics
businesses separately. Each business has its own independent management structure. The carrying amount of goodwill
resulting from the acquisition has therefore been allocated between the Acetyls and Aromatics segments.

For the Acetyls and Aromatics businesses CGU’s , the recoverable amount, being value in use, is calculated on a long-
term business plan for the CGUs with a detailed planning period of three years and a terminaf value which represents
the mid-cycle performance on which a consislent terminal growth rate of 2.0% is apphed for the perods thereafier.
The terminal growth rate of 2.0% represents the average expected growth rates in the countries in which the Group is
operating. The main assumptions for the preparation of the three-~year business plans are the production volumes and
margins, and dividend income from the joint ventures. The margin assumptions are based on external market data as
well as internal assessments. The volume assumptions are based on historical run rates of the assets and approved
increase of production projects.

None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. The following discount rates were applied
per cash generating unit to determine the cash flow projection befare taxes:

Polymers Polymers Polymers Styrene
EMEA Asia Americas Monomer Aromatics Acetyls
Forecast period ................ 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years
Growth rate. e 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 2% 2%
Post-tax d)scounl rate ...... 7.9% 7.9% 7.9% 75% 79%-97% 7.7%-10.7%

Sensitivitly analysis on the recoverable amount was performed based on a2 10% increase in the discount rate, a 10%
decrease to the growth rate and a 10% decrease in the gross margin, all of which are considered a reasonable possible
change in estimate. Neither of these changes resulted in the recoverable amount being lower than the carrying amount
except for the Hull CGU in the Acetyls business and the Geel CGU in the Aromatics business.

These two CGUs have limited headroom and as a result any change in assumption can result in the recoverable amount
being lower than the carrying amount. Management has considered the assumptions used to determine the recoverable
amount and considered that those assumptions are conservative especiaily around the price curve used for energy;
moreover the current forecasts do not take into account future developments to improve the economics of the plants.
On this basis, the absence of headroom, in the case of Hull CGU, or the limited headroom, 1 the case of Geel CGU,
15 not considered as an indicator that an impairment loss is required. The margin assumptions are one of the key
assumption in determining the recoverable amount of each CGU. These margin assumptions are developed by
management based on external markct data as well as intemnal assessments and require a significant amount of
judgement. The Group has estimated that a 10% reduction in margin could give raise to an impairment of
approximately €211.3 miilion for the Hull CGU and could reduce the headroom to nil for the Geei CGU.
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Investments in subsidiary undertakings

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has the following investments in subsidiaries:

Class of Registered
Councry of shares Ownership  Ownership affice
Company incorporation Principal activity held 1022 2021 reference
MNFOS Quattre Financing Limited® UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% n
INEOS Quattre Finance | plc” UK Financing company Ordinary 100% 100% (D
INEOS Quattro Finance 2 ple UK Financing company Ordinsry 100% 100% (M)
INEOS Styrolution Finance GmbH™ Germany Holding company Crdinary 100% 100% 2
INEOS Styrolution Holding GmbH™ Germany Helding company Ordinary - 100% 2)
INEQOS Styrofution Investment GmbH Germany Helding company Ordinary 100% 106% {2)
Manufacture of styrene
monomer and polymers, Members
INEOS Styrolution America LLC USA selling, distribution interest 100% 160% 3)
Munufacture of styrene
INEOS Styrotution Belgium NV Belgmum monomer and polymers Ordinary 100% 100% (C))]
INEOS Styrolution Belgiumn Services bvba Betgium Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% 5)
Manufacture of styrene
INEOS Stymolution Canada Lid Canada monomer Common 100% 100% (6)
Registered
INEOS Siyrolution {China) [nvestment Co. Lid China Financing company capital 100% 100% N
Equity
INEOS Styrolution do Brasil Polimeros Lida Brazii Sales office /Ordinary 100% 100% 8
INEOS Styrofution Hong Kong Company Limited. Hong Kong Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (33)
INEOS Styrolution Europe GmbH. Germany Distribution company Ordinary 100% 100% )
INEOS Styrolution France SAS. France Manufacture of polymers Ordinary 100% 100% (10)
MNEOS Styrolution France Services SAS. France Sales office Ordinary 100% 100%, (n
INEQS Styrofution Group GmbH Germany Holding company Ordinary 100% 100%, 2j
TNEOS Styrolution Iberia S.L. Spain Salcs office Ordinary 100% 100% 2
INEOS Styrolution Switzerland SA. Switzerland Bistribution company Ordinary 100% 100% (14)
INEOS Styrolution lialia S.r.L. laly Salcs office Ordinary 100% 100% (s
INEOS Styrolution Kimyasal Uriinter Ticaget .
Limited Sitkel: Turkey Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (16}
INEOS Styrolution Xiln GmbH. Germany Manufacture of pelymers Ordinary 100% 100% an
INEOQS Styrolution Korea Lid. South Korea Manufacture of polymers Common 100% 100% (18)
KR Capolymer Co. Lid. South Korea Manufacture of K.-Resin Ordinary 100% 100% Ak
INEOS Styrolution Ludwigshafen GmbH.. Germany Manufacture af polymers Ordirary 100% 100% (2)
INEOS Styrolution Mexicana, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Manufacrure of polymers Ordinary 100% 100% (20)
TNEOS Siyrolution Netherlands B.V. Netheriands Salcs office QOrdinary 100% 100%; Q2n
INEOS Styrotution ©00. Russia Sales office ) ‘c::p":{‘:{ o we% to0% @Y.
INEOS Styrotution Poland Sp. z 0.0, Poland Sales office QOrdinary 100% 100% (23y
. . Registered
INEOS Styrolution Polymers (Foshan) Co Lid China Manufacture of polymers capital 100% 100%, (24)
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12 INVESTMENTS (continued)
f2(ay  Investments in subsidiary undertakings (continued)
Class of Registered

Country of shares Ownership  Ownership office
Company incorperation Principal activity held 2022 2021 reference
INEOS Styrolution Polymers {Ningbo) Co. Lid. China Manufacture of palymers Rii::::!m 100% 100% 235)
INEOS Siyrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pre . Manufacture of ABS Registered
Ltd China {under construction) capital 30% 100% (26}
INEOS Styrolution Palymers {Shanghar} Co. Lid China Sales office R“c*:;i‘fa';’“ 100% 100% an
INEOS Styrolution Schwarzhcide GrmbH Germany Manulacture of polymers Ordinary 106% 100% {30}
INEOS Styreiution APAC Pte Lid. Singapore Safes office Ordinary 100% 100% (31}
INEOS Styrojution UK Limited. ™ UK Sales office Ordnary 100% 1 00% {1}

. . . Member
INEOS Styrolution US Holding LLC. USA Holding company interest 100% 100%: 3
INEQS Styrolution Verwaltungsgescllschaft mbH. Germany Financing company Ordinary 100% 100% {2)
INEOS Styrolution (Thailand) Co.. Lid. Thailand Manufacture of polymers Ordinary 100%% 100% (34)
. . . Charter
INEOS Styroiution Vietnam Co., Lid. Vietnam Sales office Capital 100% 100% (35)
Dcutsche Bank Mexico F/1787 Styrolution. Mexico Sccuntisation vehicle n/a n/a nfa (373
INEOS Styrolution Receivables Finance Designated freland Securitisation vehicle na wia na 1)
Acuvity Company.
NEOS Quattro Holdings UK Limitcd UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (1}
. P Production of acetic acid .
INEQS Acetyls UK Limited UK and other acetyls products Ordinary 100% 100% )
INEQS Acctyls Intcmational Limited™ UK Holding company Ordinary 160% 100% y
MNEOS US Petrochem LLC USsA Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% {3}
Production of purified
MNEOS US Chemicals Company USA terephthalic acid and Common 100% 100% {3
paraxylene

INEOS 179 Limited”” UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (1}
MNEOQS Aromatics and Acctyls Trading {Shanghai) . Registered o o
Company Limued China Sales office capital 100% 100% (29)
INEOS Acetyls Japan KK Tapan Sales oftice Orginary 100% 100% (36}
INEOS Acetyls Investments Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% {1y
TNEQOS Aromatics Asa Limited Hang Kong Sales affice Ordicacy 100% 100% {33}
INEOS Acetyls (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Malaysia Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% 68)
INEOS Acetyls (Korea) Limued”’ Uk Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% ()]
INEOQS Acetyls Americas Lirnted”” UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% B
INEOS Aromatics Holdings Limited ** UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% m
TNEOS Aramatics Limited UK Sales company Ordinary 100% 100%, ()
INEOS Weorld-Wide Techmeal Services Limited ™ UK Licensing services Ordinary 100% 106% ()
INEOS Aromatics Holding Company [ BYY Holding company Comman 100% 1 00% 3
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i2 INVESTMENTS (continued)
12(a)  Investments in subsidiary undertakings (continued)
© Class of Repistered
Countryof . : - shares Ownership QOwnership office -
Company incorporation Principal activity held 2022 2021 reference
_ "Production of purified Member
INECS Zhuhai Chemical Company Limited'? China terephthalic acid and interast 91.90% 91.90% {65)
INECS Aromatics Indonesia Holdings Ltd usa Holding company _ Common 100% 109% (64)
Production of purified
INEOS Aromatics Belgium NV Belgium terephthalic acid and Qrdinary 100% 100% (71
paraxylene
INEOS Aromatics Belgium Holdings LLC USA Holding company Common 100% 100% {3
Production of purificd
PT INEOS Aromatics Indonesiz Indonesia terephthalic acid and Ordinary 100% 100% {7
paraxylene
PT INEOS Aromatics Trading Indonesia'® Indonesia Trading company Ordinary 100% 100% (76)
INOVYN Limited® UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% 8
TNOVYYN Holdings Limitcd®™ UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% [ER))
INCVYN Finance Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% 38)
INOVYN Group Treasury Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (3%)
TNOVYN Europe Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INOVYN Norgz AS Norway Manufacture of chemicals o oy 100% 100% (39)
and PVC
' . Manufacture of chemicals .
INOVYN Sverige AB Sweden Ordinary 100% 100% (40)
and PVC
TNEOS ChlerVinyls Holdings BV Netherlands Halding company Ordinary 100% 100% “@an
TNOVYN Newton Aycliffc Limited UK Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (3%)
INEQS Newton Aycliffe Trustees Limited UK Pension trustee Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INOVYN Services Limitcd UK Scrvice company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
! i . Extraction and supply of .
INOVYN Enterprises Limited UK brine and water Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INOVYN ChlorVinyls Holdings Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INOVYN Newco 2 Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 160% 100% (38)
INOVYN ChlerVinyls Limited UK M"‘"“f“a‘:;‘;’\%h““‘“'s Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
i . Manufacture of salt and
INEOS Enterpnscs Group Limited UK sulphur chermicals Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
Keuper Gas Storage Limited UK Gas storage Ordinary 100% 180% (3%)
INEGS Chler Atlantik GmbH Germany Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% 42)
INOVYN Amencas [ne USA Purchase und resale of o o 160% 100% (43)
chemicals
INOVYN Sales Intemational Limited® UK Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (38
INEOQS Chlur Trustees Limited UK Pansion trustee Ordinary 100% 100% G8)
T TINECS Vinyls UK Lid» T T T T ok Non-trading  Ordinary | 100%  100% B8y
INEOS Vinyls GmbH & Co KG Germany Holding company Ordinary 100% 100%, 4n
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12 INVESTMENTS (continued)

12¢a)  Investments in subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Clasy of Registered
Country of shares Ownership  Ownership office
Company incorporation Principal activity held 2022 202} reference
INOVYN Schkopau GmbH Germany Non trading Ordinary 100% 100% (42)
INOVYN Sales GmbH Genmany Non trading Ordinary 100% (00% (42)
EVC Pension Trusices Limeicd UK Pcnsion trustce Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INOVYN Encrgy Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 130% 100% (38)
Kerling Newceo 1 Lirmited UK Haolding company Ordinary 100% 100% (1&
Kerling Newco 2 Limited UK Helding company Ordinary 100% 100% (318)
INDOVYN Deutschiand GmbH Germany M“"”f“g:f:\séhc"“cm Ordinary 100% 100% 42
INOVYN Espana S.L. Spain M“““f“c;:"fpf’ég‘“"“""s Ordinary §00% 100% (a4)
NOVYN Qsterreich GmbH™. Austria Sales office Qrdinary §00% 100% (45)
MNOVYN Beigium SA. Belgium Manufacture of chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% (46)
INOVYN Olefines France SAS. Francc Opcr“':;f:e"'r‘hyte“ Ordinary 100% 100% 47
INOVYN Porugal Lda Pormugal Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (48)
INOVYN Trade Services SA Betgium Mhﬁcﬂgﬁmc of  ordinary 100% 100% 46
NOVYN Manufaciuning Belgium SA Belgium Manufa:;;;c;vf(c:hcm\cals Ordinary 100% 100% (46
INOVYN France SAS France M‘"“f“;‘r‘;';u‘éf:mc’““ Ordinary  100% 100% (47
NOVYN lalia S.p A. ' laly Commercial services Ordinary 100% 100% {49)
INOVYN Produzione lalia S.p.A laly Manufacture of chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% (50
INOVYN Quimica Espana S.L. Spain Wasle reatment Ordinary 100% 100% (44)
Vinyloop Forrara S.p. A™ Taly PVC Recycling Ocdinary 100% 100% (49
Limited
TTE Training Limited UK Training company by 100% 100% (32)
Guarantee
Limited
TTE Apprenticeship Training Agency Limited. ’ UK Apprenticeship company by 100% 100% (52)
Guarantee
INEOS Norway Finance Ireland Limited freland Secunuisation vehicle nfa nfa nfa [&15]
# Shares held directly by INECS Quanro Holdings Limited. All other subsidrarnies bisted are held indirecily.
(a) In the process of being liquidated
{b) On 22 April 2022, the Group sold part of its 75% share in INEOS Styrolution {ndsa Limited. This resulted in a reduction of the ownership from

75.0% 1 61 2%, On 17 November 2022, the Group sold its remaining shareholding interest of 61.2% 10 Shiva Pertormance Materials Pre Lid.
Profit atinbutable to the non-controlling interest is €8 4 rillion (2021: profit of €10.7 million). Accurnulated non-controlling interests are €nil
(2021: €19 6 millign}. R

{c) Effective on 28 December 2022, the Group sold 50% of its 100% share «n INEQS Styroluuon Sinopec Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Lid.
10 China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation establishing a joint veniure between the Group and Sinopee, each holding 50% share 1n the
registered capital of the invesiee. See also note 12(b}.

tdy Portion of ownership interests held by non-cancralliag interests is 8.1%. Loss attributable (o the non-contralling interest is €1 4 mullion (2021 -
€31 million). Accumulated non-controlling inierests are €43.0 mslhon (2021, €46 6 mulhon).

e Company incorporated on | | August 2022

n Portion of ewnership interests held by non-controlling interests is 5.1%. Profit atributable to the non-controlling interest is €37 6 million
(2021: €22.7 million) Accumutated non-controlling interests are €231 million (2021 €5.7 mi!lien}

(g) Dissolved i lanuary 2023 following liguidation

{h) Effective from 1 January 2022, INEOS Styrolution Holding GmbH was merged into TINEOS Styrolution Investment GmbH.

b Entitics claiming exemption from audit under secuon 4794 Companies Act 2006,
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12 INVESTMENTS (continued)
12(b)  Investments in equity-accounted investees, joint operations and other investments
Details of the Group’s investments in equity-accounted investees, joint operations and other investments:
Country of Class/ Registered
registration or percentage of office
fovestment incerporation Principal activity shares held refergnce
Associated undertakings:
Thermal Power Station
INEOS Runcom {TPS) Holdings Limited UK aperator Ordinary/ 60%'" (38)
Joint ventures:
Production of acetic acid
and other acetyls
INEOS PCG Aceryls Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia products Ordinary/ 70% (67)
Production of acetic acid
and other acetyls Member interest/
Yangtze River Acetyls Co. Lvd China products 51% (69)
Production of acclic acid
and other acetyls Ordinary/
LOTTE INEOS Chemical Co. Tad Karca products 50.94% (M
Production of acelic acid
. and other acetyls .
Formesa INEOS Chemicals Corp Taiwan products Comman/510% (73)
Production of acetic acid
and othcr acetyls Member interest/
INEOS YPC Aceryls Company (Nanjing) Lud China products 50% (74}
Atlags Methanol Company Unlimited Trinidad Methanol production Ordinary/16.9% (75)
Production of purified
China American Perruchemica! Company Lid Taiwan wrephthalic acid Ordinary/61.36% (65}
INEOS Seyrolution Sinopec Advanced Materials {(Ningbo) Lid.'? Regsster capital/
{prev: INECS Styrolution Advanced Marenals (Ningbo) Pte Lid) China Manufacluring of ABS 50% (26)
Joint operations;
Runcormn MCP Limited UK Ccll room operator Ordinary/ 50% {38)
Brine solution mining
GIE Cancel-Bresse France SeTVICES Ordinary/ 50% {59)
Other investments:
Manufacture of polyester
Akra Polyester SA de CV Mexico filaments and polymers Ordinary/6 65% {28)
Production of punfied Ordinary
Tercfizltas Mcxicanos SA dec CV Mexico terephthalic acid B/8.55% {32)
IndustrET AS Norway Energy consultancy Ovdmnary/ 12,5% (53)
Plastic waste
Sociedud Esparnols de Materiales Plasticos SEMAP S A Spain management Ordinary/8% {54)
Societe Imercommunale D' Amenagement et d'Equipement Economic development
Economique Belgium of province of Namur Ordinary/0.1 7% %)
Plastic recycting
BKV GmbH Germany association Ordinary/2.0% {56)
[ndustnns Raddningstjanst i Stenungsund AB Sweden Fire and rescue service Ordinary/23 0% (57)
PVYC technology
APIPYC - u. Umnweltberatung GesmbH Austria solutions Ordinary/73.2% (58)
Sustainable production
Hallbar Kemi i Stcnungsund Sweden association Ordinary/20 0% (60}
Energy For Growth Societa’ Consortile A Responsabilita
Limitala Ttaty Energy consortum Ordinary/7.3% [(3})]
Power 0 Mcthano| Sustainablc methanol
Aantwem BV, Belgium production consortium Ordinary/14.3% (62)
Decarbonisation
Consorzio Polo Tecnologico Magona . . - _Naly R consortium . . Ordinary/6 8% —{(63)-
48] The Group cwns shares entitling il to 60% of the votng rights but only 25% of the economic benefits

2) Sec foownote (c) to nate 12(a).
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12 INVESTMENTS (continued)

12(h)  Investments in equily-accounted investees, joint operations and other investmenis

None of the above other investments are held directly by INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited.

Invesiments in associated undertakings, joint ventures and other investmenis

Equity-
Joint Associated accounted Other .
ventures undertakings investees investments Total
€m

At 1 January 2021 ... = 1,148.4 149 1,163.3 7.3 1,180.6
Share of retained earmings ..........c........ 462.5 (0.5) 462.0 - 4620
AddItioONS ... - - - 0.7 0.7
Dividends received. ... (188.7) . (188.7) . (188.7)
Impairments... ... - - - (1.0) {1.0)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 94.4 (0.1) 943 1.1 954
At 31 December 2021 .ovvmreiineennins 1,516.6 143 15309 18.1 1,549.0
Share of retained eamings.................. 2320 1.6 233.6 - 2336
Additions {see Note 3)...................... ’ 4431 - 443.1 - 443.1
Reclassification .......o.ccoooeiveeeieeeeeene. (338) - (33.8) (3.2) (37.09)
Dividends received............ocococovevven. (401 4) - {401.4) - (401 4)
Loss on disposal of equi

mves(memspsoqmryacwumed (20.0) ) (20.0} (6.6) (26.6)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 479 0.3 48.2 1.5 49.7
At 31 December 2022 ...nercieenennn. 1,784.4 16.2 1,800.6 9.8 1,810.4
Addition

In December 2022, the Group's subsidiary, INEQS Styrelution APAC Pte. Limited, entered into an agreement to
ransfer 50% of its shareholding in TNEOS Styrolution Advances Materials (Ningbo) Pte Limited to China Petroleum
& Chemical Corporation. As a result, the Group loss control but retained jeint control. The retained 50% interest in
the business was fair vatued at the date of the transaction (sec note 3).

Reclassification

In November 2022, the Group made a non-cash exchange for its current interest in Tricoya UK Limited (30% interest)
and in Tricoya Technologies Limited (3% interest) for shares in Accsys Technologics Plc. This share exchange
resulted 1n an umpairment of €26.6 million and a reclassification from joint ventures and other investments of
respectively €3 million and €3.2 million to other financial assets (see note 13).

The Group provided an ABS technology license service to the newly acquired INEOS Styrolution Sinopec Advanced

Matenals (Ningbo) Limited joint-venture. A reclassification of €30.8 miilion was made to eliminate the Group’s share
of royalty revenue recognised in the current year
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12 INVESTMENTS (continued)

12(b)  Investments in equity-accounted investees, joint operations and other investmenty

Summarised balance sheet and income statement

Set out below is the summarised financial information of the Group’s material joint ventures as at 31 December 2021

and 2022.
2022
INEQS
Styrolulion
LOTTE Formosa Yangtve INEQS VPO Sinepec
Allay Merhangl INEOS INEOQS PCG INEOS River Acetyls Tricoyu Advanced
Campany Chemiceal Co. Acctyls Sdn. Chemitals Acetyls Camgpany UK . Materfals
Unlimited Lid Hhd. Carp Ca. Lud (Nunjing} Lid _ Limited™  (Ningbe) Lid. Tutal
€m
Current assets................ 64.2 199.1 68.5 853 454 327 - 78.3 373.5
Non-current assets............ 1128 451.0 1548 196.3 120.7 108.6 - 646.1 1,79%0.3
Current habilities ............. (5.1 (90.1) (13.3) {11.5) (4.6) (10.5) - (76.5) (221.6)
Non-current liabilities ...... (50.8) (39.4) (29.3) (2.3) (0.4) (0.1) - {235.5) {357.8)
Net assets..........cccceeereeens 111 520.6 180.7 267.8 161.1 130.7 - 412.4 1,784.4
Other operating revenue... 185.4 1,190.6 159.6 1159 1394 61.2 - - 1,852.1
Operating expenses .......... (116.3) (995.8) (142.2) (1ei.5) (1 16.8) (59.4) {0.2) - (1,532.2)
nterest expenses.............. 27 1.3 am (0G0 0.9 (0.4) - - (1.9)
Income tax expenses ........ (23.2) (54.4) (5.6) (2.8) 0.6 (0.6) - - (86.0)
Total profit for the year.
43.2 141.7 10.8 11.6 24.1 0.8 (0.2) - 232.0
Dividend received........... 53.2 161.6 34.7 39.0  58.1 54.8 - - 401.4
{a) Effective on November 2022, the Group exchanged its share in in Tricoya UK Limited (30% interest) and in Tricoya Technologies Limited
(9% interest) for shares in Accsys Technoiogies Ple.. See also note 12(b) - Reclassification.
2021
LOTTE Foenosa Yongize INEQS YPC
Adlas Methanol INEQS INEOS PCG INEOS River Acrtyls Tricaya
Company Chemical Co. Acetyls Sdn. Chemicals Acetyls Company UK
Linlimited Ltd Bhd. Corp Co. Lid (Nanjing) Gid Limited Total
€m
Current assets . ... .. 75.3 240.0 97.0 103.1 947 82.1 31 695.3
Non-current assets ... 1153 448.1 157.6 2089 1LL0 109.6 256 11761
Current liabilities........ (30.9) (136.2) (32.3) (23.7) (9.8) (9.8) (1.4 (244.1)
Noen-current labihities. (44.8) (30.5) 31.1) (0.2) (0.4) (0.1) (3.6) (1107
Net assets ....coovverannce 114.9 5214 191.2 288.1 195.5 181.8 21.7 1,516.6
Dividend received ..... 36.2 69.2 73.5 2.5 4.9 24 - 188.7
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12 INVESTMENTS (continued)

12(c)  Registered office addresses of investments

The registered office addresses of the investments disclosed in this note are:

Reference Registered office address

( Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, S043 7FG, United Kingdom

{2) Mainzer Landstrasse 50, 60325 Frankfurt, Germany

(3) Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmungton DE 19801, Delaware, USA

{4) Haven 725, Scheldciaan 600, 2040 Antwerp, Belgium

(3) 2070 Zwijndrecht, Nieuwe Weg 1, 1053 Haven, Mechelen, Belgium

{6) 872 Tashmoo Avenue, Samia ON N7T BA3 Ontario, Canada

M Room 2502, 567 Langao Road, Putuo District, Shanghat, China

3) Rua Quiniana 887 3° andar, conjunivs 33 ¢ 34, Ciudade Moncoes, Sio Paulo M3569-01)

(9 Cherisey Road, Sunbury on Thames, Middlesex, TW16 7BP, United Kingdom

Q1)) Rut Albert Duplat, F-62410 Winglcs. France

() 95 rue la Boétig, F-75008 Panis, France

(12) Ronda General Mitrc 28-30, 08017 Barcclona, Spain

(14) Avenue des Utting 3, CH-1180 Rolle, Swiczeriand

(15) Via Caldera 21, 20153 Milano Cesano Mademo, ltaly

(ie) Buyiikdere Cad. Meydan sok., Spring Giz Plaza K. 13 N.11, Maslak Sariyer, Istanbui, Turkey

an Alte Strasse 201, 50769 Cologne, Germany

(i8) Sanggac-ro 143 (Sanggae-dong), Nam-gu. Ulsan, Seuth Korea

(9 14" Fioar, 92 Tongil-10 (Soonhwa-dong) Jung-gu, Scoul, 04517, Karea

{(20) Avcrida Insargentes Sur No. 859, Piso t !, Gficina 1102, Colonia Néapales, 63810, Mexica City, Mcxico

(21) Strawinskylaan 411, NL-1077 XX Amsterdam, The Netheriands

22) Bldg. 3. 18 Pyawitskaya St., 115035 Moscow, Russian Federation

23 ul. Woloska 9, 02-583 Warszawa, Poland

(24) No. 61, Jinben Industry Avenue, Xinan Sub-district, Sanshui District, Foshan, Guangdang Province, China

(23) No 2388. Minghay Norih Road, Ningbo Petrochemnical Economy & Technology Development Zone, Ningbo,
Zhejiang, China

(26) Buuding No 3 Unit 1-10, 266 Beihai Road, Ningbo Petrochemical Zone, Zhenhai District, Ningbo, China

27 Central Towers, Suite 250182503, 567 Langao Road, 200333 Shanghay, China

(28) Avenida Adolfo Ruiz Contines y Priv. Robie S/N, Col. San Pedro Lozano, Monterrey, Nuevo Leon, 64299, Mexico

9 I7F, Block B, Central Towers,567 Langao Road, Putuo District.Shanghai, P R.China, 200333

{30) Schipkauer Strasse 1, 01987 Schwarcheige, Germany

31 111 Somerset Road, #14-16 to 21 TripleOne Somerset, Singapore 238164, Singapore

(32} Av Ricardo Margain Zozaya 444, Torre Equus 1ZA Sur, Colonia Valle del Campestre, San Pedro Garza Garcia,
Nuevo Legn, 66265, Mexico

£33) 5/F, Manulife Place, 348 Kwun Tang Road. Kowloon, Hong Kong

(34) No. 4/2, |-8 Road, T. Map Ta Phut, A Muang, 2115 Rayong, Thailand

(33 16th fioer, Dacha Business Centre, 360 Kim Ma Str, Ngoc Khanh Ward, Ba Dinh Dist, Hanoi, Vietnam

(36} 1-Z5- 1 Nishi-Shinjuku. Stnjuku-ku, (35F, Shinyyuku Center Building], Tokye 1630633, fapan

(37 Torre Virreycs, Pedregal 24, Piso 20, Colonia Mohine del Rey, 11040, Mexico City, Mexico

(38) Bankes Lanc Office, Bankes Lane, Runcom, Cheshire, WA7 4JE, United Kingdam

(39) Rafncs Industriomrade, 3966 Stathellc, Norway

(40) 444-83 Stenungsund, Sweden

{41) Luna Arena, Henkerbergwep 238, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1101 €M

(42) Ludwigstrasse 12, 47495 Rheinberg, Germany

(43) 2036 Foulk Rd. Svitc 204. Wilmingon, Delaware 19801, USA

(44) Calie Marie Curie 1-3-5, 08760 Martorell, Barcelona, Span

(45) Schottengasse 1, 4. Stock, 1010 Wien, Austna

(46) Avcnue des Olympiades 20, 1140 Brussets, Belgium

(47) 3 Avenue de la République, 39500 Tavaux, France

(48) Rua do Ceniro Cultural n® 5 ~ R/C, sala B. 1700-106 Lishoa. Portugal

(49} Via Marconi 73, 44122 Ferrara (FE), ltafy

(50) Rasignano Manitume (LI), Via Piave § CAP 57016, ltaly

[£2)) Kilmore House, Park Lane, Spencer Dock, Dublin 1, Ireland

532) New Honzons House, New Bridge Road, Ellcsmere Port, Cheshire, CH65 4LT, Unitcd Kingdom

{53) Postboks 1367 — Vika, 0114 Oslo, Norway

(54) Calle Principe de Vergara 204 - Primero C — 28002, Madrid. Spain

(55) Ruc de la Religion, 1¢, 1400 Nivelles, Belgum

(56) Mainzer Landstrafie 55, 60329 Frankfurt am Main, Germany
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12 INVESTMENTS (continued)

12(c)  Registered affice addresses of investiments

Reference Registered office address

(573 Verkstadsvagen |}, 44431 Stenungsund, Sweden

(58) Paniglgasse 24/1/19°, A-1040 Wien, Austria

(59) 12 Ruc Raoul Nordling CS 7001, 92270 Bois Colombes. France

(60) Fregaiten 3, 44430 Stenungsund, Sweden

{61} Via Giovanni Da Procida, 11, 20149, Mitan, luly

{62) Scheldelaan 480, 2040 Antwerpen, Belgium

(63) Via Magona, 57023 Cccina, ltaly

(64) 2711 Centerville Road,Suite 400, Wilmington DE 19808, United States

{65) 6" Floor, No. 413 Scction 2 Ti-Ding Blvd., Neihu. Taipei, 11493 Taiwan

(66) Da Ping Harbour, Lin Gang Industrisl Zone, Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province, China

(67) 12" Floor, Menara Symphony No. 3, Jalan Prof Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46240 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul
Ehsan, Malaysia

(68) 12th Floor, Menara Symphony No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor,
Malaysia

(69) 97 Weijiang Road (in the Petrochemical Park), Changshou District, Chongging, China

() G J-15 Saugyac-iu, Cheungnyang-myeon, Uljugun, Ulsan, 44987, Korea

(71 Atmocoluan 2 24490 Geel, Belgium

(12) 20" Floor Summitmas 11 1., Jend. Sudimman Kav. 61 - 62, Jakarta, Selatan, Indonesia

3 No. 1-1Formaesa Industrial Comples, Mailiao, Yunlin Hsien, Taiwan

{74} 9% Huo Ju Road, Liu He District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, China

(75 Maracaibo Drive, Pont Lisas Industrial Estate. Paint Lisas, Trinidad and Tobagoe

(76) South Quarter Building Tower C. GJI. R.A. Kartini Kav. 8, Cilandak Baral, Jakarta, Indonesia

13 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2022 2021
€m
Non-current
Other rec@IVabIES i oo 2.2 2.1
2022 2021
€m
Current
Financial assets designated as fair value through OCI {note 25) 5.5 -
Deferred consideration (O1E 3) ... i 2390 -
244.5 -

The shares acquired by the Group in November 2022 in Accsys Technologies Plc are classified as financial assets
designated as fair value through OCI as the Group intends to participate in the development of the Company and to

retain these shares

in the long-term,

The deferred considerations are related to future instalments to be received from Sinopec on the achievement of

certain milestones,

which are expected to be fulfilled by December 2023.
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14 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the foliowing:

2022 2021 2022 2021
Assets Liabilities
€m
Property, plant and equipment.._. ... 583 58.5 (254.8) (229.3)
Investments...........ccovveennnnn ~ - {42.9) {41.2)
Intangible assets - 03 (135.8) {158.0)
Employee benefits ... .. [ 385 51.3 (6.1) {9.0)
Tax value of loss carry- forwards 69.3 83.8 - -
Other ..ot 105.3 17.0 {8L.9) (35.4)
Setoffoftax ... (121.2) (68.0) 121.2 68.0
Net tax assets/(liabilities) 150.2 202.9 400.3) _404.9)
Movement in deferred tax during the year
2022
Recognised
Recognised in equity -  Recognisedin
in income transiation equity —
1 January statement Disposal exchange actuarial 31 December
€m
Property, p!am and equipment . (170.8) (23.6) 4.8 (6.8) (196.4)
Investments............. ... ... (41.2) 0.8 B 2.5) - (42.9)
Intangiblc assets... (1577 151 8.6 (1.8) - (135.8)
Employee benefits ... . 423 (17.2) . 0.6 68 325
Tax value of loss carry- 23.8 (1.9} 2.2) (0.4) ; 69.3
forwards..................l : ) ) i
Other .o oot e ) 41.6 199 _ (16 3.1 - 232
(202.0) (56.7) 96 (1.8) 6.8 (250.1)
2023
Recognised
Recognised in equity -  Recognised in
in income Reclassifi-  trapslation equity -
1 January statement cation exchange actuarial 31 December
€m
Property, plant and equipment. {135.0) (1.1) (27.4) (7.3) - {170.8)
Investments...._._.. AT (38.0) - - (3.2} (41.2)
Intangible assets...... . . (1747 183 1.0 239 - {157.7)
Employee benefits ... ... . 66.7 (12.8) 2.0) - (9.6) 423
Tax value of loss carry-
forwards. ................ RPN 72.1 234 (7.1 (4.6} 83.8
(3.5 8.5 355 1.1 - 41.6
(212.4) 363 - (16.3) (9.6) (202.0)

In assessing the Group’s ability to realise deferred tax assets, manmagement considers whether it is probable that some
portion of all of the deferred 1ax assets will not be realised. Management considers the scheduled reversat of deferred
tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax strategies in making this assessment.

In arder to fully realise the deferred tax asset, the Group will need to generate future taxable income in the countries
where the net operating losses were incurred. Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for
furure taxable iticome over the periods in which the deferred tax asseis are deductible, management believes that the

Group will realise the aforementioned benefits.

The Group did not recognise gross deductible temporary differences of €376.6 mullion (2021: €275.4 million), the

majority of which relates to tax losses.
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15 INVENTORIES

2022 2021
€m
Raw materials and consumables 6018 562.8
Work in progress 165.6 2137
Finished goods 706.2 772.4
1,473.6 1,548.9

Raw niawerials, cotsturnables and changes 1n hnished goods and work in progress recognised as cost of sales in the
year amounted to €15,515.0 million (2021 €12,183.0 million). The write-down of inventories 1o net realisable value
amounted to €9.9 million (2021: €20.8 million). The reversal of previous write-downs of inventories to net realisable
value amounted to €2.6 million (2021: €4.3 million).

16 TRABDE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2022 2021
€m

Current
Trade fecaiVaBIES ..o e e e e 1,383.1 1,788.0
Amounts owed by related parties and associated undertakings... . 660.2 936
Other receivables.... ... . 2776 407.3
Prepayments and accrued income... 40.0 89.0

2,360.9 2,377.9
Non-current
Amounts owed by related parties and associated undertakings 92.0 30.8

Other receiVablEs ...t ere et e raen e .. 503 20.2

Prepayments and accrued income. 1.4 1.5
152.7 52.5

An inter-company loan of €500.0 million with the immediate parent company of the Group is included within the
current amounts owed by related parties and associated undertakings. This inter-company loan is unsecured, attracts
interest at commercial rate and had a maturity of 2 December 2023. Subsequent to the year-end, this loan was fully
settled through a dividend distribution approved on 23 January 2023 (see note 32). Loans amounted to a total of €63.1
million were granted by the Group to INEOS Styrolution Sinopec Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Ltd. These loans are
unsecured, attract interest at commetrcial rate and mature in 2032,

Credit quality of financial assets and impairment losses

The ageing of trade receivables at the end of the reporting peried and the expected credit loss rate (ECLR) was:

2022 2021
Gross  Impairment ECLR Gross  Impairment ECLR
€m €m % €m €m %
Notpastdue ................. 1,171.2 0.2) 0.0% 1,699.2 (0.3 -
Past due 0 — 30 days........... 205.3 (0.3} 0.1% 8t 4 0.2 0.2%
Past due 31 — 90 days......... 2.2 - 0.0% 8.0 (0. 1.3%
Past duc more than 90 days 13.1 (8.2) 62.6% 13.6 (13.6) 100.0%
1,391.8 (8.7) 0.6% 1,802.2 (14.2) 0.8%

There were no allowances made against amounts owed by related parties and other receivables during the year (2021:
€nil).

The amounts receivable not yet due afier impairment losses as of the end of the reporting period are deemed 1o be
collectible on the basis of established credit management processes such as regular analyses of the credit worthiness

— — —— -~ —of customers and external credit checks where appropriate for new customers (see note 25(c))-At 31-December 2022 —— ——— - -

and 2021 there were no significant trade, related party or other receivable balances classified as ""not past due” that
were subsequently impaired.
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16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES {(continued}

Due to the global activities and diversified customer structure of the Group, the management considers that there is
no significant concentration of credit risk (202 1: nil}.

During 2022 and 2021 there were no significant trade balances that were subject to material renegotiation of terms.

Trade receivable balances totalling €737.5 million (2021: €552.5 million) have been pledged as security against
amounts drawn under the Sccuritisation Facility, totalling €nil (2021: €nil). In accordance with IFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments ” the trade receivable balances piedged as security do notqualify for derecognition and are included within
the trade receivable balances abave.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables (as per this note) during the year was
as follows: :

2022 2021
€m
Balance at | JaNUAry ... e e (14.2) (14.5)
DHSPOSAIS - e e 0.6 -
Impairment loss recognised. {0.1) -
Utilised ..., . 5.2 0.7
Effects of movement in foreign exchange ....................... et 0.2) 0.4)
Balance 31 December 8.7) (14.2)

The allowance account for trade receivables is used to record any imipafrment losses unfess the Group is satisfied that
no recovery of the amount owing is probable; at that point the amounts considered irrecoverable are written off against
the trade receivables directly.

The Group applies the forward-iooking ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model in line with TFRS 9 in assessing the
recoverability of trade receivables. The ECL is calculated considering past experiences and management’s estimate
of future developments. Management expects no significant change in the future market sitvation. Conseguenily, the
future credit losses in the ECL model are in the same range as the credit losses experienced in the past years, Thig is

- regarded as the future expectation of the inherent credit risk of the not impaired trade and other receivables
outstanding. The Group reviews the assumptions of the ECL model on a yearly basis.

Credil risk of trade receivables

2022 2021
€m
LW ettt ettt e a et e e e e e 1,306.4 1,692.8
Medium ... [ e 72.3 78.0
IMPITTNEAL AIOWARICE ... oot o oot oo e et (8.7) (14.2)
1,383.1 1,788.0

The credit risk grade is based on the analys:s on both the quantitative and qualitative factors as detailed below:

e High: Customers under significant financial difficulty and customers for whom there is an uncertainty of
payment based on knowledge of factors like insolvency, dispute. Any receivable more than 180 days past
due should also be classified in this category.

s  Medium: Any receivable between 90 and 180 days past due should be classified as medium risk unless
qualitative factors indicate a higher credit nsk.

s Low: Any receivable less than 90 days past due should be classified as low risk uniess qualitative factors
indicate a higher credit risk.

During the year the Group has not experienced a significant deterioration in the guality of receivable balances due to
the current economic conditions.

There were no allowances made against amounts due from other receivables during the year (Z021: €nil}.

There were no allowances made against amounts due from related parties duning the year (2021 : €nil).
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17 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings,
which are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group's exposure to interest rate and foreign

currency risk see note 25(e).

2022 200
€m

Non-current liabilities
SEMIOr Secured NO1es dUe 2020 . e e et e 1,268.7 1,241.3
Senior Notes due 2026 ................... 500.0 500.0
Term Loan B Facilities due 2026 ... 3,328 3,2386
Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 .. - 60.9
Term Loan A Facilities due 2025 .. - 1853
Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 ... 632.5 623.6
Senior Secured Notes due 2027, 600.0 600.0
Loan from related PArtY ......coooiioiriieie et a s 41.7 398
OUNET TOANS ..ot iirir e eee vttt st et s st sars e s et sbes s ea e ssseamee s e ea s bamsas e enenra 0.} g2
Gross borrowings ... 6,371.1 6,489.7
Less: unamortised finance costs (34.6) {53.3)
Net Borrowings .o.cceecemecncns 6,336.5 6,436.4
Current liahilities
Term Loan B Faciliies due 2026 ..ot e e 18.7 17.7
Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 et e e e - 121.8
Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 ... 1.9 1.8
EXIEmMal BanK J0AN .. .o .oovrrerieee oo ettt s e e - 92
Gross borrowings ... R 0.6 150.5
Less: unamortised finance costs (16.1) (16.6)
Net borrowings ........ 4.5 133.9
Gross debt and issue costs 2022

Gross loans

and Net loans and
borrowings Issue costs borrowings
€m

Senior Secured Notes due 2026.........._. .. s 1,268.7 (13.2) 1,255.5
Senior Notes dug 2026 ............... 500.0 - 500.0
Term Loan B Facilities due 2026 ... 3,346.8 (31.2) 33156
Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 634.4 3.1) 631.3
Senior Secured Notes due 2027........... 600.0 (3.0) 597.0
Securitisation facilities ....................... - {0.2) (0.2)
Loan from related party ... . 41.7 - 41.7
Other loans ..........coovvreeiee e e 0.1 - 0.1
6,391.7 (50.7) 6,341.0
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17 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
Gross debt and issue costs 2021
Gross leans
and Net loans and
borrowings Issue casts borrowings
€m
Senior Secured Notes due 2026, 1,241.3 (17.5) 1,223.8
Senior Notes due 2026 ... FET T e 500.0 - 500.0
Term Loan B Facilities due 2026 .. : L 3,2563 {39.8) 3.2165
Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 ... .. 182.7 {2.8) 179.9
Term Loan A Facilities due 2025 ... ... 185.3 9 183 .4
Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 .. 625.4 {3.9) 62i.5
Senior Secured Notes due 2027 ............. 600.0 3.7 596.3
Securitisation facilities ......... TR T - (0.3) (0.3)
Loan from related Party .........oooviiei e 398 - 39.8
External bank loan............cc..coooiiiiiii 92 - 9.2
OhEr LOANS .oviiee et em et en 0.2 - 0.2
6,640.2 (69.9) _6,570.3
Terms and debt repayment schedule as at 31
December 2022
Year of
Currency Nominal interest rate maturity
Euro Senior Secured Notes due 2026 .......occooine € 2.50% 2026
Dollar Senior Secured Notes due 2026 .. $ 3.375% 2026
Senior Notes due 2026 ... e € 3.75% . 2026
Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2026 . b USD LIBOR (floor of 0.5%) + 2.75% 2026
Euro Term Loan B Facility due 2026 .. € EURIBOR (floor of 0.0%) + 2.75% 2026
Euro Term Loan B Facility due 2027..... € EURIBOR (floor of 0.5%) + 2.00% 2027
Dollar Term Loan B Facitity due 2027 .. $ USD LIBOR (floor 0.0%) + 2.00% 2027
Senior Secured Notes due 2027, vvinneene € 2.25% 2027
ABS Plant Facility........oooi e RMB China Loan Prime Rate minus 0.65% 2032
Securitisation facilities ..................c.ccoocoevveieiien . /€L Variable 2024

Senior Secured Nofes due 2026

In January 2021 the Group raised €1,206.5 million of Senior Secured Notes maturing on 15 January 2026 and
consisting on €800.0 million of Euro Senlor Secured Notes and $500 million of Dollar Senjor Secured Notes.

The Senior Secured Notes outstanding at 31 December 2022 before issue costs were €1,268.7 million (31 Deecember
2021: €1,241.3 million). The total amounts outstanding on the Euro denominated Secured Notes were €800.0 millian
(3! December 2021: €800.0 million) and the US dollar denominated Secured Notes were $500.0 million {€468.7
million equivalent) (31 December 2021: €441.3 million).

The Senior Secured Notes are listed on the Euro MTF - Luxembourg stock exchange. The Euro Senior Secured Notes
bear interest at a rate of 2% per annum. The Dollar Senior Secured Notes bear interest at a rate of 3%4% per annum.
[nterest on the Euro Senior Secured Notes and the Dollar Senior Secured Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears.
The Senior Secured Notes have no repayment until marurity.

The Euro Senior Secured Notes and the Dollar Senior Secured Notes are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior
secured basis by certain of the Group’s subsidiaries. The Euro Senior Secured Notes and the Dollar Senior Secured
Notes and the related guarantees are secured by first priority liens (subject to certain exceptions) on the same assets
that secure the obligations under the Credit Facility Agreements, the Semor Secured Notes due 2027, and certain
hedging obligations and cash management arrangements.
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L7 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

The Euro Senior Secured Notes are subject to redemption at any time on or after 15 January 2023, at the option of the
Issuer, in whole or in part, at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages of the aggregate principal
amount), if redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on 15 January of the year indicated below:

Euro Senior
Secured
Notes
Redemption
Price

101.250%
100.625%
100.000%

In each case, the redemption premium witl be in addition to accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date
(subject to the rights of holders of record on relevant record dates to receive interest due on an interest payment date).

The Dollar Senior Secured Notes are subject to redemption at any time on or after 15 January 2023, at the option of
the Issuer, in whole or in part, at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages of the aggregate principal
amount), if redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on 15 January of the year indicated below:

Dollar
Senior
Secured
Notes
Redemption
Year Price

202 e, et e et eeeieeeeeeeeeiseemeeeeetiesiesieeestaeieessasaareestsaranriers et ane i aaeoe 101.6875%
P 1.2 SO TSSOSO TS O UU OO 100.84375%
2028 AN TNErEA LT o iiiir oottt ettt e e e e 100.000%

In each case, the redemption premium will be in addition to accrued and unpaid mierest, if any, to the redemption date
(subject to the rights of holders of record on relevant record dates to receive interest due on an interest payment date).

The Euro Senior Secured Notes and the Dollar Semor Secured Notes contain a number of operating and financial
covenants including limitations on indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets
and dividend payments.

The Senior Secured Notes due 2026 are stated net of debt issue costs of €13.2 million (31 December 2021: €17.5
millign). These costs are allocated to the profit and loss account over the term of the Senior Secured Notes due 2026.

Seniar Notes due 2026

In Japuary 2021 the Group raised €500.0 million of Senior Notes maturing on 15 July 2026. The Senior Notes
outstanding at December 31. 2022 were €300.0 million (31 December 2021: €500.0 million),

The Senior Notes are listed on the Euro MTF - Luxembourg stock exchange. The Senior Notes bear interest at a rate
of 3%4% per annum. Interest on the Senior Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears. The Senior Notes have no
repayment until maturity.

The Senior Notes are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior subordinated basis by the guarantors (other than the
parent, which guaraniees the Senior Notes on a senior basis). The Senior Notes and the related guarantees are secured
by second-ranking security interests (subject to certain exemptions) over the shares of the capital stock of the Issuer
and the loan made by INEOS Quattro Finance 2 Plc to the Issuer of the proceeds of the Senior Notes. These secunty
mterests rank behind the security interests granted over those assets in favor of the creditors of certain other
indebtedness, including under the Senior Secured Notes due 2027, the Senior Secured Notes due 2026 and the Credst
Facility Agreements.
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17 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

The Senior Notes are subject to redemption at any time on or after 15 January 2023, at the option of the Issuer, in
whaole or in part, at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages of the aggregate principal amount), if
redeemed during the twelve-month penod beginning on January 15 of the year indicated below:

Senior
Notes
Redemption
Year Price

2023 [T RIS e e 101.875%
202 e e e et e anr e as e eb e raanas s ere s ae e e eaen 100.9375%
100.000%

In each case, the redemption premium will be in addition to accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date
(subject to the rights of holders of record on relevant record dates to receive interest due on an interest payment date).

The Senior Notes contain a number of operating and financial covenants including limitations on indebtedness,
restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend payments.

Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 and 2025, Term Loan B Facilities due 2026

On 31 July 2020, the Group has entered into a Term Loan Agreement {as amended and restated) which consists of:

(i) Term loans matunng in 2023 denominated in US dellar and denominated in euro, 1n aggregate principal
amount of $140.0 million (the “Three-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility™) and €120.0 millien (the “Three-
Year Euro Term Loan A Facility™), respectively, (together, the “Term Loan A Facilities due 2023%).

(ii) Term loans maturing in 2025 denominated in US dollar in an aggregate principal amount of 5210.0 miltion
{the “Five Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility™); and
(i) Term loans maturing in 2026 denominated in US dollar (the “Dollar Term Loan B Facility”) and in euro {(the

“Euro Term Loan B Facility™), in an aggregate principal amount of $2,000.0 million and €1,500.0 million,
respectively, (together, the “Term Loan B Facilities due 2026™).

The $85.5 million and €75.0 million outstanding principal of the Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 and the $210.0
mitlion outstanding principal of the Termn Loan A Facilities due 2025 were repaid on 31 May 2022,

As at 31 December 2022, $1,970.0 million was drawn under the Dollar Term Loan B Facility {(€1,846.8 million
equivalent); and €1,500.0 millicn was drawn under the Euro Term Loan B Facility.

The Term Loans that are denominated in dollars bear interest at a rate per annum equal to USD LIBOR divided by
100% minus the USD LIBOR Reserve percentage (subject to a floor of 0.5% per annum) plus 1.75% for the Three-
year Dollar Term Loan A, 2.25% for the Five-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility, and 2.75% for the Dollar Term Loan
B Facility. Subsequent to year-end, the Group has initiated the process to transition from LIBOR to SOFR.

The Term Loans that are denominaled in euros bear interest at a rate per annum equal to EURIBOR {subject to a floor
of 0% per annum) plus 1.75% for the Three-Year Euro Term Loan A Facility, 3.5% for the Five-Year Term Loan A
Facility and 2.75% for the Euro Term Loan B Facility. ’

The obligations under the Term Loan B Facilities are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior basis by the certain
of the Group’s subsidiaries.

The Term Loan B Agrecment contains a number of limitations on indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with
affiliates, liens and sale of assets.

The Term Loan B Factlities do not contain any financial maintenance covenants.

The Dellar Term Loan B Facility are to be repaid in quarterly instalments beginning on 30 September 2021, 1n
aggregate principal amounts equal to 0.25% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Dollar Term Loan B
Facility. The Euro Term Loan B Facility and the balance of the Dollar Term Loan B Facility are payable, subject to
certain exemptions, on |5 January 2026.

The Term Loans B facilities due 2026 are stated net of debt issue costs of €31.2 million (31 December 2021: €39.8
million). These costs are allocated to the profit and loss account over the term of the Term Loans.
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17 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
Term Loan B facilities due 2027

The Group has outstanding borrowings under a credit facilities agreement dated 7 November 2014 (as amended and
restated) which consist of euro and US dotlar denominated Term loans (referred to as the “Term Loan B Facilities
agreement’).

On 31 January 2020, the Group successfully completed an amend-and-extend transaction of the existing term loans
increasing the principal amount of the Euro Term Loan B borrowings to €450.0 million (the “Euro Term Loan B due
2027} and the Dellar Term Loan B borrowings remained at $202.3 mitlion (the Dollar Term Loan B due 20277,

As at 31 December 2022, €450.0 million remained drawn under the Euro Term Loan B due 2027 and $196.7 million
(€184 4 million equivalent) remained drawn under the Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027

From 31 January 2020, the new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bears interest at a rate per annum equal to USD
LIBOR divided by 100% minus the USD LIBOR Reserve Percentage (as defined in the Term Loan B Facilities
Agreement) (subject to a floor of 0% per annum) plus:
« in the case of new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bearing interest at a rate determined by
reference to USD LIBOR, 2.00%;
« in the case of new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bearing nterest at a rate determined by
reference to Alternate Base Rate, 1.00%.

Subsequent to year-end. the Group has completed its transition from LIBOR to SOFR. See note 32 for further details.

From 31 January 2020, the new Euro Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bears interest at a rate per annum equal to
EURIBOR (subject to a floor of 0.50% per annum) plus 2.00%.

The obligations under the Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 is jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior basis by
the certain of the Group’s subsidiaries.

The Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 contains a number of operating and financial covenants including limitations
oh indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend payments.

The Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 do not contain any financial maintenance covenants.

The new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 is to be repaid tn equal instalments, in aggregate annual amounts
equal to 1% of the original principal amount of the new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027. The new Euro Term
Loan Facility due 2027 and the balance of the new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 are payable on January 31,
2027.

The Term Loans B facilities due 2027 are stated net of debt issue costs of €3.1 million (31 December 202t: €3.9
million). These costs are allocated to the profit and loss account over the term of the Term Loans.

Senior Secured Notes due 2027

On 31 January 2020, the Group issued €600.0 million aggregate principal amount 2%% Senior Secured Notes due
2027 (the “Senior Secured Notes due 2027"). The Senior Secured Notes due 2027 are listed on the Euro MTF -
Luxembourg stock exchange and bear interest at 2'4% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on 15 January and
15 July of each year, beginning 15 July 2020. Unless previously redeemed as noted below, the Senior Secured Notes
due 2027 will be repaid by the Group at their principal amount on 16 January 2027,

The Senior Secured Notes dus 2027 ourstanding at 31 December 2022 were €600.0 million (31 December 2021:
€600.0 million}.

The Senior Secured Notes due 2027 are subject to redemption at any time on or after 15 January 2023 in whole or in
part, at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages of the aggregate principal amount), if redeemed
during the twelve-month period beginning on 15 January of the year indicated below:

Senior
Secured
Notes due
2027
- " - - 0o T ot " —Redemption
Price
101.1250%
100.5625%
100.0000%
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In each case. the redemption premium will be in addition 10 accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date
(subject to the rights of holders of record on relevant record dates to receive interest due on an interest payment date).

The Senior Secured Notes due 2027 are jointly and severally guaraniced on a senior secured basis by INEQOS
Styrolution Group GmbH and certain of its subsidianes. They are secured by first pnonty liens (subject fo certain
exceplions) on the same assets that secured the obligations under the Term Loan B Facilities due 2027, the Term Loan
Agreement and certain hedging obligations and cash management arrangements.

The Senior Secured Notes due 2027 contain a number of operating and financial covenants including limitations on
indebiedness, restricted payments, fransactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend payments.

The Senior Secured Notes due 2027 are stated net of debt issue costs of €3.0 miliion (31 December 2021: €3.7
mullion). These costs are allocated to the profit and loss account over the term of the Notes.

ABS Plant Facility

On 21 January 2022, INEQS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Ltd entered into a new term loan agreement
with Bank of China and ICBC to provide RMB 3,300.0 million (€464.3 million equivalent) of financing for the
construction of a new 600 kiloton ABS plant in Ningbo, China (the “ABS Plant Facility’). The term loan facility
matures in 2032 and has a straight-line semi-annual amortisation aver the lifetime commencing after the start of
operations. The term loan bears interest al a rate equal to the China Loan Prime Rate minus a rate of 0.65% per annum.
As at 31 December 2022, the amount utilised against the facility was RMB 3,035.2 miilion (€408.2 million
equivalent). On 28 December 2022, a subsidiary of the Group completed an equity transfer agreement with China
Petroleum & Chemical Corporation relating to the sale and purchase of 30% equity interest in INEOS Styrolution
Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Ltd. As a result of this divesture, the obligation of the Group under this term loan
facility have been transferred to the newly created joint-venture and derecognised in the Group consolidated financial
statements. For further details see Note 3.

Securitization facilities

INEOS Styrolution Group GmbH and certain other Group companies are party to a €600.0 million trade recetvables
securitization program (the “Styrolution Securitization Program™) that matures on 28 June 2024, The facility is secured
by pledges over the trade receivables sold into the program. For drawn amounts, interest is charged on the facility at
a rate of either EURIBOR or US LIBOR plus 0.95% or short-term commercial paper rates plus a margin of 0.95%.
For undrawn amounts, the facility bears interest of 0.5%.

INOVYN Group Treasury Limited and certain other INOVYN business’ companies are party ta a €240.0 million trade
receivables securitization program (the “INOVYN Securitization Program”) that manires on 30 June 2024. The facility
is secured by pledges over the trade receivables sold into the program. For drawn amounts, interest is charged on the
facility at a rate of either EURTBOR, US LIBOR or SONTA plus 0.95% or short-term commercial paper rates plus a
margin of 0.95%. For undrawn amounts, the facility bears interest of 0.5%.

The Debt issue costs of €0.2 million (31 December 2021: €0.3 million) were incurred in relation to the Securitizaton
facilities. These costs are allocated to the profit and loss account over the term of the facilities.

Other facilities

The Group has several short-term credit facilities with different local banks to fund working capital requirements up
to a total aggregate amount of €224 2 million equivalent as of 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: €194.8 million
equivalent) in China, Malaysia, Singapore, South Korea, Thailand. and United Kingdom. The available amount under
the working capital facilities at 31 December 2022 amounted to €197.8 millien equivalent (31 December 2021: €151.2
million equivalent), with €26.4 million (31 December 2021: €43.6 million) of certain trade finance facilities being
utilised in China.

The Group also has lenter of credit facilities in China, Malaysia, Indonesia, Mexico, Singapore, South Korea, Thailand,
and United Kingdom. As of 31 December 2022, the drawn amount under all letter of credit facilities was €16.0 million
equivalent (31 December 2021 €23 1 million equivalent). The letters of credit are generally secured by current assets.
The facilities also provide for a limited number of other financial services, such as bank guarantees and foreign
exchange hedging lines.
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18 LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Analysed as: 2022 2021
. €m
Current lease HabilItES ... ... oot e 65.0 72.6
Non-current lease Habilities. ... 2243 226.6
289.3 299.2
Maturity annlycic — cantractuai undiscounted cash flows: 2022 2021
€m
LESS tha OME YEAT . .ovov vt oot eteamat et et mas e e e ere e nesem e e 83.6 823
Between one and five vears ... 150.6 144 8
More than five years............... 156.1 143.5
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December . . 390.3 370.6
Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows: 2022 2021
€m
Lease capital PAYIENITIS . .coooor it e eeseeeeae e eenneee e carans e 828 95.8
Lease interest payments 1.8 8.7
Short-term leases 6.0 5.4
Leases of low value assets ... 0.6 2.1
Total cash outflow fOr 1€ASES.....cvveeciici et st e 101.2 115.0

The Group has entered into a number of significant lease arrangements relating to off-site storage capacity, rail cars,
land and buildings, and air separation plants used for the generation of industrial gases.

19 TRADE ARD GTHER PAYABLES
2022 2021
€m

Current .
Trade payables................o BSOS SO OO UR PP 1,350.8 1,737.0
Amounts owed to related parties 2393 428.8
Accruals .o e 468.7 522.8
Deferred income ... . 7.1 14
Other payables...................... e et e e 1685.1 2825

2,301.0 2,978.5
Non-current
Accruals ..oooooovviie e e 312 336
DEferTed INCOME . .oociii et e b n s e e s b eae 104.5 1121
Other PAYABIES ... c.oecee ettt 6.8 1.2

142.5 146.9

The Group’s expasure 1o currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 25.

20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Group operates a number of pension and post-retirement medical plans throughout the world, devised in
accordance with local conditions and practices. The plans are generally of the defined benefit type and those that are
funded are done so by payments to separately administered funds or insurance companics. The principal funded plans
are in Belgium, Canada, France, Germany, India, South Korea, Mexico, Switzerland, USA, Norway, Austria, Spain
and the United Kingdom.

The Group also operates a number of unfunded defined benefit pension schemes in the Indonesia, Canada, South
Korea, Thailand, USA, Germany and haly.
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

The most recent full valuations of the significant defined benefit plans were carried out as follows:

Plan Country Valuation date
All Plans Belgium 01 January 2023
Al Plans Canada 31 December 2020
All Plans France 31 December 2022
All Plaas Germany 3t December 2022
All Plaps India N/A

All Plans South Korea 31 December 2022
All Plans Mexico 31 December 2022
All Plans Switzertand 31 December 2022
All Plans Thailand 31 December 2020
All Plans USA 01 fanuary 2022
All Plans Indonesia 01 January 2023
All Plans United Kingdom 04 May 2022

All Plans Norway 3t December 2022
All Plans Inaly 31 December 2020
All Plans Spain 31 December 2022
All Plans Austria 31| December 2022

Where the most recent full valuations were carried out prior to the balance sheet date, these have been updated to
31 December 2022 by independent qualified actuaries.

The Group’s pension schemes have been disclosed on a geographical basis as those schemes in Europe, United
Kingdom, North America and Rest of the World.

The European pension arrangements are a mix of final salary, career average, unit benefit and cash balance plans in
nature, and the majority are closed to new entrants. The majority of the plans are funded via insurance policies and
there are also a number of unfunded German and Ttalian plans.

The UK defined benefit pension plans were historically final salary in nature, with a normal retirement age of 60, and
are both closed 1o new entrants and future accrual. The plans operate under trust law and are managed and administered
by Trustees in accordance with the terms of each plan’s Trust Deed and Rules and relevant legislation. The
coniributions paid to the UK plans are set every three years based on a funding agreement between the company and
Trustee after taking actuarial advice.

The North Americas pension arrangements consists of three funded plans in the USA (all of which are closed to future
accruat) and one funded plan in Canada (which is closed to new entrants and to future accrual). Al pension plans,
except one, are final saiary defined benefit in nature, and the plans’ liabilities are valued regularly in line with statutory
funding requirements.

The Rest of the World pension arrangements are comprised of the Group’s pension plans in India, South Korea,
Mexico, Thailand and Indonesia.

The Group also operates a number of post-retirement healthcare plans i North Americas and the United Kingdom,
which provide employees with other post-retirement benefits in respect of healthcare. The plans are unfunded and the
liability is assessed by gualified independent actuaries under the projected umit method.
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension plan assumptions

The major actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages or ranges) at year end were as follows:

European United Kingdom North America  Rest of the World
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
%o

Price inflation 130 2.50 V0O -t 3.20 320 0.00-200 0.00-200 0.00-3.50 GUU-350
Discount rate for scheme
liabilities ..., e 2.20-3.80 025-225 500 190 275 273 200-950 200-950
Rate of increase in pensionable
salaries .................. ... TS 2.00.3.50 0.00 - 4.50 2.00 nfa 0.00-300 000-300 400-8.00 400-3800
Rate of increase in pensions in
payment................ . e e 0.00.2.50 290-200 300370 220-370 0.00-050 000-050 - nfa
Rate of increase for deferred
PENSIONGNS ......cooovi v 000.0.53 0.00-200 280-320 290-320 - nia - nia
Healthcare medical trend rate
(initial) ..o [N 2.40 200 540 540 S48-600 548-6.00 nfa
Healthcare medical trend rare
(ultimate)........... i 240 2.00 540 5.40 4.50-500 450-5.00 - nfa

The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the reporting date are based on standard
actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in longevity. The assumptions are

equivalent to expecting a 65-year old to live for a number

of years as follows:

European United Kingdom North America  Rest of the World
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
{Years)
Longevity at age 65 for 204 - 204 - 21.8- 21.8- 21.1 - 211 -
current pensioners............... 24.9 24.9 21.% 22.2 222 22.2 n/a n/a

The following table presenits the sensitivity of the defined benefit abligation to each significant actuarial assumption:

Discount rate: 1% decrease
Rate of inflation: 0.5% increcase'™

Discount rate: 1% decrease
Rate of inflation: 0.5% incrense! ..
Mortality: 1 year increase in longevity for a member currently

2022
United North Rest of the
European Kinpdom America World
€m
3.7 116.6 09 0.1
15.5 2590 0.9 -
1.6 243 0.9 -
2021
United Narth Rest of the
Eurgopean Kingdom America World
€m
799 3255 9.8 1.8
241 110.8 1.2
125 57.3 1.6 -

(" The sensitivity to the inflation assumption change includes corresponding changes to the future salary increase and future pension increase
assumptions where these assumplions are set (o be linked 10 the inflatron assumplion.
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
Pension assets (schemes in surplus)

The disclosures relating to the net pension assets are disclosed below. The amounts recognised in the balance sheet
are as follows:

2022
United
European Kingdom Total

€m
Equities . ... 2438 08 256
Bonds............ 14.9 2552 2701
6.3 - 63
2.4 60.6 63.0
Fair value of plan assets 48.4 316.6 365.0
Present value of funded obligalions ..o oo 1 vvcoriacieeons (39.2) (298.1) (337.3)
Net pension asset 9.2 18.5 27.7

-
2021
United
European Kingdom Taotal

€m
36.5 895 126.0
15.0 961.8 976.8
5.0 14.0 15.0
1.4 317.6 319.6
579 1,382.9 1,440.8
Present value of funded obliganons.. .-....c...oo... e e {45.8) (1,326.0% {i,371.8)
12.1 56.9 69.0

Other investments largely consist of quoted instruments, There are no plans which hold investments in the Group’s
own financial instruments, or hold assets or property which are used by the Group.

The amounts recagnised in the income statement are as follows:

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
European United Kingdom - Total
€m
Current service cost™ ... ... . (3.9 (4.3) (1.4) (0.9) 5.3 {5.2)
Expected retumn on plan asseis'®. . 0.6 0.2 255 8.2 26.1 8.4
Interest cost on obligation®_ . {0.5) (0.2 (24.1) (7.6} (24.6; (7.3
Total. 38 4.3) - (0.3) _(3.8) __4.6

) Included within operating profit
 Included within finance costs.
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension assets (schemes in surplus) {continued)

Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities:

AL T January 2021 .o e
Current service cost
Interest cost.. RO
Movements bctwccn schemes in surplus and scherm:s n defcn: ....................
Benefits paid ... —
Actuarial gam/(loss) expcnence .................... e e
Actuarial gain/(loss) - assumptions
Exchange adjustments
At 31 December 2021 ...
Current service cost ....
Interest cost. .. s »
Movements bctweer\ schcmes in sur'plus and schemes in det'cu .................
Benefits paid... e

Actuarial galm‘(loss) BXPEITEICE 1.oeevvieee e et e e e e
Actuarial gain/(loss) - assumptions
Exchange adjustments....
At 31 December 2022..............

Reconciliation of fair value of scheme assets:

At | Janwary 2021 . e e e
Expected remmn on scheme assets ...
Employet CORUIDULIONS. ... oot oo vt iesin e
Movements between schemes in surplus and schemes wn deficit . .
Benefits paid ... e
Actuarial gain ... R U PR RSO COURUIOU T
Exchange adjustments.
At 31 December 2021......

Expected return on scheme assets
Employer contriBULIONS. . ooooi i ceies o oottt e e
Movements between schemes in surplus and schemes in deficit............ .
Benefits Paid ..o s e e
Actuarial 1085 .....ccooernna et e e e o1 et e
Exchange adjustments................ IOV PU U U D OO OO TSP PR TP

AL 31 December 2022 ..o eeceveeene ettt s R e smns e nes

United
European Kingdom Totat
€m
- (a65.U0) (465.U)
(4.3) (0.9) (5.2)
0.2) (7.6) (7.8}
(45.5) (829.0) (874.5)
1.2 26.0 272
0.7 0.7 -
23 (5.4) (3.1}
. (43.4) (43.4)
(45.8) (1,326.0) {1,371.8)
39 (1.4) (5.3
(0.5} {24.1} (24.6)
- 4887 488.7
2.0 78.2 80.2
a5 (4.4) (7.9}
12.5 470.2 4827
- 20.7 20.7
(39.2) (298.1) (337.3)
United
European Kingdom Tatal
€m
- 498.0 498.0
0.2 8.2 8.4
4.0 8.7 12.7
453 B41.2 886.5
(1.2) (26.9) (27.2)
9.6 6.9 16.5
- 459 459
57.9 1,382.9 1,440.8
0.6 255 26.1
37 283 320
- (466.6) (466.6)
(1.9 (78.2) (80.1)
(11.9) (552.8) (564.7)
- (22.5) (22.5)
48.4 316.6 365.0
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension liabilities (schemes in deficit)

The disclosures relating to the net pension liabilities are disclosed below. The amounts recognised in the balance

sheet are as follows:

2022
United North Rest of the
European Kingdom America World Total
€m
Equities ... 47.7 - 359 0.7 84.3
Bonds. ... 733 1531 424 0.7 269.5
Property ... 125 - - - 12.5
[01; 1 T 809 281.3 (31.6) 59 336.5
Fair value of plan assets ... 214.4 434.4 46.7 7.3 7028
Present value of funded obligations ..., {273.1) (456.3) (40.1) 9.6) (779.1)
Present value of unfunded obligations ... (88.3) (0.3) (8.9) (15.7) (113.2)
Net pension Kability ..o.cooerereoerceceenunne (147.0) 22.2) (2.3) (18.0) (189.5)
2021
United North Rest of the
European Kingdom America Warld Tatal
€m
EQUIHES e 954 - 4.6 03 100.3
95.6 1.2 554 0.6 152.8
88 . - - 88
Other.......... 47.9 0.7 0.5 8.3 574
Fair value of plan assets ....ccvvvmericiciianne 247.7 1.9 60.5 9.2 3193
Present value of funded obhgations ... (340.2) 2.4 (53.7) (12.m (408.3)
Present value of unfunded obligations ... (112.5) (0.5) (7 (19.6) (144.3)
Net pension liability (205.0) .0 “.9) (22.4) (233.3)

The majority of the assets invested in property are unquoted. All other investments are largely in quoted instruments.
Equities comprise of well-diversified holdings over a wide range of global markets.

There are no plans which hold investments in the Group’s awn financial instruments, or hold assets or property which

are used by the Group.

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
United
European Kingdom North America Rest of World Tatal
€m

Current service cost! ... ... (13.8) (15.1) (1.1 (07N (0.9) (1.9 {200 (16.4) (9.7
Past service credatt'? ... L. - 0.2 - - - - - - 02
Expected return on plan assets™™ 30 1.6 - 13.0 1.7 1.6 03 0.2 5.1 16 4
Imterest cost on ebligation™. ... _(5.5) {34 - (132 _{18) (7 (1 (08 (84)  (19.1)

(162)  (16.7) (19 (08 (.0 @7 (26 (19.7 {222

1 included within operating profit
£2) included within finance cost
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension liabilities (schemes in deficit) (continued)

Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities:

At | January 2021 ...

Transfers in................
Current service cos! ...

Past service credit ...

Employee contribution

Interest COSt..cooeeees

S....

Movements between schemes in surplus

and schemes in deficit.

Benefits paid....................

Actuarial (loss)/gain - experience ...

Actuarial gain/(loss) - assumptions.
Exchange adjustments.

At 31 December 2021

DIVeSIUre. ..o

Current service cost ...

Employee contribution

Inlerestcost. . ...

Movements between schemes in surplus

and schemes in deficit.
Benefits paid..............
Actuarial (loss)/gain - experience ...

Actuanial gain - assumptions....................

Exchange adjustments.

At 31 December 2022

United North Rest of the
European Kingdom America World Total
€m
(309.3) (799.5) {68.6) {335.4) (1,410.8)
(0.8) - N (0.1) {0.9)
(15.1) 7N 0.9 (2.0) (19.7)
0.2 - - - 0.2
(0.3) - - - 0.3)
(3.4) (13.2} (.7 {0.8) (19.1)
45.5 829.0 - - 874.5
15.2 516 6.5 40 773
(5.8) 1.2 1.6 0.7) {3.7)
2011 (17.0) 3.2 1.6 79
1.0 (53.3) {5.5) (0.2) (58.0)
(452.7) 2.9 {65.4) (31.6) (852.6)
- - - 2.0 2.0
(13.8) - (0.7) (1.9} (16.4)
(0.3) - - - 0.3
(5.5) - (1.8) (.n 84
. (488.7) - ; (488.1
199 - 4.3 4.6 28.8
6.2) 0.2 0.4) 0.6 (5.8)
0954 1.3 17.2 22 116.1
i 8 3.5 (2.2 (0.1) 33.0
(361.4) (456.6) (49.0) (25.3) (892.3)
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension liabilities (schemes in deficit) (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value of scheme assets:

At January 2021 .

Expected returmn an scheme assets

Employer contributions.. ...

Employee contributions ......... .
Moeovements between schernes in
and schemes in deficit .

Benefits paid ... U

At 31 December 2021 ...................

Divesture

Expected retum on scheme assets._ .

Employer contmbutions.............coocoooveens

Employee contributions ................

Meovements between schemes in surplus

and schemes in deficit..................

Benefits pasd ...

Actuanal less ... ...

Exchange adjustments................

At 31 December 2022.......

United Neorth Rest of the
European Kingdom America World Total
€m
270.0 777 615 8.7 L1119
16 130 1.6 0.2 164
.......... 234 327 1.0 4.1 61.2
...... 03 - - - 0.3
(45.3) (841.2) - (886.5)
(15.2) (51.6) (6.5) {4.0) (77.3)
141 250 (2.0) 0.1 172
(1.2) 523 4.9 0.1 56.1
.......... 2477 1.9 60.5 92 3193
- - - (1.9 (1.9
31 - 1.7 0.3 5.1
25.7 02 09 4.2 3.0
.......... 03 - . R 0.3
- 466.6 - - 466.6
(19.8) - (#.4) (4.6) (28.8)
i “@1.n (0.6) (13.6) (.1 (56.0)
.......... (0.9) 337 1.6 0.2 (32.8)
214.4 434.4 46.7 73 702.8

Depending on prevailing exchange rates, the Group expects to centribute approximately €59.7 million w its defined

pension plans in 2023.

21 PROVISIONS

At } January 2022 ...
Chargedi{credited) to the
consolidated income statement ..
Reclassifications. ............. ... ...
Business disposals ..................
Utilised in the year..._................
Discount ynwinding. . ...
Effects of movement in foreign
exchange ... .. ...

At 3] December 2022......... .

Non-curvent ... .
Current. ... oo e - -
At 31 December 2021 .

Non-current ... ..o ooean
Current...... e

At 3t December 2022. ... .

Onetous Severance and Plant Other
coniraces restructuring  _Environmental clasures provisions Total
€m
1.5 35 2019 12.8 205 240.6
- a1 @.2) - G.1 -
- - 4.8 (4.0) (2.8) (2.0)
(1.3) - - - - (1.3)
(0.2) 2.9) (26.2) 2.7 0.8) (32.8)
. - (12.5) (0.3} (0.1) (12.9)
(0.1) (3.0) (6.1 {0.1) (3.3)
- 0.6 164.8 5.7 17.2 188.3
- 03 161 4 6?2 17.4 1853
1.5 3.2 40.5 6.6 35 553
1.5 is 201.9 12.8 20.9 240.6
- 0.1 134.4 4.2 15.9 154.6
- 0.5 304 1.5 13 337
- 0.6 lﬁg 5.7 17.2 188.3
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21 PROVISIONS (continued)
Onerous contracts

Provisions related to unfavourable supply contracts and contract termination costs with related parties. Cash of €0.2
million was spent in the year. The remaining provision was disposed of as part of sale of INEOS Styrolution India
limited {see Note 3).

Severance and restructuring

The provision recognised in 2021 by Aromatics business in respect of manpower reorganisation costs was fully spent
in the year for €2.2 million. Remaining provision related to supply chain and commercial teams reorganisation costs
in INEQS Tnovyn. Cash of €0.7 million was spent in the year. The remaining provision of €0.6 million is expected to
be fully utilised by 2025.

Environmental

Environmental provisions represent the expected cost of remediation works where there 1s a legal or constructive
obligation for the works to be carmied out and a reasonable estimate of the cost can be made. The majonty of the
provisions created in ptior years relate 1o obligations associated with the remediation of mercury-based cell rooms at
INEOS Inovyn sites in Belgium, France, Sweden, Spain, Itaty and the United Kingdom, plus costs of implementing
the remdiation work at the Feyzin site in France to comply with local legislation.

In total €26.2 million was spent on environmental-related provisions in the year and the remaining provisions of
€164 8 million is expected to be utilised by 2047,

Plant closures

Plant closure provision mainly relate to activities at Runcom, United Kingdom in respect of the Sulphur Chemicals
plant which closed in 2021 and Wilhelmshaven, Germany in respect of the mercury cell room which ciosed in 2013.
The remaining provision of €5.7 million is expected to be fully utilised by 2029.

Other provisions

Other provisions mainly relate to various legal and customer claims, including a liability to the Styrolution business’
previous shareholder, BASF under prior legal agreements. There was a reclassification of €2.8 million to short-term
accruals during 2022 as the amounts and timing of payment became more certain. The provision is expecied to be
fully utilised by 2027

22 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
2022 2021
€m
Current
Derivative commodity contracts designated as fair value through the profit or
1058 {IOTE 25) 1ot et et e 46.2 53.4
3 SHARE CAPITAL AND DIVIDENDS
Share capiial
2022 2021
€m

200,100 (2021: 200,100} issued Ordinary shares (pounds sterling) of £1.00
(2021: £1.00) each.......... S SRR 0.3 0.3
2 (2021 4) issued Ordinary shares (Euro) of €1.00 (2021: €1.00) each............... - -

T T T T T3 T 3T T T
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23 SHARE CAPITAL AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

As the reporting currency of the Company is the Euro, share capital has been converted to Euros at the effective rate
of exchange ruling at the date of issuance.

On 15 January 2021, the Company undertook a capital reduction exercise of its full share premium account of €6,620.4
million which was transferred to retained eamings. Two ordinary shares (Euro) were also cancelled.

Dividends
The following dividends were recognised during the year:
2022 2021
€m
Repayment of Equity Bridge Contribution...........c. 0 - 8249
Other dividends declared.. ... 521.0 3933
521.0 1,218.2

The Equity Bridge Contribution received from the Company’s immediate party undertaking as part of the BP
Acquisition was repaid in January 2021 via a return of capital of €824.9 million.

Intenm dividends of €521.0 million were declared and paid during the year (2021: €393.3 million). Subseguent to
year-end, the Directors have declared a final dividend of €500.9 million (2021: €nil) as at 23 January 2023 (see note
32).

The dividend declared in the current year equates to €2,603.7 per Ordinary share (2021: €6,087 .8 per Ordinary share).

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company.

24 MERGER RESERVE

On 31 December 2020, the Group acquired 94.9% of the shares m INOVYN Limited, pursuant to a contribution
agreement dated 24 July 2020 between INEOS Group Investments Limited, INEOS Industries Limited, TNEOS
Industries Holdings Limited, the Company and [NEOS Quattro Financing Limited, a subsidiary undertaking of the
Company in exchange for €3,416.4 million. On 31 December 2020, €3,245.7 million was debited to a merger reserve,
being the difference between the book value of the net assets acquired and the total consideration paid.

A difference of €1,281.2 million between the predecessor value of the Group and the fair value recognised as the
investment has been debited to a merger reserve for other prior year acquisitions.

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
= creditrisk
*  lLiquidity risk
* markel risk (including currency and interest rate risk)

This note presents information about the Group’s expasure Lo each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's management of capital.

The Board of Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management
framework. They are responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. The Group,
through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25(a)  Fair values of financial instruments

Trade and other receivables

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables generally approximates to fair value due to their short maturities.
Where settlement is not due in the short-term and where the effect 1s material, fair value is estimated as the present
vahue of future cash flnws disronnred at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Trade and other payables

The carrying amount of trade and other payables generally approximates to fair value due to their short maturities.
Where settlement is not dye in the short-term and where the effect is material, fair value is estimated as the present
value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Cash and cash equivalents

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is estimated as its carrying amount where the cash is repayable on demand.
Where il is not repayable an demand then the fair value is estimated at the present value of future cash flows,
discounted at the market rate of interest at the balance sheet date.

Interest-bearing borrowings

The fair value of the interest-bearing loans {excluding the securitisation facility, lease liabilities and related party
loans} is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market
rate of interest at the balance sheet date. The fair value of the securitisation facilities is the same as the carrying value
excluding debt issue costs. The fair value of lease liabilities is determined by reference to market rates for similar
lease agreements. The fair value of the related party loans is the same as the carrying value.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group has entered into derivative financtal instruments and the fair value is based on market or broker quotes.
Equity instruments

The Group has entered into derivative financial instruments and the fair value is based on market or broker quotes.

The fair values for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities together with their carrying amounts shown
in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

2022 2021
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amouni value amount value
- €m
Financial assets held at fair value through other
comprehensive income:
EQUity IRSEIUIIEIS  .o.ovovoosonssoe oo eee et eeeen 5.5 5.5 - -
Financial assets held at amortised cost:
Trade receivables................. e, 1,383.1 1,383.1 1,788.0 1,788.0
Amounts due from related parties and associated undertakings 752.2 752.2 124.4 124 4
Other recetvables (excluding prepayments and tax)................ 336.9 3369 4296 429.6
Other investments........... ER ] 9.8 18.1 18.1
Deferred consideration ... 2390 235.0 - -
Cash and cash equivalents..................cccooeiiiecrnieec e 1,530.1 1,530.] 1,291.3 1,291.3
Total AIRANCIA] ASSELS ...vvuersrmoeeereseuenesseecemeressensaenseessenssersces 4,2566 _ 4,2566 36514 3,651.4
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25(a}  Fuair values of financial instruments (continued)

2022 2021
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
€m
Financial liabilities held at fair vaiue through profit
or loss:
Derivative commaodity contracts.................ocociiiiin 46.2 46.2 534 53.4
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost:
Senior Secured Notes due 2026.................. e e 1,255.5 1,108.4 1,223.8 1,236.9
Senior Notes due 2026 .. .. et e e 500.0 410.0 500.0 502.2
Term Loan B Facilities due 2026 ..., 33156 3,210.6 3,216.5 3,237.2
Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 ... - - 1799 182.7
Term Lean A Facilities dug 2025 ... . R - - 1834 1853
Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 ..o 6313 589.8 6215 612.4
Senior Secured Notes due 2027 . ... .. 597.0 486.0 5963 584.3
Securitisation facilities ..........cocoviiin e, (0.2) - (0.3) -
Loan from related party .......ccocveieoiinieeiece e e 41.7 417 198 398
Other loans. ... RO 0.1 0.2 9.4 94
Trade payables................__. OOV SOOI 1,390.8 1,390.8 1,737.0 1,737.0
Amounts due to related parties ... 2393 2393 428.8 4288
Accruals and other payables {excluding deferred income)... 701.8 7018 8404 840.1
Lease Habilities...........oooo oo 289.3 289.3 299.2 2992
Total financial liabilities ........ 9,008.4 8,514.1 9,928.8 9,948.7

The tabie below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels,
determined in accordance with IFRS 13 “Faur Value Measurement” have been defined as follows:

» Level 1: quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

* Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

e Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability thar are not based on obsetrvable market data (unobservable inputs).

The fair values of all financial assers and financial liabilities by class together with their carrying amounts shown in
the balance sheet are as follows:

2022
Level
Fair value ] 2 3
€m
Net financial assets and liabilities designated as fair value
through profit or loss
Derivarive commadity Contracis ......_......cocoooeninn e {46.2) - (46.2) -
(46.2) - (46.2) -
Net financial assets and liabilities designated as fair value
through other comprehensive income
Equtty instruments ... U 5.5 5.5 - -
5.5 55 - -
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25(a)  Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

Net financial assets and liabilities designated as fair vatue

through profit or loss

Derivative commadity CONTACS .....oooviveieiiiiieiiee e

2021
Leve!
Fair value 1 2 k]
€m
(33.4) - (53.4) -
(53.4) - (53.4) -

The derivative commodity contracts have been assigned to Level 2 since there are no market prices available. The
fair value of derivatives is the value that the Group would receive or have ta pay if the financial instrument were
ransferred to an external party at the reporting date. The equity instruments have been assigned to Leve! | since the
shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange.

There have been no transfers from one level 1o another during 2021 and 2022,

25(h)  Net gains and losses from financial instruments

Net gains and losses from financial instruments comprise the results of valuations, the amortisation of debt issue costs,
the recognition and derecognition of impairment losses, results from the transtation of foreign currencies, interesi,
dividends and all effects on profit or loss of financial instruments.

Net gains from financial assets measured at amortised cost relate primarily to recognition and derecognition of
impairment losses, results from the translation of foreign currencigs and interest income.

Net losses from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost relate primarily to amortisation of debt issue costs,
results from the translation of foreign currencies, interest expense and other financing related expenses.

The item ‘financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss’ comprise valuation gains and losses, and only
includes gains and losses from instruments which are not designated as hedging instruments as defined by IFRS 9.

Gains from financial instruments

Interest iIncome

Foreign exchange gains ...

Net result ............

Carrying value at 31 December

Losses from financial instruments

Interest cost

Amortisation of debt issue costs.............

Net fair value loss on derivatives.............

Net fair value loss on equity instruments

_.__Foreign exchange 10ss€8.........ccovveerennae

Net resolt .

Carrying value at 31 December...

2022
Financial Fair value Financial Financial
assets at recognised assets at fair  liabilities at
amortised in profit or value amortised
cost loss through OCI cost
€m
14.6 - . -
140.7 - - -
155.3 - - -
4,251.1 - - -
- - - (247.0)
- - - (21.9)
- (20.8) - -
- - (0.4) -
— = PP R (7. 21 +)
- (20.8) (0.4) (347.5)
- (46.2) 5.5 (8,962.2)
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25¢b)  Net gains and losses from financial instruments (continued)

2021
Financial Fair value Financial
assets at recognised liabilities at
amortised in profit or amortised
cost loss cost
€m
Gains from financial instruments
INterest NCOTIE. . ...ocoo e 7.2 - L -
Foreign exchange gains................n e 151.3 - -
Net result......... 158.5 - -
Carrying value at 31 December 3,651.4 z -
Losses from financial instiruments
INterest CoSl......oooiniii e - - (214 .3)
Amartisation of debt issue costs . - - (68.6)
Net fair value gains on derivatives. - (40.8) ;
Foreign exchange losses - - (36.9
Net result - {40.8) (339.8)
Carrying value at 31 December ......oeccecercvereeenrerccenas - (53.4) (9,875.4)

25(c)  Credit risk
Financial risk management

Credit risk 1s the risk of financial l0ss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument faiis to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's receivables from customers, deposits with financial
institutions and amount owed to Group undertakings.

The Group's treasury policy and objectives in relation to credit risk is to minimise the likelihood that the Group will
experience financiat loss due to counterparty failure and to ensure that in the event of a single loss, the failure of any
single counterparty would not materially impact the financial wellbeing of the Group.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit nisk 15 influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. However,
management also considers the demographics of the Group's customer base, including the default risk of the industry
and country in which customers operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit risk. Management considers
that there 1s no geographical concentration of credit risk. The Group has established a credit policy under which each
new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group's standard payment and delivery tenms
and conditions are offered or are adjusted accordingly. The Group's review includes external ratings, when avaitable,
and in some cases bank references. Purchase limits are established for cach customer, which represent the maximum
open amount without requiring approval. Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may
transact with the Group only on a prepayment basts. No single customer accounts for more than 5% of revenue.

Investments. cash and cash equivalenis

Surplus cash investments are only made with banks with which the Group has a relationship. QOccasionally deposits
are made with banking counterparties that provide financing arrangements, reducing the credit exposure of the Group.
Exposure 1o credul risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. Therefore, the maximum exposurc
to credit risk at the reporting date was the carrying amount of financial assets. Further details on the Group's exposure
to credit risk, and the associated impairments recognised, are given in note 16,
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
25¢d)  Liguidity risk
Financial risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due, under nermal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage
o the Group. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is limited by the fact that it opcratcs with significant cash
resources, it maintains the most appropriate mix of short, medium and long-term borrowings from the Group’s lenders
and has significant headroom on the securitisation facilities (see note 17).

The Group is reliant on committed funding from a variety of sources at Group and subsidiary company level to meet
the anticipated needs of the Group for the period covered by the Group’s budget.

The Group forecasts on a regular basis the expected cash flows that will occur on a weekly and monthly basis. This
information is used in conjunction with the weekly reporting of acrual cash balances at bank in order to calculate the
level of funding that wil! be required in the short and medium term. On a monthly basis the level of headroom on
existing Facilities is reported and forecast forward until the end of the financial year.

The maturity profile of the Group’s undrawn committed facilities at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was as follows:

2022 2021
Undrawn Undrawn
facilities facilities
€m

[t1 less than one year.......... e e, - -
[ more than one year, but not more than tWo YEarS.......ccooovoe o orieenimn ey 840.0 §90.0
In more than two years, but not more than five years................o - -

840.0 630.0

The undrawn committed facilities of €840 million (2021: €690.0 million) are in respect of the unused securitisation
facilities. The maturity date of the securitisation facilities is 30 June 2024 for the INOVYN securitisation facility and
28 June 2024 for the Styrolution securitisation facility.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabulities, including estimated interest payments and
excluding the effect of netting agreements:
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
25¢d)  Liquidity risk (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

2022
Carrying Contractual lyearor lto2 2t05 S years
amount_cash flows less years years and over
€m
Non-derivative financial lizbilities
Senior Secured Notes due 2026................. 1,255.5 (1,394.1) {35.8) (35.8) (1,322.9) -
Senior Notes due 2026 ..o 500.0 (575.1) (188 (18.8) (531.5) -
Term Loan B Facilities due 20626 ........... e 33156 (3,993.0} (228.3) (229.8) (3,5349) -
Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 ................ - - - - - -
Term Loan A Facilities due 2025 ... ... - - - - - -
Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 ... 631.3 (760.7) (32.8) (33.1) (694 .8) -
Senior Secured Notes due 2027 ... 5970 (660.8) (13.5) (13.5) (633.8) -
Securitisation facilities .. ... ... (0.2) (9.4) (4.3} (3.6) {1.5) -
Loan from related party..........cc....ocooieriee, 41.7 (51.9) - - - (51.9)
Other loans ......... s 0.1 0.0 ©.1) - - -
Trade payables ........ e 1,390.8 (1,390.8) (1,390.8) - - -
Amounts due to related parties..................... 2393 (239.3) (239.3) - - R
dAecfZ:::lﬂifgﬂpayables (excmmng ....... 701.8 (701.8) (669.9)  (25.4) (4.8) (1.7)
Lease 0bNgations. ..o oo, 1393 (390 3) 83.6) (62.4) (33 2) (156.1)
Derivative financial liabilities
Commodity contracts ... e 46.2 (46.2) (46.2) : - -
9,008.4 (10,213.5) (2,763.4) (422.4) (6,818.0) _@.7)
2021
Carrying Contractual lyearor 1to2 2to S S years
amount cash flows less years years and over
€m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Senior Secured Notes due 2026......... .. . 12238 {1,398.3) (349)  {349) (1,3285) -
Senior Notes due 2026 ... 500.0 (593.9) (18.8) ({18.8) (556.3) -
Term Loan B Facilities due 2026 ............... 32165 {3.659.2) {(116.9)  (1168) (3.425.5) .
Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 ................ 179.9 (185.9) (124.5) (61.4) - -
Term Loan A Facilities due 2025... ... 183.4 (199.8) (5.2) (39.4) (155.2) -
Tenn Loan B Facilities due 2027 ... 621.5 (702.0) (16.9) (16.9) (668.2) -
Senior Secured Notes due 2027 . .............. 596.3 (674.3) (13.5) (13.5) (647.3) -
Securitisation facilities ... ........... e @3) (8.8) 3.5 (35) (1.8) -
Leoan from related parry . 398 (49.6} - - - (49 .6)
Other loans ... 9.4 {9.9) 5.7 (0.1) (0.1)
Trade payables .......coooiiiiiniiiie e e, 1,737.0 (1,737.03  (1,737.0) - - -
Amounts due to related parties........... ... 428.8 (428.8) (428.8) - - -
Accruals and other payables (excluding
deferred iIncOME) ..o 840 1 (840.1) (805.3) (29.2) 3.7 (1.9)
Lease 0bligations . ........oovveeeiiei e 2992 (370.6) (82.3) (55.6) (89.2) (143.5)
Derivative financial liabilities
Commodiry contracts ... .. ... 534 (53.4) (53.4) - - -
99288 (10911.6) (3.450.7) (390.1) (6,875.8) (195.0)
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25fe)  Market risk
Financjal risk management

Market risk reflects the possibility that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, crude
oil, key feedstocks and raw materials will adversely affect the value of the Group’s assets, liabilities or expected future
cash flows, The obijective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimising the return.

(i) Market risk - Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the US Dollar, Sterling, Norwegian Krone and Swedish Krona. Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities.

A subsiantial portion of the Group’s revenue is generated in, or linked to, Sterling, US dollars and the Euro. Product
prices, certain feedstock costs and most other operating costs are denominated in US Dollar, Sterling, Euro, Norwegian
Krone and Swedish Krona. Inthe US petrochemical and specialty chemicals businesses, product prices, raw materials
costs and mast other costs are primarily denominated in US Dollars.

The group applies hedge accounting 1o foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a financial liability
designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation. When the settlement of a monetary item receivable
from or payable 1o a foreign operations is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains
and losses arising from such 2 monctary items is considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation
and changes to the fair value are recognised directly within equity.

The Group generally does not enter into foreign currency exchange instruments to hedge foreign currency transaction
exposure, although the Group may do so in the future.

The Group benefits from natural hedging, to the extent that currencies in which net cash flows are generated from the
Group’s operations, are matched against long-term indebtedness.

The foreign currency exposure where the Group’s financial assets / (liabilities) are not denominated in the functionat
currency of the operating unit involved is shown below. Foreign exchange differences on retranslation of these assets
and liabilities are taken to the income statement of the Group.

2022 2021
€m
Euros. ... [T TR e e ettt aea s 374 1549
Pounds Sterling...........o o e s 273 206
S DIORIATS ..ottt e e e e aae b st n e e 186.3 33.6
NOTWEZIAN KIOME ..ot e e 0.3 18.8
O BT e e e e (74.8) (76.6)
175.9 151.3

Sensitivitv analysis

A 10% per cent weakening of the following currencies at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 would have
increased/(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This calculation assumes that the change
occurted at the reporting date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that date.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular other gxchange rates and interest rates, remain constant.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for the comparative year.
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25(e)  Market risk (continued)

(1) Market risk - Foreign currency risk {continued)

2022 2021 2022 2021
Equity Profit or loss
€m
| SN ' 1S SO OTU PP TRPTRT - - (3.4} (i4.1)
Pounds Sterling ... - - (2.6) {1.8)
Norwegian Krone. ... - - (16.9) (1.7)
US Dollars . - - - (3.1)
OB o e e - - 6.7 6.7

A 10% per cent strengthening of the above currencies against the Eure at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022
woutd have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that
all other variables remain constant.

(ii) Market risk — Interest rate risk
Profile

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instraments was:

2022 2021
€m

Fixed rate instruments
FInanCial iabillliEs .. oot e e e e e e (2,683.6) (2,659.1)
(2,683.6) (2,659.1)

Variable rate instruments
FInancial @ssels. . e e e 1,530 1,291.3
Financial Habilitles oo e e (3,946.8) {4,210.4)

- (2,416.7) (2,919.1)

Sensitivity analysis

A change of 1% in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased equity and profit or loss by the amounts
shown below. This calculation assumes that the change occurred at the reporting date and had been applied 1o risk
exposures existing at that date.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant and considers the
cffect of financial instruments with vanable interest rates and financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2022 and 2021.

Profit or (loss) 2022 2021
€m
Increase ininterest rates by 1% . e (24.2) (29.2)

A 1% change in the opposite direction of the above interest rates at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 would
have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies Lo the amounts shown above, on the basis that 21l other
variables remain constant.
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
25fe)  Market risk fcontinued)

{iii) Market risk — Commodity price risk

This section discusses the Group's exposure to the commodity contracts which are not covered under the own use
exemption and are recognised as derivative instruments.

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk through fluctuations in raw material prices and sales of products. The
raw material exposures result primarily from the price of feedstocks, electricity and base chemicals linked to the price
of crude. The sales price exposures are primarily related to petrochemicals where prices are in general hinked to the
market price of crude oil.

The Group enters into contracts to supply or acquire physical volumes of commodities at future dates during the
normal course of business that may be considered derivative contracts. Where such contracts exist and are in respect
of the normai purchase or sale of products to fulfil the Group's requirements, the own use exemption from derivative
accoumnting is applied.

The Group in some circumstances enters into swap contracts to acquire physical volumes of commodities at future
dates which are not covered under the own use exemption and are recognised as derivative instruments. Derivative
commodity contracts designated as fair value through profit or loss are disclosed in notes 22.

The Group operates within procedures and policies designed to ensure that risks, including those relating to the default
of counterparties, are minimised.

250  Capital management

The Group's objectives for managing capital arc to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide rerurns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group defines its capital employed of €9,444.1 million (2021: €8,587.3 million) as equity attributable to the
owners of the Company of €4,582.5 million (2021: €3,238.4 million) and net debt (total gross loans and borrewings
less cash and cash equivalents) of €4,861.6 million (2021: €5,348.9 million).

The principal sources of debt available to the Group at 31 December 2022 are described in note 17 along with the key
operating and financial covenants that apply to these facilities.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares, raise new debt or sell assets to reduce debt. The ability of the Group ta pay dividends and provide
appropriate facilities to the Group is restricted by the terms of principal financing agreements to which members of
the Group arg party.
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26 RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOYEMENT IN NET DEBT

2022 2021

€m

Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year..................o 2269 4384
Cash outflow from change in debt financing..........o.ocooviirinne e, (12.2) (647.1)
Change in net debt resulting from cash flow . 2147 (208.7)
Disposals of business. .. ... 408.9 -
Other net non-cash transactions. ... e (136.3) (166.8)
Movement in net debt in the year........ 487.3 ___(375.5)

Foreign

exchange

and other 31

1 January Disposal non-cash December
2022 Cash flow {Note 3)* changes 2022
€m

Cash at bank and in hand.................. 1.291.3 2269 - 1.9 1,530.1
Debt due within one year ... (150.5) 138.1 - (8.2) (20.6)
Debt due after more than ong year._. (6,489.7) (150.3) 408.9 (140.0) (6,371.1)
Total external borrowings............ ... (6,640.2) (12.2) 408.9 (148.2) (6,391.7)
Net debt before issue costs ............. (5,348.9) 214.7 408.9 (136.3) (4,861.6)

*Excludes cash

Foreign
exchange and
other non-cash 31 December

1 January 2021 Cash flow changes 2021
€m
Cashatbankand inhand ............ .. 805.6 438.4 47.3 1,291 3
Debt due within one year.................. (2,9304) 29256 (145.7) (150.5)
Debt due after more than one year._ .. (2,848.6} (3,572.7) (68.4) (6,489.7)
Total external borrowings.. _............ (5,779.0) (647.1) (214.1) (6,640.2)
Net debt before issue costs ...ovvnnae {4,973.4) (208.7) (166.8) (5,348.9)

Following the application of IFRS 16 Leases on 1 January 2019, all lease liabilities have been excluded from the
definition of net debt.

27 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Outstanding capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment authorised by the directors of Group companies and
for which contracts had been placed as at 31 December 2022 by the Group amounted to approximately €21 1.7 million
(2021: €575.5 million).

28 CONTINGENCIES
The Group companies are and may from time to time be involved in proceedings or litigation arising in the ordinary

course of business. Management does not believe that the ultimate resotution of these matters will matenially affect
the Group’s financial condition or results of operations.
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29 RELATED PARTIES

Related parties comprise:
e Parent entities and their subsidiaries not included within the INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited group;

»  Entities controfled by the shareholders of INEOS Limited, the ultimate parent company of INEOS Quattro
Holdings Limited;

* Koy nianagencnl persunnel
* Joimly controlled entities and associated undertakings held by INEOS Limited (and their subsidiaries) and
* Jointly controlled entities and associated undertakings held within the INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited
group.
Mr I A Raichiffe, Mr A C Currie and Mr J Reece are shareholders in INEOS Limited.

Parent entities and their subsidiaries not included within the INEOS Quattro Holdings group

Material trading and non-trading transactions by the Group with the entities controlled by INEOS Limited are as
foliows:

Transaction value Balance outstandi
Twelve-Months Period Ended Period Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2022 2021
(€ in millions)
Sale OF PrOAUCTS «..oocvee e iavire s 338.1 3236 - -
Purchase of raw materials . (1,488.1} (1,229.3) - -
COSUTECOVEIES. .o oveeiceeeeece e ee e eeaien e oo 117.3 893 - -
Services received .o.ooovervieeee e e (223.9) {1397 - -
NetIEReSt . e e, (1.8) (1.7 - -
Trade and other receivables ................ccccmvevvenn - - 97.0 621
Loans receivable ............... - - 500.8 -
Trade and other payables - - (172.4) (264.4)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings ... ... .. - - (41.7) 39.8)

Included within services above is a management fee paid to INEOS Limited of €59.5 million (2021: €55.3 million).
No amounts remained cutstanding as at 31 December 2022 (2021: €nil).

In general, all outstanding trading balances with INEOS companies are priced based on contractual arrangements and
are to be settled in cash within two months of the reporting date, with the exception of the interest-bearing loans and
borrowings. Nene of the balances are secured. The transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail
in arm’s length transactions. There were no provisions for doubtful debt related to these entities as at 31 December
2022 (2021: €nil).

The loan receivable is an unsecured loan owed by INEOS Industries Holdings Limited. The loan attracts interest at
commercial rate and had maturity of 2 December 2023. Subsequent to the year-end, this loan was fully settled through
a dividend distribution approved on 23 January 2023 (see note 32).

The interest bearing loan is an unsecured loan due to INEOS Enterprises Holdings Limited. The loan bears interest
atarate of 4. 5%. There is no formal repayment date under the loan agreement.
Entities controlled by the shareholders of INEOS Limited

The shareholders of INEOS Limited own a controlling interest in the share capital of INEOS Limited and
Screencondor Limited. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group made no sales or purchascs with these
companies (2021: €nil). As at 31 December 2022, amounlts owed by Screencondor Limited were €1.2 million (2021:
€1.2 miition}.
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29 RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Jointly controlled entities and associated undertakings held within the INEOS Limited group and jointly controlled
entities and associated undertakings held within the INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited group.

Material trading and non-trading transactions with these entities during the period were as follows:

Transaction value Bualance outstanding
Twelve-Manths Period Ended Period Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2022 2021
(€ in millions)

Sale of products ... .. e 88.6 79.8 - -
Purchase of raw materials .........cceeo v (553.0) (570.5) - -
COSL FECOVETIES. ..ot oant s iaaeenaiee st ens coiraieres caeeee 236.1 191.5 - -
Services received ... ot (0.4) - - -
PEUIMEETERL. . oo e e e e e e 2.1 20 - -
Trade and other receivables ...........c.. vooverieeciieninne - - 77.8 46.7
Trade and other payables ... e - - (67.1) (164.4)
Loans receivable . ... .. e e - - 751 14.4

In general, all outstanding balances with these related parties are priced based on contractual arrangements and are to
be settled in cash within two months of the reporting date with the exception of the interest-bearing loans and
borrowings. None of the balances are secured. The transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail
in arm’s length transactions. There were no provisions for doubtful debt related to these entilies as at 31 December
2022 (2021: €nil).

Loans receivable include a total of €63.1 million loans granted by the Group to INEQS Styrolution Sinopec Advanced
Materials (Ningbo) Lid. These loans are unsecured, attract interest at commercial rate and mature in 2032.

Transactions with key management personnel

The Group define key management as the Directors of the Company. Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in
note 7.

30 ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY

The immediate parent company of the Company 15 INEOS Industries Holdings Limited.

The ultimate parent undertaking of the Company is INEOS Limited, a company incorporated in the Isle of Man. The
directors regard Mr } A Ratcliffe as the ultimate conwrolling party by virtue of his majority shareholding in INEOS
Limited.

The smallest and largest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by INEOS

[ndustries Limited. Copies of the financial statements can be obtained from the company secretary at the registered
office, INEOS Industries Limited, Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, S043 7FG.
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31 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with adopted IFRSs, which require
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions which affect the application of the accounting policies,
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Croup’s accounting policies

On 28 July 2022, INEOS and Sinopec signed a petrochemical deal to establish a total of three joint-ventures for ABS,
based on [INEOS’ proprietary ABS technology. The set-up of the first joint-venture was completed on 28 December
2022. Management had to exercise critical judgement regarding the allocation of the consideration 1o the disposal of
INEOS Styro Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Ltd due to the linked nature of the transactions. The contractual
arrangements are such that the first two joint ventures are accounted for together, and the third will be accounted for
separately, in due course.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerming the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are discussed below.

Post-retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of defined benefit post-employment schemes. Under IAS 19 Revised Employee Benefits,
management is required to estimate the present value of the future defined benefit obligation of each of the defined
benefit schemes. The costs and year end obligations under defined benefit schemes are determined using actuarial
valuations. The actuarial valuations involve making numerous assumptions, including:

« Future rate of increase in salaries;

= Inflation rate projections;

= Discount rate for scheme habilities;

s Expected rates of return on the scheme assets;
e Monrality levels.

Details of post-retirement benefits including the major actuarial assumptions and the sensitivity of the post-
retirement benefits to the assumptions are set out in Note 20 - pension plan assumptions.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised for the cost of remediation works where there is a legal or constructive obligation for such
work to be carried out. Where the estimated obligation arises upon initial recognition of the related asset, the
corresponding debit 15 treated as part of the cost of the related asset and depreciated over its estimated useful life.

Other provisions are recognised in the period when it becomes probable that there will be a future outflow of funds
resulting from past operations or evenis that can be reasonably estimated. The timing of recognition requires the
application of judgement to existing facts and circumstances, which can be subject to change.

Estimates of the amounts of provisions recognised are based on current legal and constructive requirements,
technology and price levels. Because actual outflows can differ from estimates due to changes in laws, regulations,
public expectations, technology, prices and conditions, and can take place many years in the future, the carrying
amounis of provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted to take account of such changes.

The nature and amount of provisions as well as the key assumptions are included within the financial statements are
detailed in note 21. The discount rate applied to reflect the time value of money in the carrying amount of provisions
requires estimation. The discount rate applied is reviewed regularly and adjusted following changes in market rates. [f
the estimated discount rate, one of the key assumptions in determining the environmental provisions, used in the
calculation had been 1% higher than management’s estimate, the carrying amount of the envirenmental provisions
would have been €3.9 million lower.
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31 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment tests for goodwill and other non-financial assets

Goodwill impairment testing s performed annually ar of there is an indication of impairment. Goodwill impairment
tests are based on cash generating units and compare the recoverable amount of the unit with the respective carrying
amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its valug in use. The value in use is determined using a discounted cash flow method, considering earnings forecast
of the unit. The management of the Group identified the operating segments as cash generating units (“*CGUs") for
the purposes of testing goadwill for impairment. Each unit or group of units o which goodwill is allocated to shall
represent the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for intemal management purposes. The
goodwill is intemally monitored at the level of business units.

Intangible assets other than goodwill assets and property, plant and equipment are generally valued at cost {ess
amortisation. Impairment losses on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are recognised when the
recoverable amount of the cash generating  unit which includes the asset is lower than the respective carrying amount.
In accordance with the definition of a cash generating unit under IAS 36, the individual production plants generally
do not Tepresent scparate cash generating units, but are part of larger asset groups that form the cash generating units.

Since assessment whether goodwill or a non-financial asset is impaired s based on long-term business plans for the -
cash generating units and the determination of an appropriate discount rate, management uses significant estimates
and assumptions in making these assessments. Details on the estimales used for the goodwill impairment test are
disclosed in note 11.

Partial disposal of business with joint control retained

On 28 Decernber 2022, the Group transferred 50% of s shareholding in INEOQS Styrolution Advanced Materials
(Ningba) Pte Limited to China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation (Sinopec). As a result, the Group gave up control
but retained joint control. The 50% equity share in the joint-venture acquired by the Group has been measured at fair
value on the date of acquisition by applying discounted cash flow method based on a long-term business plan with a
detailed planning period of seven years.

The discount rate of 9.0% applied to reflect the time value of maney of the cash flows expected based on the long-
term business ptan requires estumalion. if the estimated discount rate, one of the key assumptions in determining the
fair value, used in the calculation had been 1% higher than management’s estimate, the fair value of 50% share of the
joint-venture will have been €81 million lower.

32 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 23 January 2023, the Group declared a dividend payment to its owners of €500.9 million, The dividend was used
1o seftle an inter-company foan {principal plus interest) owed by the Group’s owners and as such has not resulted in
any cash outflow (see note 16).

On 14 March 2023, the Group entered into an Incremental Facility Agreement to raise a new Dollar Term Loan B of
$500.0 million (€471.6 million equivalent) and a new Euro Term Loan B of €375.0 million. The gross proceeds
received under these borrowings were used on 15 March 2023 to pay an interim dividend to the Group’s owners of
€500.0 million with the remaining proceeds used to increase the liquidity of the Group.

From March 2023, the Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bears interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the
option of US Finco:

(a) the applicable Term SOFR plus 0.10% (subject to a floor of 0% per annum) plus a margin of 2.00%; or

(b} the Alternate Base Rate (subject to a floor of 1.00% per annum) plus a margin of 1.00%,
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32 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued)

In April 2023, the Group has initiated the process of transitioning the Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2026 from
LIBOR to SOFR.

Subsequent to the year-end, the Group entered into an interest rate swap agreement with HSBC to hedge the fair value
risk i relation to the 2030 Term Loans with the nolional principal amount of $500 million. Under this interest rate
swap agreement, the Group will exchange the variable SOFR exposure for fixed-SOFR obligations.
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Note 2022 2021
€m
AdMINISratiVe EXPENSES. ..o et et e e e eme et eese e s e en e eeeeans {0.3) ©.10
OPErating LOSS oo ecrrc e e st s e e bsssat e s su s e eateremeans 2 (0.3) 0.1)
Income from shares in group undertakings ................ [S SO 4 521.2 1,218.2
Profit before net finance costs 520.9 1,218.1
Finance fMCOME. ...t 5 0.5 -
Finance costs .................. BT U U PP OO RPN PSPPI 5 {0.5) -
Profit Defore taAX. e erecsnerrssrmsssnesssseenens 5209 1,218.1
Taxonprofit................ R 6 (7.8) 0.2
Profit for the financial year 513.1 1,218.3

All activities of the Company relaie 1o continuing operations.

The Company has no recognised other comprehensive income and therefore no separate statement of other
comprehensive income has been presented.
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Note 2022 2021
€m

Fixed assets
TAVESTINENES .. oo ie e et et e e e e are e e s e n e 7 6,620.8 6,620.8
Current assets
Debtors: amounts due within one Year..........cocecoereeenciiinininiinin. 8 500.5 0.2
Debtors: amounts due after more than one year 8 - -
Cash and cash equivalents................ SRR . 0.3 0.3
Total current assets..............occooeeeiiiiiininnne, eeereeeerenaeans 500.8 0.5
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowing 9 {500.6) 0.1
Trade and other payables.... SO 10 (7.8) 0.1)
Total current LHabilities .............ocooeoeeeiicivinvrrrerrrarree e e nteeeens eeeenneen (508.4) {0.2)
Net current (liabilities)/assets ...............cooocmiiiiniccee (7.6) 0.3
Total assets less current leabilities.................... eeeeedieneaensnrasnns TP . 6,613.2 6,621.1
Net assets - 6,613.2 6,621.1
Capital and reserves
Cailed up share capital.......ccuiiimrimrnsises s v e I 0.3 0.3
Share premium account... 11 - -
Profit and loss account ..... . S reneenernnes ’ 6,6129 6,620.8
Total shareholder’s funds...... 6,613.2 6,621.1

The financial statements on pages 107 to 12] were approved by the Board of Directors on 14 April 2023 and were
signed on its behalf by:

INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited
Registered number: 09922632
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Called up Share  Profit and Total
share - premium loss shareholder’s
Note capital account account funds
€m

Balance at 1 January 202 1......eecccceveennens 0.3 6,620.4 03 6,621.0
Profit and total comprehensive income for the financial year........ - - 1.218.3 1,2183
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity:
Reduction of share premium ... 11 - (6,620.4)  6,620.4 -
Repayment of Equity Bridge Contribution ...._.._................... 11 - - (824.9) (824 9)
DHVEAENAS ..ot B 1 - - (3933) (393.3)
Total contributions by and distributions to OWREers............. - {6,620.4) 5,402.2 {1,218.2)
Balance at 31 December 2021 0.3 - 6,620.8 6,621.1
Profit and total comprehensive income for the financial year........ - - 513.1 5131
Transactions with awners, recorded directly in equity:
Dividends ..o e 11 - - (521.0) (521.0
Total contributions by and distributions to owners...........reeues - - {(521.8) (521.09
Balancc at 31 Dcecember 2022 0.3 - 6,612.9 6,613.2
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
3JI'DECEMRBER 2022

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited (“the Company") 1s a private company, limited by shares, incorporated in the United
Kingdom, registered in England and Wales and has its registered office at Bankes Lane Office, Bankes Lane, PO Box
9, Runcorn, Cheshire, United Kingdom, WAT7 41E.

These financial statements present information about the Company as an individual undertaking and not about its
group.
I Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards, on a going concern
basis and under the historical cost accounting rules.

The Company financial statements have been prepared on a going concemn basis and approved by the Board of
Directors in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework (“FRS 1017} and the Companies Act 2006.

The Company meets its day to day working capital requirements through its intercompany loan, along with cash
generated by its subsidiaries’ operations. The Company held cash balances of €0.3 million at 31 December 2022
(2021: €0.3 million), cutrent debtors of €500.5 million (2021: €0.2 million) and loans and borrowings of €500.6
million at 31 December 2022 (2021: €0.1 miliion). The Directors have considered the Company’s projecied future
cash flows and working capital requirements and are confident that the Company has sufficient cashflows to meet its
working capital requirements for the next twelve months from the date of signing the financial statements.

On the basis of this assessment together with net assets of €6,613.2 million as at December 31, 2022 (2021: €6,621.1
million) the Directors have conciuded that the Company can operate within its current facilities for a period of at least
12 months from the date of this report. Therefore, these financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom.

The consolidated financial statements of INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards. In these financial statements, the Company is considered to be a
qualifying entity (for the purposes of this FRS) and has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of
the following disclosures:

= {Cash Flow Statement and related notes;

» Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries;

= Disclosures in respect of capital management;

»  Disclosures in relation to the impairment of assets as required by LAS 36,

+  Financial instrument disclosures as required by IFRS 7,

» The effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs;

« Comparative information for fixed asset reconciliations; and

»  Disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented
in these Company financial statements.

1.2 Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis. No assets or liabilities are stated at fair value.
L3 Functional and presentation currency

The Company financial statements are preseanted in Euros, which is also its functional currency.

1.4 Investments

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are carried at the cost to the Company (being the fair value of the shares
acquired) less any impaiment.
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

LS Impact of new standards and interpretations

There are no amendments to accounting standards that are effective for the year ended 31 December 2022 which have
had a material impact on the Company.

1.6 Foreign currency

Foreign cusrrency transactions are translated into the local currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denorminated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the profit and loss account, except when deferred in reserves as qualifying net investment hedges.

L7 Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent ta initial recognition they are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits with maturities of three months or less from the
acquisition date and money market funds that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are
used by the Company tn the management of its short-term commitments. Pledged balances on accounts used for
payment transactions related to the securitisation of receivables are classified as cash. The amount of these baiances
is disclosed in the notes.

Trade and other pavables

Tradc and other payables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to imtial recognition they are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Investments in debt and equitv securities
Investments in [oans and receivables are stated at amortised cost less impairment.
Interesi-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised mitially at fair value less attributable wransaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, inlerest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Share copital (ordinary shares)

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

1.8 Impairment

Financial assets (including receivables)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether
there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss
event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event bad a negative effect on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between
1ts carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. [nterest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. When a
subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impainment loss is reversed
through profit or loss.
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.9 Finance income and cost

Interest income and interest payable are recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest method.
Dividend income is recognised in the profit and loss account on the date the entity’s right to receive payments is
¢stablished. Fereign currency gams and losses are reported on a net basis.

1.10 Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profil and loss
account except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in

equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilines for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following timing differences are not provided for:
the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit other than in a business combination, and differences relating to investments in substdianes to the extent that they
will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the timing difference can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable night to offset current iax assels
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable ennty or different taxable entities where there 1s an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.

2 OPERATING LOSS

The audit fee for the parent company for the year ended 31 December 2022 was €13,600 (2021 €10,300) and was
borne by a fellow group undenaking.

3 STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

The Company had no employees, other than the Directars, during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: none).

No Directors received any fees or remuneration in respect of their services as a director of the Company during the
year ended 3| December 2022 (2021 €nil).

4 INCOME FROM SHARES IN GROUP UNDERTAKINGS

During 2022 the Company received dividends of €521.2 million from INEOQS Quattro Financing Limited.

Puring 2021 the Company received dividends of €824.9 million from TNEOS Quattro Financing Limited to enable
the Company to repay the Equity Bridge Contribution received from the Company's immediate panty undertaking as
part of the BP Acquisition. In addition, the Company received further dividends of €393.3 million from INEQS
Quattro Financing Limited.
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5 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

2021 2021
€m
Finance income
Interest receivable from associated undertakings ... ... 0.5 -
Total finance iNCOME .....oeveenennnnee. . 0.5 -
Finance costs
Interest payable to associated undertakings.........coo.coroererverevereiieereeiae e . ©.5) -
Total finance costs (0.5) -
Net finance CoOStS v . - -
6 TAX ON PROFIT
Recognised in the profit and loss account
2022 2021
€m
UK Corporation tax:
Current tax credit............oeeenn, . (0.1) (0.
Adjustment in respect of prior years.. . 7.9 (0.1)
Total current tax charge/(credit) ... e 7.8 9.2)
Reconciliation of effective tax ralte
2022 2021
€m
Total tax charge/(credit) ... RN 7.8 (0.2)
Profit before taXation ... e e 520.9 1,218.1
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% (2021: [9.0%).. 99.0 231.4
Adjustment in respect of prior years. ... . 79 (0.1)
Tax exempt INCOTE ... e 93.1) (231.5)
Total tax charge/(credit) 7.8 0.2

On 11 March 2021, the Finance Bill 2021 was announced in the United Kingdom, which increased the rate of
corporalion tax to 25% on profits over £250,000 from April 2023,

7 INVESTMENTS

Shares in

group
Cost and net book value undertakings

€m

At 31 December 2021 and 2022 N 6,620.8
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7 INVESTMENTS {continued)

The Company has the following investments in subsidiartes:

Company

INEOS Quattro Financing Limited”
INEOS Quattro Finance 1 plc”
INEQS Quattro Finance 2 plc
TNEOS Siyroiution Finance GrabH

INEOS Styrolution Investment GmbH

INEOS Styrolution America LLC

INEQS Styrolution Belgium NV

RNEQS Styrolution Belgium Services bvba
INEOS Styrolution Canada Lid

INEQS Styrelution (China) Investment Co. Lid

INEOS Styrolution do Brasil Pelimeros 11da.

INEOS Styrolution Hong Kong Company
Limited.

NEOS Styrolution Europe GmbH,
INEQS Styrolution France SAS.

INEOS Styrolution France Services SAS.
INEQS Styralution Group GmbH.

INEOS Styrolution Tberia S.L
INEQS Styrolution Swikzerland SA.

INEQS Styrofution ltalia SrL. .

INEQS Styrolution Kimyasal Uriinler Ticaret
Limited Sirkeri.

INEQS Styrotution Kdln GmbH.

INEQS Styrolution Korea Lid.

KR Copolymer Co. Ltd

MNEOS Styrolution Ludwigshafen GmbH.
MNEQS Styrolution Mexicana, S.A. de C V.
INEQS Styrolution Netherlands B V
MNEOS Styroluton OCO.

INEOS Styrolution Poland Sp. z 0.0.

INEOS Siyroluton Polymers (Foshan) Co. Lad

Class of Registered
Country of shares Ownership  Ownership office
incorporation Principal activity held 20212 2021 reference
UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% N
UK Financing company Ordinary 100% 100% n
UK Financing company Ordinary 100% 100% [£2]
Germany Holding company Orvdinary 100% 108% 2)
Germany Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (2)
Manufacture of styrene
maonomer and polymers, Members
UsA selling, distribution interest 100% 100% (&))
Manufacture of styrene
Belgium monomer and polymers Ordimary - 100% 100% )
Belgium Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (5)
Manufacture of styrenc
Canada monomer Common 100% 100% (6)
Registered
China Financing company capital 100% 100% (€}
Equity
Brazil Sales office JOrdinary 100% §00% (&)
Hong Kong Salcs office Ordinary 190% 100% [RX]]
Germany Dustribution company Ordinary 100% 100% )
France Manufacture of poiymers Ordinary 100% 100% (1,
France Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% oan
Germany Halding company Ordinary 100% 100% 2)
Spain Sales office Ordinary 100% L00% (12)
Switzerland Distribution company Ordinary 100% 100% (14)
[taty Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% €15y
Turkey Salcs officc Ordinary 100% 100% (16)
Germany Manufacture of polymers Ordinary 100% 100% “u7)
South Korea Manufacture of polymers ~ Common 100% 100% QR3]
South Korea Manufactuce of K -Resin Ordinary 100% 100% (19}
Germany Manufacture of potymers Ordinary 100% 100% (2)
Mexico Manufacture of polymers Ordinary 100% 100% (20
Netherlands Sales office Ordinary 100% 1 00% 2n
Russia Sales office Chanter (00% 100% (22)
capital
Poland Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (23)
. N Registered .
China Manufacture of polymers capital 100% 100% 24)
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7 INVESTMENTS (continued)
7ta) Investments in subsidiary undertakings (continued)
Class of Registered

Country of shares Ownership  Ownership office
Company incorporation Principal activity held 2022 2021 reference
TNEOS Styrolution Polymers (Ningbo) Co Lid. China Manufacture of polymers R"CE‘;::""‘ 100% 100% (25
MNEOS Slyrolurl:)on Advanced  Matenals China Manufacture of ABS (under  Repistered 50% 100% (26)
{Ningbo) Pte Ltd. consiruction) capital
MEOS Styrolution Pglymers (Shanghai) Co. China Sales office Regls‘lered 100% 100% an
Lid. capital
TNEQS Siyrolution Schwarzheide GmbH Germany Manufacture of polymers Ordinary 100% 100% (30)
INEOS Styrolution APAC Pie Lid. Singapore Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (31
INEOS Styrolution UK Limited.” UK Sales office Qrdinary 100% 100% {)
WEOS Styrolution US Holding LLC. USA Holding company "lf:::r‘:;‘ 100% 100% 3
‘l':‘bEl-cOS Styrolution  Verwalungsgesellschafl Germany Financing company Ordinary 100% 100% (2}
NEOS Siyralucion (Thailand) Co., Lid. Thailsnd Maunufactuce of polymers Qrdinary 100% L00% (34)

- Chareer o
INEQS Styrolution Victnam Co., Lid Victnam Salcs office Capital 100% 100% (35)
Deutsche Bank Mexico F/1787 Styrolunon. Mexico Secunitisation vehicle nfa nfa n/a (37)
D\‘EQS Sryrolut_iqn Recelvables Fimance treland Secunnsation vehicle nfa nfa nfa (51}
Designated Activity Company.
INEOS Quattro Holdings UK Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% {n
. Production of acctic acid . o o
INEOS Acetyls UK Limited UK and other acetyls products Ordinary 1060% 100% [4))]
INEOS Acetyls Intemational Limited ™ UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (1)
INEOS US Petrochem LLC UsA Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (3)
Production of purified
TNEOS US Chemicals Company USA terephthalic acid and Common 100% 100% {3)
paraxylene

INEOS 179 Limned™” UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% H
INEOS Aromatics and  Acelyls Trading ! Registered o
{Shanghai) Company Limitcd China Sales office capital 100%, 100% {29
INEOS Acetyls Japan KK Japan Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (36}
INEOS Acctyls Investmenis Limited UK Holding cornpany Ordinary 100% 100% (1}
MNEQS Aromatics Asia Limited Hang Kang Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% 13y
INEOS Acetyls (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd. Malaysia Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% {68)
INEQS Aceryls (Korea) Limited™ UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% [4}]
INEQS Acetyls Americas Limited™” UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (o
MNEOS Aromatics Holdings Limited UK Holding company Crdinary 100% 100% (1)
NEOS Aromatics Limited UK Sales company Ordinary 100% 100% (bY
NEOS ~ World-Wide  Technical  Services UK Licensing services Ordinary 100% 100% ()
Limocd
INEOS Aromaucs Holding Company - o= ——USA Holdingcompany Common— = ~100% - = 100% — — —(3)

115



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

7 INVESTMENTS (continued)
7(a) Investments in subsidiary undertakings (continued)
Country of Class of Registered
incerperatio shares Ownership  Ownership office
Company n Principal activity held 2022 2021t reference
. . Production of purificd
INEOS Zhuhai Chemcal Company Lumited . Member o 2
{formerly BP Zhuhai Chemical Company Lid China lerw:;:llslzf": and interest 91.90% 21.90% (66)
INEQOS Aromatics Indonesia Holdings Ltd usa Holding company Common 100% 100% (64)
Production of purificd
INEOS Aromatics Belgium NV Belgium terephthalic acid and Ordinary 100% 100% hH
paraxylene
INEOS Aromatics Belgium Holdings LLC USA Halding company Common 100% 100% 3)
Production of purified
PT INEOS Arematics Indoncsia Indonesia tercphthalic acid and Ordinary 100% 100% )
paraxylene
PT INEQS Arcmatics Trading Indonesia'® indonesia Trading company Ordinary 100% 100% (76)
NOVYN Limited'™ UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% 38)
MNOVYN Holdings Limited® UK Halding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
MNOVYWN Finance Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
NOVYN Group Treasury Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INOVYN Europe Lirnied UK Holding company Ordinary L00% 100% 38)
INOVYN Norge AS Norway Manufacture of chemicals 40,0y 109% 100% (39)
and PVC
INOVYN Sveri Manufacture of chemicals - " o
verige AB Sweden Ordinary 100% 100% (40)
and PVC
INEOS ChlarVinyls Holdings BV Nctherlands Holding compan Ordinary 100% 100% “@n
8 pany
INOVYN Newton Aycliffe Limited ux MNon-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INECS Newton Aycliffe Trustzes Limited UK Pension trusice Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
NOVYN Services Limited UK Service company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INOVYN Enterprises Limited UK Exiraction and supply of (o L00% 100% (38)
brine and water
MNOVYN ChlorVinyls Holdings Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
MNOVYN Newco 2 Limited UK Haolding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INOVYN ChlorVinyls Limded UK M“"“F“C;:L"rf‘\';g‘c""““ Ordinary 100% 100% a8
. . . . Manufacture of salt and o o
TNEOS Enterpnses Group bimited UK sulphur chemicals Crdinary 100% 100% (38)
Kcuper Gas Storage Limited UK Gas siorage Ordinary 100% 100% 3%
fNEQS Chlor Atlantik GmbH Geemany Non-irading Ordinary 1 00% 100% (42)
INOVYN Americas Inc USA Purchasc and resalcof oy iy 100% 100% (43)
chemicals
NOVYN Salies International Lirmsied®' UK Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
NEQS Chior Trustees Limited UK Pension trustee Ovrdinary 100% 100% (38)
INEQS Vinyls UK Lid® UK Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (38}
INEOS Vinyls GmbH & Co KG Germany Holding company Ordimary 100% 100% (42)
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7 INVESTMENTS {continued)
7(a) Investments in subsidiary undertakings (continued)
Country of Chass of Repistered
incorporatio shares Ownership  Ownership office
Company n Principal activity held 2022 2021 reference
INOVYN Schkopau GrmbH Germany Non trading Crdinary 100% 100% (42)
INOVYN Sales GmbH Germany Non trading Ordinary 100% 100% {42)
EVC Pension Trustees Limited UK Pension trustee Ordinary {00% 100% 18)
INOVYN Energy Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (3%)
Kerling Neweo | Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
Kerling Newco 2 Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INGVYN Deutschland GmbH Germany M"‘““f“cz:;e:\‘;é“em‘mls Ordinary 100% 100% 42)
NOVYN Espana S.L. Spaio Manufacture of chemicals oy i 100% 100% (a4)
and PVC
INOVYN Ostcrreich GmbH*'. Austria Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (45)
{NOVYN Belgium 3A Belgium Manufactlure of chemicals Ordinary 160% 100% {46)
NOVYN Olefines France SAS. France 0""““:;::;‘*‘"“”° Ordinary 100% 100% (a7
MNOVYN Portwgal Lda Portupal Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (48)
. Purchase and resale of .
INOVYN Trade Services SA Belgium R Ordinal 100% 100% (46)
chemmicals Y
. . . Manufacture of chemicals . o
INOVYN Manufacturing Belgium SA Belgium andd PYC Ordinary 100% 106 (46)
INOVYN France SAS France Manufacture of chlonne 100% 100% (4n
producis 4
TNOVYN laha S.p.A. faly Commercial scrvices Ordinary 100% 100% (49)
INOVYN Produzione lialia S.p.A Italy Manufacture of chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% (50)
MNOVYN Quirmica Espana S.L Spain Wastc treatment Ordinai 100% 100% {(44)
ry
Vinyloop Ferrara S.p.A laly PVC Recycling Ordinary 100% 100% {49)
Limited
TTE Training Limtted. UK Tratning company by 100% 100% (3
Guarantee
Limited
TTE Apprenticeship Training Agency Limited. UK Apprenticeship compan; b 100% 100% (52
g p pany Y ¥
Guarantce
[NEOS Norway Finance Freland Limited Ireland Secunusabion vehicle n/a nfa n/a (51)
& Sharcs held directly by INEQS Quattto Heldings Limuted. All ather subsidiarics listed are hold indireetty.
(a) In the process of being Liquidated
ib} Sold in November 2022,

(<) Effective on 28 December 2022. the Group sold 50% of its 100% share in INEOS Styrolution Sinopec Advanced Matenals (Ningbo) Pre Ltd
ta China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation establishing a joint venuure berween the Group and Sinopec

td) Portion of ownership interests heid by non-contraling interesis is § 1%

(e} Company incorporated on |1 August 2022

f Portian of ownership interests held by non-controlling nterests s 5.1%.

(g) Dissolved in January 2023 following hquidation.

hid Audit cxempuon Subsidiaries claiming exemption from audst under section 479A Campanics Act 2006
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VESTMENTS (continued)

7(b) Registered office addresses of investments

The registered office addresses of the investments disclosed in this note are:

Reference Registered office address

(H Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, $043 7FG, United Kingdom

£3] Mainzer Landstrassc 50, 60325 Frankfurt, Germany

3) Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Strect, Wilmington DE 19801, Delaware, USA

{4) Haven 725, Scheldelaan 600, 2040 Antwerp, Belgium

{3 2070 Zwijndreche, Nicuwe Weg t. 1053 Haven, Mcchelen, Belgium

{6) 872 Tashmoo Avcnuc, Samsa ON N7T §A3 Oaiario, Canada

{7 Room 2502, 567 Langao Road, Putuo District, Shanghai, China

{8) Rua Quintana 887 3° andar, conjuntos 33 ¢ 34. Ciudade Mancoces, Sao Paulo 04569-011

(9 Chertsey Road, Sunbury on Thames, Middicsex, TW16 7BP, United Kingdom

(10) Rue Albert Duplat. F-624 |0 Wingles. France

arn 95 rue la Boétie, F-75008 Paris, France

(12) Ronda General Mitre 28-30, 0801 7 Barcclona, Spain

(14) Avenue des Uttins 3, CH-1180 Rolle, Switzerland

(15) Via Caldera 21, 20153 Milanc Cesano Mademo, ftaly

(16) Biiyiikdere Cad. Meydan sck., Spring Giz Plaza K. 13 N.11, Maslak Sariver, Istanbul, Turkey

(17 Alte Strasse 201, 50769 Cologne, Germany

(18) Sanggae-ro 14 (Sanggae-dong), Nam-gu, Ulsan, South Korea

(19) 14 Floor, 92 Tongil-ro {Soonhwa-dong) Jung-gu, Seoul, 04517, Karea

(20) Avenida Insurgentes Sur No. 859, Piso 11, Oficina 1102, Colonia Nipoles, 03810, Mexico City, Mexico

(2n Strawinskylaan 411, NL-1077 XX Amstcrdam, The Netherlands

(22) Bldg. 3, 18 Pyatnitskaya St., 115035 Moscow, Russian Federation

(23) ul. Wotoska 9, 02-583 Warszawa, Poland

(24) No. 61, Jinben Industry Avenuc, Xinan Sub-district, Sanshui District, Foshan, Guangdong Provinge, China

(25) No 2388, Minghai North Road, Ningbo Pewrochemical Economy & Technology Development Zane, Ningbo,
Zhejiang, China

(26) Building No. 3 Unit 1-10, 266 Beihai Road, Ningbo Petrochemical Zone. Zhenha Distniet, Ningbo, China

27N Central Towers, Suite 2501 &2503, 567 Langao Road, 200333 Shanghai, China

(28) Avenida Adolfo Ruiz Cortines y Priv. Roble $/N, Col. San Pedro Lozano, Monterrey, Nueva Ledn, 64299, Mexico

29 i 7F, Black B, Central Towers,567 Langao Road, Putuo District,Shanghai, P.R.China, 200333

(30) Schipkauer Strasse |, 01987 Schwarzheide, Germany

(30 i 11 Somersct Road, #14-16 to 21 TopleOnc Somerset, Singapore 238164, Singaporc

(32) Av. Ricardo Margain Zozaya 444, Torre Equus IZA Sur, Colonia Valle de! Campesire, San Pedro Gurza Garcia,
WNuevo Ledn, 66265, Mexico

(33) S/F, Manulifc Place, 348 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong

(34) No. 4/2, I-8 Road, T. Map Ta Phut, A Muang, 2115 Rayong, Thailand

(3%) 16th foor, Dacha Business Centre, 360 Kim Ma Str | Ngoc Khanh Ward, Ba Dinh Dist, Hanoi, Vietnam

(36) 1-25-1 Nishi-Shinjuku, Shinjuku-ku, (35F, Shinjyuku Center Building), Tokyo 1630635, Japan

37 Torre Virreyes, Pedregal 24, Piso 20, Colonia Molino del Rey. | 1040, Mexico City, Mexico

(38) Bankes Lane Office, Bankes Lane, Runcom, Cheshire, WA7 4JE, United Kingdom

(39) Rafncs [ndustriomradce, 3966 Stathelic, Norway

(40) 444-33 Stenungsund, Sweden

(a1) Luna Arena, Henkerhergwep 238, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1101 CM

(42) Ludwigstrasse 12, 47495 Rheinberg, Germany

(43) 2036 Foulk Rd, Suite 204, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, USA

(44) Caliec Mane Curie 1-3-5, 08760 Martorell, Barcelona. Spain

(45) Schottengasse 1, 4. Stock, 1010 Wien, Austria

(46) Avenue des Olympiades 20, 1140 Brussels, Belgium

(47) 2 Avenue de la République, 39500 Tavaux, France

(48) Rua do Centro Cultural n® § - R/C, sala 8, 1700-106 Lisboa, Portugal

(49) Via Marcom 73, 44122 Ferrara (FE), Italy

(50) Rasignano Marittima (LI}, Via Piave & CAP 57016, laly

(51 Kilmore House, Park Lane, Spencer Dock, Dublin |, Ireland

(52) New Horizans House, New Bridge Road, Ellesmere Port, Cheshire, CH65 4LT, United Kingdom

(33) Postboks 13567 — Vika, 0114 Oslo, Norway

(54) Calle Principe de Vergara 204 — Primero C - 28002, Madnd, Spain

(33) Ruc dc la Religion, 10, 1400 Nivclles, Belgiom

{36) Mainzer Landstrafle 55, 60329 Frankfurt am Main, Germany *

118



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2022

7 INVESTMENTS {continued)

7(h) Registered office addresses of investments

Reference Registered office address
537 Verkstadsvagen |1, 4443| Stenungsund, Sweden
(58) Paniglgassc 24/1/19°, A-1040 Wien, Austria
(59} 12 Ruc Raoul Nordling CS 7001, 92270 Bois Colombes. France
(60) Fregatten 3, 444-30 Stenungsund, Sweden
61) Via Giovanni Da Procida, | 1, 20149, Milun, ltly
(62) Scheldclaan 480, 2040 Antwermpen, Belgium
(63) Via Magona, 57023 Cecina, laaly
(64) 2711 Centerville Road,Suite 400, Wilmington DE 19808, United States
(65) 6* Floor, No. 413 Scction 2 Ti-Ding Blvd., Neihu, Taipei, | 1493, Taiwan
(66) Da Ping Harbour, Lin Gang Industrial Zonc, Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province, China
(67) 12* Floor, Menara Symphany No. 5, Jalan Prof Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul
Ehsan, Malaysia
(68) 12th Ftoar, Menara Symphony No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoe Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor,
Malaysia ’
(69) 97 Weijiang Road (in the Petrochemical Park), Changshou District, Chongging, China
(70 6 3-15 Sanggac-ro, Cheongnyang -mycon, Uljugun, Ulsan, 44987, Korca
on Amocolaan 2 2440 Geel, Belgium
72 20™ Flogor Summitmas I J1., Jend. Sudirman Kav. 61 — 62, Jakarta. Selatan, Indonesia
(73) No. 1-1Formosa Indusirial Comples. Mailiae, Yunlin Hsien, Taiwan
4 94 Huo Ju Road, L He District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, China
(75) Maracaibo Drive, Point Lisas Industrial Estate, Point Lisas, Trinidad and Tobago
(76} South Quarter Building Tower C, GJI. R.A. Kartini Kav. 8, Cilandak Barai, Jakarta. Indonesia
8 DEBTORS
2022 2021
€m
Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed by group undertkings... 500.5 -
Group relief balance owed by group undertakings ..o - 0.2
500.5 0.2

The amounts owed by group undertakings in the current year are an unsecured toan owed by the Company’s immediate
parent undertaking measured at amortised cost. The loan attracted interest at commercial rate and had a maturity at 8
December 2023. The loan was settled in January 2023 (see note 14)

9 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Current

2022 2021
€m

Amounts owed to group undenakings................ccocooiii e 500.6 0.1

The amounts owed to group undertakings in the current year are an unsecured loan owed to the Company’s immediate

subsidiary measured
2023, The loan was

at amortised cost. The loan attracted 1nterest at comumercial rate and had a maturity at 8 December
settled in January 2023 (see note 14).
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10 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2022 2021
€m
ACCTUALS .o e e e - 0.1
Group relief balance owed to group undertakings.........coocvrieivinene v, 7.8 -
7.8 0.1
11 CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
As at 31 As at 31
December December
2022 2021
€m

200,100 (2021: 200,100) issued Ordinary shares (pounds sterling) of £1.00 (2021:
E1.00) @aCh .o e e e 03 0.3
4 (2021 4) issued Ordinary shares (Euro) of €100 (2021: €1.00) each............... - -
0.3 0.3

As the reporting currency of the Company is the Euro, share capital has been converted to Euros at the effective rate
of exchange ruling at the date of issuance.

The holders of ordinary shares arc entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company.

Dividends
The following dividends were recognised during the year:
2022 2021
€m
Repayment of Equity Bridge Contribution ... icoiiiisiieeie s - 8249
Other dividends declared . ... ISR UUTPOTUPOURURTPPRURTOPPRIITR 521.0 3933
521.0 1,218.2

Interim dividends of €521.0 million were declared and paid during the year (2021: €393.3 million). The Directors
have declared the payment of a final dividend of €500.9 million (2021: €nil) on 23 January 2023 (see note 14).

The Equity Bridge Contribution received from the Company’s immediate party undertaking as part of the BP
Acquisition was repaid in fanuary 2021 via a return of capital of €824.9 million.

The dividend declared equates to €2,603.7 per Ordinary share (2021: €6,087 8 per Ordinary share).
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12 ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY

The immediate parent company of the Company is INEOS Industries Holdings Limited,

The uftimate parent undertaking of the Company is INEGS Limited, a company incorporated in the Isle of Man. The
directors regard Mr J A Ratcliffe as the ultimate controlling party by virtue of his majonty shareholding in INEOS
Limited.

The smallest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by INEOS Quartro Holdings
Limited. The largest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by INECS Industries
Limited. Capies of the financial staternents can be obtained from the company secretary at the registered office:
INEQOS Industries Limited, Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, $043 7FG.

13 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with FRS 101, which requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions which affect the application of the accounting policies, and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates
and assumptions are reviewed on an ongeing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimates change and in any future periods. There is no area within the financial statements that involve a
significant degree of judgement or estimation.

14 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 23 January 2023, the Company received a dividend of €500.9 million from its immediate subsidiary. On the same
day, the Directors of the Company declared the payment of a final dividend of €500.9 million to the Company’s
immediate parent. This dividend income did not constitute any cash inflow for the Company as this was used to fully
repay the amount the Company owed to its immediate subsidiary in form of a loan (see note 9). Similarly, the dividend
distnbution did not constitute any cash outflow for the Company as this was used by the Company’s immediate parent
to settle the amount owed to the Company in form of a loan (see note 8).
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